DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 331

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS
331

DENISS SÕRITSA

The impact of endometriosis and physical activity on female reproduction



Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia.

Dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medicine on June 15th, 2022, by the Council of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia.

Supervisor:	 Professor Andres Salumets, PhD, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Institute Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia. Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Department of Clini Science, Intervention and Technology, Karolinska Institu and Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden. 			
	Professor Helle Karro, MD, PhD, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia.			
	Docent emeritus Kadri Matt, MD, PhD Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Tartu, Estonia.			
	Associate Professor Maire Peters, PhD, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Tartu, Estonia.			
Reviewers:	Associate Professor Kersti Pärna, PhD, Institute of Family Medicine and Public Health, University of Tartu, Estonia.			
	Researcher Aili Tagoma, PhD, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia.			
Opponent:	Professor Artur Wdowiak, PhD, Head of The Chair of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Medical University of Lublin, Poland.			
~				

Commencement: November 4th, 2022

Publication of this dissertation has been granted by the University of Tartu.

ISSN 1024-395X ISBN (print) ISBN (pdf)

Copyright: Deniss Sõritsa, 2022

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
1. INTRODUCTION	10
2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	12
2.1. Female fertility	12
2.1.1. Female age-related fertility decline	12
2.1.2. Follicular cycle and its impact on uterine endometrial	
lining cyclicity	13
2.1.3. Impact of life-style factors on fertility	16
2.1.4. Impact of environmental factors	17
2.2. Causes of infertility	18
2.2.1. Ovulatory disorders	19
2.2.2. Endometriosis	20
2.2.3. Pelvic adhesions and tubal blockade	23
2.2.4. Uterine abnormalities	23
2.2.5. Other reasons of infertility	24
2.3. Infertility treatment	24
2.3.1. In vitro fertilization	25
2.3.2. Factors affecting IVF success	27
2.4. Endometriosis-associated infertility treatment	30
2.5. Summary of the literature review	32
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY	34
4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
4.1. Study participants	35
4.2. Infertility treatment (Studies I and II)	36
4.3. Assessment of PA and sedentary behaviour (Study II)	37
4.4. In vitro cell culture experiments (Study IV)	37
4.5. RNA extraction and detection of gene expression	
(Studies III and IV)	38
4.6. Statistical analysis	39
5. RESULTS	41
5.1. The effect of infertility treatment approaches on pregnancy	
and delivery rates of endometriosis patients with different	
disease severity (Study I)	41
5.2. The effect of maternal physical activity during the IVF procedure	
on the treatment outcome (Study II)	43
5.2.1. The PA parameters of study participants before and	
after IVF treatment	43
5.2.2. The impact of PA on COS and pregnancy outcomes	45

5.3. The expression pattern of endometrial receptivity-involved genes in women with and without endometriosis and as a tool for	
precise dating of archived endometrial samples (Study III)	45
5.4. The impact of doxorubicin on endometrial and endometriotic stromal cells' gene expression (Study IV)	47
6. DISCUSSION	50
6.1. The effect of endometriosis treatment on IVF outcome	50
6.2. The effect of PA on IVF outcome	52
6.3. The endometrial receptivity genes expression pattern	
is not disturbed in endometriosis patients but allows to determine	
the menstrual cycle phase of archived endometrial samples	54
6.4. Doxorubicin influences the gene expression of endometrial and	<i></i>
endometriotic lesions stromal cells differently	55
7. CONCLUSIONS	58
8. PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS	59
9. SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	60
REFERENCES	66
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	81
PUBLICATIONS	83
CURRICULUM VITAE	130
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	133

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles:

- Sõritsa D, Saare M, Laisk-Podar T, Peters M, Sõritsa A, Matt K, Karro H, Salumets A. Pregnancy rate in endometriosis patients according to the severity of the disease after using a combined approach of laparoscopy, GnRH agonist treatment and in vitro fertilization. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2015; 79(1):34–9.
- Sõritsa D, Mäestu E, Nuut M, Mäestu J, Migueles JH, Läänelaid S, Ehrenberg A, Sekavin A, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, Ortega FB, Altmäe S. Maternal physical activity and sedentary behaviour before and during in vitro fertilization treatment: a longitudinal study exploring the associations with controlled ovarian stimulation and pregnancy outcomes. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2020;37(8):1869–1881.
- 3. Saare M, Laisk T, Teder H, Paluoja P, Palta P, Koel M, Kirss F, Karro H, **Sõritsa D**, Salumets A, Krjutškov K, Peters M. A molecular tool for menstrual cycle phase dating of endometrial samples in endometriosis transcriptome studies. Biol Reprod. 2019;101(1):1–3.
- 4. Lavogina D, Samuel K, Lavrits A, Meltsov A, **Sõritsa D**, Kadastik Ü, Peters M, Rinken A, Salumets A. Chemosensitivity and chemoresistance in endometriosis differences for ectopic versus eutopic cells. Reprod Biomed Online. 2019;39(4):556–568.

Journal articles are reprinted with the permission from copyright holders.

Author's personal contribution

- Paper 1: Participating in the study design, data collection and analysis, writing the manuscript.
- Paper 2: Participating in the study design, data collection (enrolling participants, taking informed consent, gathering clinical information) and writing the manuscript.
- Paper 3: Participating in the study design, sample and data collection (enrolling participants, taking informed consent, gathering clinical information), interpretation of the results and assisting in manuscript preparation.
- Paper 4: Participating in the sample and data collection (enrolling participants, taking informed consent, gathering clinical information), in conducting laboratory experiments (RNA extraction) and interpretation of the results.

ABBREVIATIONS

ART	 assisted reproductive technology 					
ASRM	 American Society for Reproductive Medicine 					
BMI	body mass index					
COS	 controlled ovarian stimulation 					
CPR	 clinical pregnancy rate 					
DIE	deep infiltrating endometriosis					
ecESC	 ectopic endometrial stromal cells 					
euESC	 eutopic endometrial stromal cells 					
EG	– embryo glue					
EI	– endometrial injury					
ER	 endometrial receptivity 					
ES	– early-secretory					
ESHRE	- European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology					
ET	– embryo transfer					
ICSI	 intracytoplasmic sperm injection 					
IVF	 in vitro fertilization 					
FET	 frozen embryo transfer 					
FSH	 follicle stimulating hormone 					
GnRHa	 gonadotrophin releasing hormone agonists 					
GnRH	 gonadotropin-releasing hormone 					
hCG	 human chorionic gonadotrophin 					
LBR	 live birth rate 					
LH	 luteinizing hormone 					
LS	– late-secretory					
М	– menstrual					
MS	- mid-secretory					
MVPA	 moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity 					
OHSS	 ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome 					
OPR	 ongoing pregnancy rate 					
Р	– proliferative					
PA	 physical activity 					
PCOS	 polycystic ovary syndrome 					
PID	 pelvic inflammatory disease 					
POI	 premature ovarian insufficiency 					
PR	 progesterone receptor 					
FSH	 follicle stimulating hormone 					
rFSH	 recombinant follicle stimulating hormone 					

PRL –	prolactin
RIF –	recurrent implantation failure
RM –	recurrent miscarriage
STD –	sexually transmitted diseases
TFI –	tubal factor infertility
VMB –	vaginal microbiome
WHO –	World Health Organization

WOI – window of implantation

1. INTRODUCTION

It is known that the women's best reproductive age period lasts only till late 20s, so it seems to be appropriate to mention that "Women's fertility has the age", that is unfortunately a rather short period. Nowadays women are postponing the childbearing, mainly due to the sociological factors, which leads to the decrease in oocytes numbers and increases the risk of infertility. The life-style factors, such as altered nutrition, smoking and alcohol consumption, drug addiction, stress, sleep disturbances, decreased physical activity (PA), as well as increasing environmental pollution have further negative impact on fertility. However, the causes of infertility may be equally shared by both partners and in 10–30% of cases the infertility is most commonly caused by ovulatory disorders, followed by endometriosis, pelvic adhesions, tubal blockage, other tubal/uterine abnormalities and hyper-prolactinemia. Chromosomal abnormalities and immunological disturbances can also cause infertility.

As mentioned, one of the frequent causes of infertility is endometriosis, a chronic benign gynaecological disease influencing negatively women's quality of life (pain, loss of productivity, depression) in their reproductive age. It is not known exactly how endometriosis causes infertility, but it is assumed that deteriorated oocytes' quality or impaired endometrial receptivity (ER) may play an important role. Furthermore, endometriosis-associated infertility is poorly treatable and the treatment mainly consists of medical or surgical approaches or combination of both, and assisted reproductive technology (ART) e.g., in vitro fertilization (IVF) is frequently needed to solve the infertility issue. However, endometriosis is a heterogeneous disease and there are no unique treatment regimens suitable for all infertile endometriosis patients, emphasizing the need for further research to find the best infertility treatment options for different forms of disease.

Infertility treatment success depends on many factors, related to the cause of infertility, female and male age and gametes' and embryos' quality, ER and suitability of the chosen treatment regimen. However, the role of a lifestyle in fertility treatment outcomes should not be underestimated. The patients undergoing infertility treatment are usually very sensitive and ask plenty of questions regarding the IVF process and about factors that can influence its success. In addition to issues related to healthy eating and food supplements, smoking and medications used, patients are often interested in the impact of PA during the IVF treatment on the outcome of the procedure. According to the literature, there are many opinions regarding this subject. It is recommended to reduce PA as well as to continue the normal active life. However, most research on this topic is based on questionnaires and this affects the objectivity of the results. In order to bring more clarity to this issue and to come up with objective recommendations for the patients, studies with a different design that measure the actual PA and sedentary time with accelerometers are needed.

In addition to unsolved issues in endometriosis-related infertility, the molecular mechanisms in endometriosis pathogenesis are still unclear and need to be addressed to enhance the detection of proper new target molecules for diagnostics and treatment. Although transcriptomic and proteomic studies comparing composition of endometriotic lesions and endometrium have significantly broadened our knowledge on this topic, alternative approaches could provide additional insight into the behaviour of endometrial cells outside the uterus. For example, chemosensitivity studies could help to understand the cellular mechanisms behind the apoptosis resistance in endometriotic cells.

Coming from the need for new knowledge to provide recommendations for infertile patients undergoing IVF treatment and to find the best treatment options for endometriosis patients, the overall aim of the current study was to reveal the role of PA and endometriosis treatment options on IVF success. In addition, the evaluation of ER and elucidation of molecular alterations in endometriosis were undertaken to assess the mechanisms underlying endometriosis symptoms and etiology.

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1. Female fertility

According to The International Glossary on Infertility and Fertility Care, 2017 (Zegers-Hochschild et al., 2017), fertility is defined as the capacity to establish a clinical pregnancy. There are many features that are related to women's fertility with age as the most important factor influencing spontaneous conception. In addition, several diseases, lifestyle and environmental factors play a considerable role in modulation of fertility status (Borght et al., 2018).

2.1.1. Female age-related fertility decline

Nowadays women tend to postpone the maternity and a large study involving 24 OECD countries demonstrated that the average age of mothers at first birth has raised by ~4 years from 25 years in 1970 to 29 years in 2008 (Mills et al., 2011). In Estonia, the maternal age at the first birth has risen even more, from 22.7 years in 1992 to 29 years in 2020 (increase for a total of 6.3 years) (*Estonian Medical Birth Registry and Estonian Abortion Registry*, 2020). Postponement of parenthood, in turn, increases the risk of infertility, as spontaneous conception begins to decrease already by 25–30 years of age (Silvestris et al., 2019) and women aged 35–39 years have already 31% reduced fertility compared to women aged 20–24 years (Menken et al., 1986). Under natural conditions, if women start to try to get pregnant at age 30 years, 75% will succeed a conception ending in a live birth within 1 year, but the numbers decline to 66% and 44% for women at age 35 and 40 years, respectively (Templeton et al., 1996).

The highest culprit behind the decline in fecundity with increasing female age seems to be ovary-related: female germ cells are not replenished during life and there is a decline in the number of oocytes from birth to menopause, accompanied by the diminished quality of existing oocytes with age (Baird et al., 2005). The main issue of the decreasing number of oocytes due to the progressive follicular atresia is the increased risk for the concomitant infertility. There are about 6–7 million oocytes at 20 weeks of pregnancy in the female fetus and it decreases already to 1–2 million at birth. At the time of puberty, there are around 400,000 oocytes and only 25,000 is present at age 37. At the time of menopause, around the age 50 years, only 1,000 oocytes are left (Figure 1) (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Gynecologic Practice and Practice Committee, 2014).

The quality of oocytes declines with age due to the oocyte cytoplasm quality decrease and increase in nuclear genome abnormalities (Vollenhoven et al., 2018). Therefore, there is a significantly increased risk of an euploidy and spontaneous abortion for women postponing the maternity (Balasch et al., 2012).



Figure 1. Female age-related decrease in a number of oocytes (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Gynecologic Practice and Practice Committee, 2014).

Beside ovaries, the functions of other reproductive organs, e.g., uterus seem to be less affected by female age. It has been demonstrated that when using donor oocytes with controlled quality, the numbers of pregnancies and deliveries did not differ between women under or over 40 years (Navot et al., 1994). The other study revealed that oocyte donor age is the major determinant of pregnancy outcome success independent of recipient age (Wang et al., 2012), suggesting that the reproductive capacity of the uterus does not diminish with age. However, the ageing may still have some impact on the functional capacity of the human uterus as there is an evidence of the higher number of pregnancy complications in older reproductive age women (Baird et al., 2005).

A non-biological age-related determinant that may play a critical role in fecundity is sexual intercourse frequency (Stanford et al., 2007) that decreases by approximately 1% for every year increase in female age (Gaskins et al., 2016).

2.1.2. Follicular cycle and its impact on uterine endometrial lining cyclicity

The ovulatory menstrual cycle depends on the integrated actions of the hypothalamus, pituitary, ovary, and endometrium (Barbieri et al., 2014). As mentioned, ovaries contain at birth 1 to 2 million primordial follicles. The primordial follicle contains the oocyte surrounded by pregranulosa cells and develops into a primary follicle when the oocyte is surrounded by cuboidal granulosa cells. The oocytes in primordial follicles are arrested in Prophase I of the first meiotic division until the onset of puberty. At the onset of puberty, the gonadotrophic hormones will initiate the dormant folliculogenesis. However, even before the puberty, the primordial follicles develop till the secondary follicle stage. During the first stages of folliculogenesis, the maturation of the primordial follicles is continued till the primary and secondary follicles. The granulosa cells divide and develop into multiple layers and theca layer is formed in the secondary follicles. The secondary follicles continue the development after the puberty and via the gonadotrophin stimulation, towards the antral stage follicles until the completion of the first meiotic division and the ovulation of the mature Meiosis II (MII) oocyte. However, the second meiotic division is only taking place when the MII oocyte is fertilized, resulting in the zygote. Although, during each menstrual cycle, a number of secondary follicles are recruited into the growth phase, only a single follicle becomes dominant and ovulates (Dorrington 1979). The follicular phase begins on the first day of menstruation and continues till day 14 (i.e., ovulation) of a typical 28-day cycle, followed by the luteal phase.

Ovulation is regulated by the dynamics of hormones. The pituitary gland is the major link between the brain and ovarian function. The hypothalamus releases gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) in a pulsatile manner. GnRH secretion stimulates the pituitary gland to secrete luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH). FSH is mostly needed to stimulate the development and final maturation of the follicles. In the ovarian follicle, LH stimulates theca cells to produce androstenedione that is converted to estradiol by the granulosa cells. A critical concentration of estradiol causes positive feedback in the hypothalamus, resulting in an increase in GnRH secretion and an LH surge, leading to the process of ovulation. After ovulation luteal phase begins, that lasts from day 14 to 28 of a typical menstrual cycle. In the luteal phase, both theca and granulosa cells of the follicle form the corpus luteum, which secretes progesterone (Barbieri 2014, Holesh et al., 2021). Progesterone is needed to prepare the endometrium for embryo implantation and to maintain the pregnancy until the placenta takes over progesterone production for the remainder of the pregnancy (Csapo et al., 1973). If fertilization fails, the corpus luteum undergoes luteolysis, and secretion of progesterone drops.

Endometrial tissue consists mainly of luminal and glandular epithelial cells and stromal cells with blood supply provided by the spiral arteries (Noyes et al., 1950). Simultaneously to the changes in the ovaries, several changes occur in the endometrium during the menstrual cycle. There are three phases of the menstrual cycle: the cycle starts with menstruation (days 0 to 4), follows by an estrogendominated preovulatory (proliferative) phase (days 5 to 13 days), and a postovulatory and progesterone-dominated secretory phase (days 15 to 28) (Figure 2). In the proliferative phase, estrogen that is produced by the granulosa cells of the developing follicle stimulates endometrial epithelial cell proliferation, gland growth, and vascularization of the glands. After ovulation that typically occurs on cycle day 14, the increasing concentration of progesterone results in secretory changes in the luminal cells, further gland development, decidualization of the stromal cells, and the development of spiral vessels (Barbieri et al., 2014).



Figure 2. Endometrial changes during the menstrual cycle. Concentration curves of circulating hormones are indicated. The image is created with BioRender.com. FSH – follicle stimulating hormone; LH – luteinizing hormone.

The postovulatory or secretory phase begins after the cycle day 14 and is constituted by an early (ES), mid (MS), and late secretory (LS) phase. The ES phase is regulated by both estrogen and progesterone; the MS phase is regulated by progesterone alone and the LS phase is associated with progesterone withdrawal and, consequently, the collapse of the endometrial glands, constriction of the blood vessels, and the sloughing of the endometrium (menstruation) (Jabbour et al., 2006). The MS phase of the cycle is a critical period because changes at this time lead to the development of ER that is essential for the effective implantation of the embryo, also referred as the window of implantation. Consequently, MS phase is also called as receptive and ES phase as pre-receptive. In the MS phase of menstrual cycle, as a result of elevated levels of progesterone, endometrial stromal cells undergo decidualization. During the decidualization, the stromal cells transform into specialized secretory cells that provide both a nourishing and receptive cell microenvironment necessary for embryo implantation and subsequent placental development. During this process, stromal cells acquire a rounded morphology, and start expression of progesterone-dependent proteins and other biomolecules, including prolactin, glycogen, tissue factor, and insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 1 (IGFBP1) (Critchley et al., 2020). In the absence of pregnancy, with the demise of the corpus luteum, the menstruation occurs and the upper 2/3 layers of the endometrium are shed (Jabbour et al., 2006).

2.1.3. Impact of life-style factors on fertility

One of the life-style factors that can affect fertility is PA. However, the impact of PA on female fertility is a controversial topic. The sedentary lifestyle has been related to the increased risk of infertility and intensifying vigorous activity (but not moderate activity) has been associated with reduced relative risk of ovulatory infertility (Rich-Edwards et al., 2002). A recent meta-analysis indicated that PA may have beneficial effect on pregnancy rate in young adult women (Mena et al., 2019). On the contrary, other studies have demonstrated that increased frequency, duration and intensity of PA may raise the risk of infertility, and high frequency of PA has been associated with involuntary childlessness (Gudmundsdottir et al., 2009). Therefore, further research is required to determine the optimal parameters (intensity and duration) of PA that support the achievement of reproductive benefits.

Nutrition is an important factor affecting the ovarian function and thereby also female fertility. Both extremes, over- and underweight may be behind the ovulatory disorders (Frisch 1990). Overweight increases the risk of anovulation, lower assisted reproductive technology (ART) outcomes, miscarriage, gestational diabetes, hypertension, premature labor and preeclampsia (Chavarro et al., 2007; Dağ et al., 2015; Dean et al., 2014). Body mass index (BMI) already over 24 has been found to be a risk factor for subsequent ovulatory infertility (Rich-Edwards et al., 1994), whereas obese women were three times more likely to suffer infertility than women with a normal BMI. Altered nutrition also affects negatively the quality of embryos and implantation success (Bellver et al., 2007). Underweight causes amenorrhea and anovulation, increases risk of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS), lower ART outcomes, preterm birth as well as small-for-gestational age babies (Chavarro et al., 2007; Dean et al., 2014).

Smoking and alcohol consumption, a primary source of preventable risk factors, both affect female reproductive health. The negative effect of smoking on reproductive function in women is related to ovarian, oviductal and uterine functions, and has an impact on hormonal level (De Angelis et al., 2020). At ovarian level, smoking is associated with reduced ovarian reserve, which together with decreased oocytes' quality may lead to the development of early menopause. Oviductal function is impaired by affected oviductal smooth muscle contractility and smoking increases the risk of ectopic pregnancy. At uterine level, smoking has been associated to delayed implantation, mediated by reduced ER and impaired cytotrophoblast proliferation, migration and invasion. In addition, smoking is related to lower estrogens and progesterone and higher androgens levels. According to the literature, smoking is related to conception delay, higher risk of spontaneous miscarriage, preterm birth and lower birthweight, lower pregnancy rate from ART and drastic decrease of ovarian reserve (Rogers, 2009).

The effect of alcohol consumption on fertility is less clear. Some studies have shown negative relationship between ART outcomes and alcohol consumption (Klonoff-Cohen et al., 2004; Rossi et al., 2011), but other studies have not confirmed these findings (de Jong et al., 2014). However, alcohol consumption has

been related to the loss of menstrual cycle and ovulation regularity, increased level of hormones (LH, estradiol, testosterone), and diminished ovarian reserve (Emanuele et al., 2002). Alcohol abuse is also associated with health disorders like heart disease, hypertension, cancer, liver disease, gastrointestinal pathology, depression and anxiety, relationship issues and unemployment (Hammer et al., 2018) that all may indirectly affect reproductive functions. Drug addiction is related to a wide range of known detrimental effects on human health; however, the effect of the consumption of addictive drugs on female reproductive function and fertility has been scantly investigated (De Angelis et al., 2020). The impact of drug use on sexual behavior is more investigated and found to be associated to more risky behavior and unwanted pregnancy (Bosma-Bleeker et al., 2018; Zapata et al., 2008).

Furthermore, stress is one of the life-style factors that negatively affects the female fertility. Depression and anxiety may lead to altered oocyte maturation and lower fertilization rate (Hillary et al., 2004) and result in overall lower ART clinical outcomes (Purewal et al., 2018). It has been observed that decreasing hardworking time and increasing the relaxing period time may improve the pregnancy outcome (Domar, 1996). One of the very important factors influencing female fertility is the duration and quality of sleep as it is directly connected with emotional and physical well-being. The sleep disturbances can affect female fertility due to the irregular menstruation cycle that prolongs the time to conception, causing dysmenorrhea and increasing miscarriage possibility. The specific mechanism how fertility and sleep are connected is rather unclear (Kloss et al., 2015) but the major cause seems to be circadian misalignment, that is a problem in a shift work (Labyak et al., 2002; Mahoney, 2010). Circadian dysrhythmia may affect secretion of reproductive hormones such as LH, follicle FSH and prolactin (PRL) and therefore potentially interfere with fertility outcomes (Kloss et al., 2015).

2.1.4. Impact of environmental factors

The impact of environmental factors on the female fertility cannot be ignored. Continuous growth of the population creates a greater need for food, which in turn leads to increasing environmental pollution and raises the global annual emission rate and release of reprotoxic chemicals (Rzymski et al., 2015). Environmental contaminants, such as heavy metals may alter gene expression and lead to epigenetic changes (Arita et al., 2009). Epigenetics has been related to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia, intrauterine growth restriction and infertility due to the environmental exposure (Edwards et al., 2007; Pozharny et al., 2010). The widely-distributed environmental heavy metals pollutants, such as cadmium, lead and mercury have an adverse effect on the fertility due to their toxicity against all living organisms (Jang et al., 2011; Youness et al., 2012). Moreover, cadmium is considered to be a metalloestrogen capable of affecting estrogen and progesterone receptors (PR) functions (Rzymski et al., 2015) and higher mercury

concentration in female blood has been associated with lower fecundity (Cole et al., 2006). In addition, during pregnancy, the toxins may be transmitted from the pregnant woman to the developing fetus via the placenta (Lee et al., 2018).

The most studied chemical in association with female infertility (Pivonello et al., 2020) is bisphenol A, mainly found in the plastic bags, cans, and bottles (Konieczna et al., 2015). Bisphenol A represents the class of chemicals referred as the endocrine-disrupting chemicals that mimic, block, or interfere with hormones in the body's endocrine system. Bisphenol A can bind to estrogen, androgen, and thyroid receptors, and thereby detrimentally affect the reproductive system, fetal physiology and neonatal development (Rattan et al., 2017).

2.2. Causes of infertility

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) definition, clinical infertility is a disease of the reproductive system defined by the failure to achieve a clinical pregnancy after 12 months or more of regular unprotected sexual intercourse (Zegers-Hochschild et al., 2009). Infertility is nowadays a common disease and serious social problem among people of reproductive age. Infertility is experienced by 13% to 15% of couples (48.5 million couples) worldwide (Kamel, 2010), and this number is steadily increasing with the trend to delay the time of first pregnancy in developed countries, and now also in developing countries. There are approximately 2 million new infertile couples per year and the numbers are increasing (Datta et al., 2016).

The infertility causes between female and male are distributed equally. It is reported that male infertility is responsible for 20-30%, female infertility for 20-35% of cases, and 25-40% of cases are related to both partners. The probability of unexplained infertility is 10-30% (Figure 3A) (ESHRE 2016; Quaas et al., 2008).



Figure 3. A. The range of distribution of infertility causes between females and males (ESHRE, 2016; Recent Advances in Medically Assisted Conception. Report of a WHO Scientific Group., 1992). **B.** Female causes of infertility (Riches et al., 2013).

The total number of women in reproductive age in Estonia is about 260,000. Therefore, there are probably over 10 thousand couples in our country who would like to conceive but cannot achieve pregnancy because of the reproductive health issues.

According to the large multinational WHO study (Recent Advances in Medically Assisted Conception. Report of a WHO Scientific Group 1992), female infertility is most commonly caused by ovulatory disorders, followed by endometriosis, pelvic adhesions, tubal blockage, other tubal/uterine abnormalities, and hyperprolactinemia (Figure 3B).

2.2.1. Ovulatory disorders

Ovulatory disorders are probably the main cause of infertility, divided according to the WHO Guidance into three categories (O'Flynn, 2014). Group I disorder, that makes up around 10% of ovulatory disorders, includes hypothalamic pituitary failure (hypothalamic amenorrhea or hypogonadotropic hypogonadism). In these diseases the secretion of the GnRH and gonadotropins are impaired at hypothalamic and hypophyseal levels, respectively.

Group II disorders that are the most frequent (around 85% of cases) include dysfunction of the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis, like polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). PCOS is the most common endocrinopathy affecting fertile age women, characterized by ovulatory and menstrual dysfunction, clinical or biochemical hyperandrogenism and polycystic ovary morphology. PCOS is often but not always accompanied with overweight (Mikhael et al., 2019). PCOS is also characterized by insulin resistance. The high insulin levels promote secretion of androgens from the ovaries and adrenal glands, leading to hyperandrogenism. Excess amounts of androgens lead to menstrual disturbances and infertility (Stadtmauer et al., 2002).

Group III involves premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) that occurs in around 5% of cases among the patients with ovulatory disorders. POI is a loss of ovarian function before the age of 40 years (O'Flynn 2014), caused by genetic, autoimmune, metabolic, iatrogenic, and infectious factors. For example, the surgical approaches on the ovaries, leading to the reduced ovarian tissue, have detrimental impact on the ovarian reserve, but in majority of diagnosed women, the etiology of POI is unknown (Welt 2008). One of the well-known genetic causes of POI is a partial or complete loss of one X chromosome in a 46,XX fetus, known as Turner syndrome (45,X), with a frequency of 1 in 2500 newborn females (Reindollar 2011).

2.2.2. Endometriosis

Endometriosis is defined as a disease characterised by the presence of endometrium-like epithelium and/or stroma outside the endometrium and myometrium, usually with an associated inflammatory process (Tomassetti et al., 2021) (Figure 4A-D). The most common method to diagnose endometriosis has been laparoscopy. However, as laparoscopy does not always visualize the presence of all microscopic lesions in the abdominal wall peritoneum (Khan et al., 2014), detailed anamnesis and symptoms of the patient have to be taken into account if endometriosis is suspected. In addition, endometriosis should be histologically confirmed by the presence of endometrioid glands and stroma (Figure 5). However, the new the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) guidelines suggest that laparoscopy is only recommended in patients with negative imaging results and/or where empirical treatment was unsuccessful or inappropriate (Becker et al., 2022).

Endometriosis is a complex syndrome associated with estrogen-dependent benign chronic gynecological inflammatory processes that influence female health negatively by causing abdominopelvic pain and infertility (Eskenazi et al., 1997). Endometriosis affects continually or intermittently women from the teenage years up to menopause (Brawn et al., 2014), and it is estimated that around 200 million women around the world, that is 10% of reproductive age women, are suffering from this disease (Rogers et al., 2009). Among infertile women, endometriosis frequency is up to 50% (Giudice 2010).



Figure 4. Laparoscopic visualization of endometriosis. **A.** Peritoneal lesion; **B.** Menstrual blood in the abdominal cavity; **C.** Endometriotic lesion on the ovary; **D.** Ovarian endometrioma. The photographs made by the author of the Thesis (Elite Clinic, Estonia).

Peritoneal tisuse surrounding the lesion



Endometrial stromal cells Endometrial epithelial cells

Figure 5. Photomicrograph of peritoneal endometriotic lesion. Section of *ligamentum* sacrouterina, $10 \times magnification$, $10 \ \mu m$ section stained with haematoxylin and for CD10. Brown staining indicates CD10 positive endometrial stromal cells. Image courtesy of Dr. M. Saare from the Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu.

In women undergoing abdominal surgery for chronic pelvic pain or infertility, endometriosis represents one of the most common pelvic pathologies (Apostolopoulos et al., 2016). The pelvic endometriosis symptoms are pain during menstruation and intercourse, infertility, or continuous pelvic pain, which impact detrimentally women's social, academic, professional, and economic potential. The cyclic pelvic pain and knowledge of infertility could cause depression and anxiety (Chen et al., 2016). However, because of the nonspecific symptoms, the disease is underdiagnosed and the delay of diagnosis between the beginning of the complaints and the accurate diagnosis is around 7 years (Rogers et al., 2013). The etiology of endometriosis is believed to be the retrograde menstruation while endometrial cells in menstrual blood migrate through the fallopian tubes to the abdominal cavity (Figure 4B), where they attach on the pelvic peritoneal surfaces, rectovaginal area as well as on ovaries (Figure 4C). The endometriotic lesions may also be found on the bladder, rectum, appendix, ureters, abdominal wall and skin, pelvic nerves, diaphragm, and in rare occasions on pleura, lungs and even on the brain (Davis et al., 2017). Women, who do not have menstrual periods and have never had ovulation followed by menstrual bleeding, usually do not have endometriosis (Bulun et al., 2019).

Three different types of endometriosis have been described based on the location and invasive nature of lesions. Superficial peritoneal lesions are mainly located on the peritoneum and peritoneal cavity organs, and are colored darkbrown, black, blue, red, or are present as white fibrotic areas. Endometriomas are ovarian cysts filled with dark-brown blood and covered by endometrial tissue and the cyst wall (Figure 4D). In case of deep infiltrating endometriosis (DIE), the endometriotic cells penetrate fibromuscular tissue deeper than 5 mm and form nodules (Hsu et al., 2010; Klemmt et al., 2017). The severity of endometriosis is classified according to the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM)

into four stages (I-minimal, II-mild, III-moderate, IV-severe) (Canis et al., 1997). Women with minimal-mild endometriosis have superficial lesions and mild adhesions. In case of moderate-severe disease, superficial lesions may be present, but also ovarian endometriomas are included and adhesions are more severe. Extraperitoneal endometriosis, as well as DIE are both considered as a severe disease. However, the symptoms of endometriosis frequently do not correlate with the severity of disease, which again leads to the delay of diagnosis.

There is no definite cure for endometriosis. The therapeutic options are suppression of ovulation and decreasing the level of estradiol and overcoming progesterone resistance. Estradiol is necessary for endometriotic lesion sticking to peritoneum, lesion survival, angiogenesis, and inflammatory substances production, such as cytokines, prostaglandins, and growth factors. Therefore, ovarian suppression by menopause or aromatase inhibition that both block estradiol production, lead to regression of the disease, and amelioration of the symptoms, such as pain. Endometriotic tissue responds poorly to progesterone or its agonists because of the lack of PR in endometriotic stromal cells, which produce locally large amount of progesterone. However, use of synthetic antiprogestin like mifepristone and ulipristal acetate, which bind to PR with higher affinity, may help to suppress endometriosis symptoms (Bulun et al., 2019). The suppression of ovulation with long-term hormonal treatment is the main way of management in case of endometriosis-associated pelvic pain (Vercellini et al., 2014).

To find new therapeutic targets and non-hormonal treatment options for endometriosis, disease pathophysiology should be better understood. Therefore, it is necessary to discover the molecular alterations occurring in endometrial cells in ectopic locations. Hull et al. (Hull et al., 2008) have identified alterations in key pathways (cellular injury, inflammation, tissue remodelling and cellular proliferation) that are active in the molecular interactions between ectopic endometrial tissue and peritoneal tissue. As taken together by Klemmt and Starzinski-Powitz (Klemmt et al., 2017), the components of canonical WNT/ β -catenin signalling pathway, which is essential for renewal and controlled proliferation of somatic stem cells in several tissues, including endometrium, are often found to be dysregulated in endometriosis. A proteomic study of peritoneal endometriotic stromal cells revealed extensive metabolic reprogramming and alterations in protein levels involved in cellular invasiveness and adhesiveness, apoptosis and immune function (Kasvandik et al., 2016).

Apoptosis (Harada et al., 2004) is the process of programmed cell death that occurs in endometrium every menstrual cycle to eliminate senescent endometrial cells during the menstruation. In normal endometrium, the level of apoptotic proteins is elevated during the late secretory phase but there is evidence that in the endometrial cells survive and implant in ectopic sites. Even if some genes, such as *BCL-2*, *SRC-1* and *FAS* have been proposed to play a role in the aberrant apoptosis resistance in endometriosis (Reis et al., 2013; Harada et al., 2004), it is still not completely clear, what mechanisms are behind the hampered expression of apoptotic proteins. However, as apoptotic pathways may represent promising

targets for the development of novel therapeutic options against endometriosis (Kapoor et al., 2021), it would be important to look more closely at these mechanisms. One possibility to elucidate the mechanisms involved in aberrant cellular mechanisms e.g., apoptosis in endometriosis, is to use in vitro assay methods to screen cytotoxic compounds for the potential to induce apoptosis in eutopic and ectopic cells.

2.2.3. Pelvic adhesions and tubal blockade

One of the frequent causes of infertility is pelvic infection resulting from sexually transmitted diseases (STD). STDs alter fertility by causing inflammation and adhesions in the fallopian tubes (salpingitis) and pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), both of which may end with the tubal factor infertility (TFI) (Tsevat et al., 2017). Chlamydia trachomatis is the most common pathogen which causes PID and TFI as its infection is frequently asymptomatic and may therefore stay untreated (Papp et al., 2014). It has been shown that after the anamnesis of C. trachomatis infection the spontaneous pregnancy rate is lower and the risks for embryo implantation failure and ectopic pregnancy are higher (Coppus et al., 2011). The second most common STD-causing microbe is *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, that is also in majority cases asymptomatic and causes damage to the fallopian tubes which ends with TFI (Tsevat et al., 2017). Mycoplasma genitalium is also well known sexually transmitted infection. It causes also tubal damage and infertility but not as severely as C. trachomatis and N. gonorrhoeae. Trichomonas *vaginalis* is understudied sexually transmitted infection that causes also infertility but not as harmfully as C. trachomatis. Although, together with C. trachomatis, the risk of severe upper genital tract infection is higher (Moodley et al., 2002).

2.2.4. Uterine abnormalities

The exact frequency of congenital uterine anomalies is unknown (Hassan et al., 2010). The anatomical abnormalities of the uterus such as Mullerian pathologies, myomas, polyps, adhesions, which are usually asymptomatic and undiagnosed, may be behind the infertility, as well as endometrial pathology due to previous trauma, deteriorated uterine blood flow or thin endometrium (Bashiri et al., 2018). The endometrium-related issues in thickness, vascularity, morphology and receptivity are frequently followed by implantation failure (Taylor et al., 2008). Even the congenital absence of endometrium has been demonstrated (Berker et al., 2008).

The relationship between uterine anomalies and adverse pregnancy outcome, most commonly because of the recurrent miscarriage (RM), is well known. It is important to understand the possible negative effect of the uterine anomaly to the following conception, and if the impact is detrimental, to find out whether and which type of treatment could resolve the issue (Hassan et al., 2010). For example, the RM after IVF has been shown in female with uterine septa with the prevalence of around 10% (Dicker et al., 1996). The surgical removal of the uterine septa improves the IVF outcome (Hassan et al., 2010). Endometrial polyps and myomas may cause implantation failure due to the impaired uterine receptivity and the surgical removal of them could provide the promising result in improving the implantation rate (Mouhayar et al., 2017; Vlahos et al., 2017).

2.2.5. Other reasons of infertility

The chromosomal abnormalities, with a prevalence about 2%, may be the infertility cause. The most frequent abnormalities are related to chromosomal translocations, but also deletions, inversions and mosaicism have been described in association with infertility (Bashiri et al., 2018). Therefore, karyotyping should be recommended to nulliparous female with a long history of infertility (De Sutter et al., 2012).

The immunological disturbances could not be underestimated as a possible cause of female infertility. Increased levels of T helper 2 cells are characteristic to pregnancy and elevated T helper 1 immune response may lead to rejection of embryos (Nakagawa 2015). The autoimmune antibodies like anti-nuclear antibodies, anti-phospholipid antibodies, and anti-cardiolipin antibodies are related to reproductive failure (Deroux et al., 2017). It is reported that the hereditary thrombophilia (Azem et al., 2004) as well as decreased level of leukemia inhibitory factor (Seli et al., 2005) could be involved in recurrent implantation failure (RIF). As mentioned above, male infertility forms a significant part of the overall infertility that has to be taken into account when considering the couple's fertility. The male infertility is associated mainly with genetic causes, endocrine diseases and malignancies. Chromosomal abnormalities, Y-chromosome microdeletions, several Y-chromosomal genes' specific mutations or deletions are the most prevalent genetic causes of azoospermia (Miyamoto et al., 2012). Bacterial infections and inflammations are another cause of male infertility, and although the precise pathogenesis is not completely clear, they have a detrimental impact on the semen assessment parameters (Gimenes et al., 2014). In about 50% of cases the male infertility cause remains unknown (Stojanov et al., 2018).

2.3. Infertility treatment

The involuntary childlessness is a very stressful condition for a couple. Therefore, many couples are seeking for a help to overcome the infertility. The treatment strategy depends on the cause and duration of infertility and an individual approach plan is required for every couple. There are three main types of infertility treatments: treatment with medicines, surgical approaches, and ART.

The medical approaches mainly consist of infections treatment, regulation of hormones to restore the normal uterine/endometrial cyclicity, induction of ovulation and support of early pregnancy. The hormones, antibiotics and vitamins are mainly used for medical treatment (Venturella et al., 2019). The surgical treatment means restoration of the anatomy with removal of adhesions, tumors, malformations and endometriotic lesions, permeability check of fallopian tubes, ovarian drilling for ovulation induction in PCOS patients, and preservation of fertility in cancer patients (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2013; Szamatowicz et al., 2020). If these approaches do not give the desired result, the ART treatment is a way to follow. The combination of previously mentioned approaches is often the way to achieve the pregnancy.

2.3.1. In vitro fertilization

In vitro fertilization is a well-known ART. The pioneer of IVF is the British scientist Sir Robert Geoffrey Edwards, who successfully performed an IVF cycle, which resulted in the birth of the world's first IVF-baby in 1978 (BBC News, 1978) and more than 9 million IVF-babies have been born worldwide since then. The first IVF-baby in Baltic countries was born in Estonia in 1995.

In 1997 and 1998, the first IVF-babies were born in Latvia and Lithuania, respectively. Nowadays, we have six centers in Estonia which perform around 3000 ART cycles per year with the pregnancy rate of around 30% per embryo transfer (ET), which is similar to the success rate of other European countries (Calhaz–Jorge et al., 2017). As a result, around 4.0–5.0% (ca 600 babies per year) of all babies born in Estonia are conceived by ART (Figure 6) (Wyns et al., 2020). Estonia together with Austria, Belgium, Denmark and Slovenia are the leading countries in Europe on the availability of ART per million of population (ESHRE, 2016).



Figure 6. ART infants per national births (%) in 2016 (Wyns et al., 2020).

IVF is the procedure where oocytes are fertilized by sperms outside of the female body (Figure 7). The hyperstimulation of ovaries is performed mainly by recombinant follicle stimulating hormone (rFSH) administration for approximately 10–12 days. The oocytes are retrieved with the needle under the control of ultrasonography and anesthesia.



Figure 7. Schematic of basic steps involved in the in vitro fertilization process. The image is created with BioRender.com.

On the day of oocyte retrieval, the male partner provides semen, and the fertilization procedure is selected based on the quality of semen and previous infertility history of the couple. In traditional IVF technology, the oocytes are fertilized/inseminated by sperms spontaneously on a dish. In case of intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) technology, performed mainly due to the male infertility, the sperm is directly injected into the oocyte under the microscope control. The treatment success is similar in both procedures (ESHRE, 2016). If fertilization has been successful, the development of embryos is followed in the laboratory from 2 to 7 days. The embryo transfer is usually performed on the day 3 or day 5 using the highest morphological quality 4- to 8- cell embryos or blastocysts, respectively. In average, two embryos are transferred in Estonia and 1.81 embryos in Europe (ESHRE, 2016). The pregnancy test will be performed 10 to 13 days later. When the pregnancy test is positive, the clinical pregnancy will be defined by ultrasonography investigation 2 to 3 weeks later.

After the hyperstimulation of the ovaries and fertilization of oocytes, and the transfer of the best embryos, some good-quality embryos usually are left for freezing on the day of ET for the latter use. If frozen embryo transfer (FET) is used, embryos are thawed and are transferred without ovarian hyperstimulation.

In Estonia, frozen embryos may be preserved and used for 7 years after IVF that provides possibility to preserve the fertility.

Due to the ovarian hyperstimulation the size of the ovaries may increase, which in turn may cause discomfort and even some abdominal pain. Bleeding and infection may occur during and after the oocyte retrieval, that are usually easily solved. According to ESHRE fact sheet, the most common complication of IVF is the OHSS, when the ovaries overreact to the rFSH dosage and the fluid accumulates in the abdominal cavity, which in turn cause imbalance of electrolytes, abdominal pain, breathing difficulty, nausea and diarrhea. The incidence rate of OHSS is about 0.2% (ESHRE 2016).

2.3.2. Factors affecting IVF success

IVF is now widely used assisted reproductive technology in the world. However, there are several factors that affect the success of IVF.

The main factor that determines the IVF outcome is female age. It has been shown that the decrease in IVF outcome starts already in women aged 35, and the duration of infertility and the higher number of previous unsuccessful IVF cycles have additional negative effect (Nelson et al., 2011). According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, American Society for Reproductive Medicine Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology, in year 2010, the IVF results using fresh embryos from non-donor eggs were almost 10% higher among women under 35 years compared to those aged 35–37 years (accordingly 41.5% vs 31.9%). The pregnancy success rates declined further with the increasing age of women, being 22.1% for women aged 38–40 years, 12.4% for women aged 41–42 years, 5% for women aged 43–44 years, and 1% for women older than 44 years (Figure 8) (ART Surveillance and Research Team 2010). According to the ESHRE ART fact sheet the majority of women who undergo IVF treatments are aged between 30 and 39 (ESHRE 2016).

TFI, male factor infertility or combination of different causes of infertility are also negative influencers of IVF outcome, whereas diagnosis of endometriosis was related to lower oocyte yield (Bhattacharya et al., 2013). The insemination method seems also to play a role in case of male factor infertility as some studies have shown that performance of ICSI was associated with higher delivery rates compared to IVF (Elizur et al., 2005). On the other hand, others have reported that even if ICSI ensures better fertilization rate, the delivery rate is higher for IVF treatment if embryos are achieved for transfer (Bhattacharya et al., 2013). ESHRE has reported that ICSI is the most common fertilization technique, which has been used in around 75% of all treatments worldwide comparing with 25% of IVF use (ESHRE 2016). Furthermore, the embryo quality plays an important role in achieving pregnancy. It is reported that live birth rate is statistically significantly higher in top quality embryo transfers (Veleva et al., 2013).



Figure 8. The pregnancy success rates decline with the increasing age of women (ART Surveillance and Research Team 2010).

The highest delivery rate has been reported with the 10–14 retrieved oocytes and with two transferred embryos (Elizur et al., 2005). However, increasing trend in the world is to transfer one embryo to avoid multiple pregnancies, and according to the Agency of Medicines in Estonia, since 2018 one embryo has been transferred in more than 50% cycles in Estonia (Ravimiamet 2021).

Ovarian stimulation protocols and other medical interventions may have an impact on ART outcome. For example, the luteal support with progesterone supplementation plays an important role in IVF outcome, due to the decreased level of progesterone during ovarian hyperstimulation (Hutchinson-Williams et al., 1989), LH release inhibition (Fauser et al., 2003) and the disruption of the corpora lutea associated with oocyte retrieval (Garcia et al., 1981). Although the exact duration of progesterone supplementation remains controversial, it may be discontinued as soon as the first positive human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) test is achieved (Watters et al., 2020). The endometrial injury (EI), prednisolone and adhesive compound called embryo glue (EG) may be beneficial in patients with RIF. The significantly higher ongoing pregnancy rate (OPR) and live birth rate (LBR) were demonstrated in women with two or more implantation failures after EI (Nastri et al., 2015). The usefulness of EI has been extensively discussed but the very recent meta-analysis suggested that EI may still be beneficial for younger patients with few previous failed cycles (Nahshon et al., 2020). The exact mechanisms how EI may enhance implantation, are still unclear but it is assumed that EI causes an inflammatory process in the endometrium and induces a immunological response that plays a major role in implantation (Santos-Ribeiro et al., 2017). The use of prednisolone is beneficial on RIF and RM (Dan et al., 2015; Fawzy et al., 2014). Prednisolone is an immunomodulatory agent that suppresses immune responses, has positive impact on the treatment of autoimmune disorders, embryo

implantation, and the development of early pregnancy and IVF outcomes (Abdolmohammadi-Vahid et al., 2016; Robertson et al., 2016).

The use of EG, culture media with added hyaluronic acid, that bridges implanting embryo with endometrial surface, demonstrated higher LBRs. However, as the use of EG was also shown to be related to the higher incidence of multiple pregnancies, it's use should be discussed with a patient if more than one embryo is planned to be transferred (Bontekoe et al., 2014).

The vaginal microbiome (VMB) plays an essential role in the female fertility. A normal VBM, that includes various species of *Lactobacillus*, is associated with a good pregnancy outcome and absence of infections. The *Lactobacillus* species produce lactic acid in the vagina, that lowers vaginal pH and creates unsuitable environment for the pathogenic bacteria growth (García-Velasco et al., 2017). The constitution of VMB affects also IVF outcome and the data suggests that a balanced, *Lactobacillus*-dominated microbiota is associated with a successful IVF outcome (Al-Nasiry et al., 2020). For example, it has been demonstrated that low percentage of *Lactobacillus* in the vaginal sample has a negative effect on embryo implantation success. However, the higher abundance of *L. crispatus* affected the pregnancy rate detrimentally, and women with a low *L. crispatus* abundance had considerably higher chance to become pregnant after the first fresh ET (Koedooder et al., 2019).

The PA is a relevant factor affecting IVF success. In a recent meta-analysis, Rao et al. concluded that PA before ART raises the clinical pregnancy and LBR. However, no impact of PA on the implantation and miscarriage rate was shown (Rao et al., 2018). The other study demonstrated that there was no need to diminish normal PA after ET and bed rest did not improve the success rates of IVF (Cozzolino et al., 2019). Further, PA programs have been suggested for IVFpregnant women to diminish the risk of gestational diabetes and fpreeclampsia (Charkamyani et al., 2019). It is well known that maternal PA as well as smoking, weight, and nutrition have an impact on female fertility (Gaskins et al., 2016). Fortunately, it seems that PA level of people in Estonia is improving as we can see many people doing sport and investing in the sporting appliances. Although, there are still many people who are inactive due to their sedentary lifestyle, social or financial reasons. It is described that PA could be as helpful as other clinical interventions used for improving reproductive outcome, but the type, intensity, frequency, and duration of optimal PA to keep the good reproductive health are still unclear (Mena et al., 2019). It is important to support individual life-style management, to motivate women to be continuously active and keep BMI in a normal range. There are, however, no specific PA-related recommendations for women planning to conceive or women undergoing IVF.

The endometrial receptivity (ER), defined by a limited period of time (known as the window of implantation, WOI) when the endometrium is opportune for embryo adhesion and the subsequent attachment and invasion processes (Wilcox et al., 1999), is a tremendously important aspect of IVF success ensuring the implantation and subsequent pregnancy. The acute inflammation, influx of leukocytes and production of local inflammatory mediators(Critchley et al., 1999), is also required for successful implantation while chronic inflammation is harmful and may cause infertility (Lessey et al., 2017). Furthermore, if there is an asynchrony between the embryonic and endometrial development and endometrium is not in an optimal receptivity phase at the moment of ET or FET, the procedure may fail. In the past, the endometrial histological appearance was evaluated according to the criteria described by Noyes et al. (Noyes et al., 1975) for dating the receptivity status of endometrial tissue. Nowadays, several molecular tests have been developed that enable determination of the gene transcription pattern changes occurring in endometrial tissue/cells during the acquisition of receptivity (Enciso et al., 2018; Ruiz-Alonso et al., 2013). The usefulness of these tests to determine the most suitable day for embryo transfer is highly debated (Bassil et al., 2018; Cozzolino et al., 2020; Messaoudi et al., 2019) but the very recent multicenter randomized controlled trial indicated that adjustment of embryo transfer time according to receptivity test resulted in significantly improved pregnancy, implantation and cumulative LBR (Simón et al., 2020).

ER is influenced negatively by endometriosis over the alteration of normal endometrial function (Vannuccini et al., 2016) and referring to progesterone resistance and estrogen dominance that are believed to occur in endometriosis (Fox et al., 2016). It was shown that if transferring the same sibling donor oocytes into the women with or without endometriosis, implantation, clinical pregnancy rate (CPR), OPR as well as LBR were lower in patients with endometriosis (Prapas et al., 2012). The lower pregnancy outcome in women with endometriosis has been related to the endometrial stromal cell decidualization defects (Minici et al., 2008). However, another study demonstrated that if confirmed euploid embryos were used for transfer, the IVF outcomes were similar between endometriosis patients compared with patients undergoing treatment for male factor infertility, suggesting that ER was not affected (Bishop et al., 2020). The similarities between endometrial gene transcription pattern of endometriosis patients and controls during the WOI further confirmed that molecular changes in endometrium are probably not the main reason of endometriosis-related infertility (Da Broi et al., 2019).

2.4. Endometriosis-associated infertility treatment

The treatment of endometriosis-associated infertility is a challenging task, as the reasons behind this phenomenon are not completely understood (Da Broi 2016). However, the reasons could be related to deteriorated quality of the oocytes, or lower number of retrieved oocytes, which lead to the decreased IVF outcome (Rolla 2019). On the other hand, if the embryo quality is satisfactory, endometriosis has no impact on the embryo transfer in IVF in patients under 35 years of age (Chauffour et al., 2016). Basically, treatment of endometriosis and its accompanying symptoms, including infertility, needs special consideration and individual approach to every patient (Johnson and Hummelshoj 2013). The treatment consists mainly of surgical approaches, hormonal medication and IVF

or their combination (Sõritsa et al., 2015). The purpose of surgery, that is mainly laparoscopy, is to remove all visible endometriotic lesions and adhesions, and to restore the initial pelvic anatomy. The laparoscopy should be performed by skilled surgeons to avoid the recurrence of endometriosis due to poor surgery skills or incomplete lesion removal. It is known that surgery of endometriomas influences harmfully the ovarian reserve, therefore it is important to avoid the removal of excessive ovarian tissue that surrounds endometriomas. Although, there is still controversy on surgery for endometriomas and the research is ongoing (Somigliana 2018), it has been found that surgery (i.e. the removal of lesions) increases the IVF outcome in infertile women with endometriosis (Cesana et al., 2017). According to the literature, there is almost 50% chance of spontaneous pregnancy during 1–2 years after curative treatment of endometriosis if fallopian tubes are functional and male partner semen analysis is normal (Vercellini et al., 2006).

The surgical treatment of endometriosis remains the best approach, by removing the endometriotic lesions and adhesions, and improving the probability of subsequent spontaneous pregnancy (Abbott, 2017; Nesbitt-Hawes et al., 2015). However, fertility preservation by oocyte, embryo or ovarian tissue cryopreservation should be discussed with the patient prior to surgery and the surgery should be performed by skilled surgeon to avoid the damage of ovaries. Several studies have shown a lower ovarian reserve, lower Anti-Müllerian hormone concentration and lower antral follicle count in women with endometriosis, particularly in case of bilateral endometriomas (Nezhat et al., 1991; Nieweglowska et al., 2015) and surgical treatment of endometriomas may further reduce Anti-Müllerian hormone level. Nowadays, the European guidelines recommend to preserve oocytes before the ovarian surgery (Garcia-Fernandez and García-Velasco, 2020) but there is not enough evidence to propose preoperative oocyte cryopreservation to prevent endometriosis-associated infertility in women with deep lesions or having only small endometriomas without any additional infertility risk factors (Pluchino et al., 2020).

The benefit of surgery to IVF outcome is closely related to the different stages of the endometriosis, previous history of infertility and the age of the patient. The curative surgery is frequently beneficial to conceive in case of minimal and mild stages of endometriosis. The IVF is often required in the presence of moderate and severe stages of endometriosis. However, there are no randomized controlled studies investigating the impact of surgery in moderate to severe stage of endometriosis-associated infertility comparing with medical treatment or expectant management (Angioni et al., 2015). In case of DIE, according to the last guideline of endometriosis, the effectiveness of surgical approach on the reproductive outcome is unclear due to the lack of research (ESHRE Endometriosis Guideline Development Group 2022). The IVF outcome after repeated surgery is usually low (Rolla 2019).

The medical treatment options of endometriosis consist of gonadotrophin releasing hormone agonists (GnRHa), progestins, oral contraceptives, or aromatase inhibitors, with a purpose to suppress the follicle growth, which leads to anovulation and amenorrhea. The low level of estradiol and reduced uterine blood flow

in turn lead to suppression of endometriotic lesions growth (Vercellini et al., 2018). The GnRHa therapy is a well-known treatment option of endometriosis, lowering the estradiol levels by down-regulating GnRH receptors, but unfortunately causing also unfavorable side effects, like hot flushes, hyperhidrosis, vaginal dryness, headache, decreased libido, mood changes, and sleep disturbances (Giudice and Kao 2004). In the last few years, the new oral GnRH antagonist was introduced for the treatment of endometriosis with less side effects due to uncomplete suppression of estradiol (Taylor et al., 2017). Also, the plantsynthesized natural remedy Resveratrol is reported to be effective treatment for endometriosis due to its anti-oxidative, anti-inflammatory, and anti-angiogenic impacts (Schwartz et al., 2020).

The benefit of pre- or postoperative treatment GnRH is still uncertain. The preoperative treatment could reduce the inflammation as well as the growth of some small lesions. The postoperative medical treatment could reduce the recurrence rate but also postpone the desired conception, due to the suppressed folliculogenesis (Tanbo and Fedorcsak 2017). On the other hand, as surgical removal of pelvic endometriotic tissue, even by the most skilled surgeons, will not be curative, postoperative treatment before conception may be useful. Threeto six-month administration of GnRH analogues before initiation of IVF has shown positive impact on the CPR and LBR (Sallam et al., 2006). Also, the patients with surgically diagnosed endometriosis, pretreated with GnRH analogues for 3 months before IVF, had better pregnancy rates (Surrey et al., 2002). However, some studies have shown that there was no improvement in CPR in infertile patients with endometriosis after 3-months treatment with GnRHa before IVF (Kaponis et al., 2020; Rodríguez-Tárrega et al., 2020). Therefore, the benefit of postoperative GnRHa treatment for the long-term pituitary downregulation in women with endometriosis-associated infertility is still uncertain (Bulletin 2000). Also the recent Cochrane Review confirms the ambiguity on this topic (Georgiou et al., 2019).

2.5. Summary of the literature review

Infertility is a global health issue affecting increasing numbers of couples worldwide. Large efforts have been done to find out which factors affect the couples' fertility and which conditions may lead to the infertility. Over the past decades, ART has rapidly evolved and the number of children conceived through IVF is growing. However, the IVF success rate is still far from satisfying, warranting further studies to determine biological and lifestyle factors influencing infertility treatment outcome and to find the best approaches to shorten the time to successful pregnancy. For example, the effect of PA on IVF outcome has been scantly studied and further research is needed to recommend optimal levels of PA for women undergoing IVF treatment. One of the frequent reasons of female infertility is a benign gynecological disease endometriosis. Despite of extensive studies, the factors behind endometriosis-related infertility are not completely understood. Endometriosis-associated infertility is poorly treatable and needs further investigations to find the most effective individual treatment approach for every patient. Alterations in endometrial gene expression pattern in women with endometriosis have been proposed as one possible cause of infertility, but the results of different studies are contradictory. Moreover, even if endometriosis research has demonstrated that multiple genes and molecular pathways are differently expressed in diseased cells, more detailed mapping of changes is necessary to broaden our understanding of the disease mechanisms and to find molecular targets, which could be specifically used to destroy endometriotic cells in lesions.

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of the study was to acquire additional knowledge about the endometriosis-related infertility and the factors that influence the infertility treatment outcomes.

The specific aims of the study were:

- 1. To evaluate the effects of combined treatment approaches (laparoscopy, GnRHa therapy and IVF) on endometriosis-associated infertility in different stages of endometriosis.
- 2. To analyse the impact of physical activity on the IVF outcome.
- 3. To reveal alterations in expression of endometrial receptivity genes of endometriosis patients and to use the same gene panel to specify the menstrual cycle phase of endometrial samples.
- 4. To find molecular alterations in endometriotic cells by implementing cytotoxic compounds' sensitivity testing.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Research Ethics Committee of University of Tartu approved the study protocols and the informed consent forms (approval numbers 191T-8, 227/T-7 and 276/M-13). All participants signed a written informed consent form.

4.1. Study participants

Altogether, 235 endometriosis patients (Studies I, III and IV), 101 infertile women (Study II) and 33 healthy individuals (Study III) participated in the studies presented in this thesis (Table 1). Patients undergoing laparoscopy at the Tartu University Hospital Women's Clinic (Studies III and IV) in the years 2011–2018 and patients with endometriosis-associated infertility undergoing laparoscopy for curative purposes as a part of combined treatment at Elite Clinic between 2005–2008 (Tartu, Estonia, Study I) were recruited into the study. All enrolled patients were in reproductive age. The presence of endometriosis was confirmed during the laparoscopy by visual inspection and following histological examination of endometriotic lesions. The severity of endometriosis was determined according to the ASRM (1996) revised classification system. Only women with no hormonal treatment for at least 3 months before surgery were enrolled in the Studies III and IV. Endometrial tissue samples and peritoneal endometriosis.

		Endomet	Infertile women	Healthy women		
	Stu Group I	dy I Group II	Study III	Study IV	Study II	Study III
N of patients	121	58	45	11	101	33
Age in years, mean±SD	33.2±4.4	32.5±4.4	31±4.7	31.1±5.9	33.5±4.1	32±5.1
BMI, mean±SD	22.4±2.9	21.5±2.6	22±3.5	22.8±2.9	23.9±4.4	23±3.6
Endometriosis stage (n)	I–II (121)	III–IV (58)	I–II (25) III–IV (20)	I (7) III (4)	NA	NA
Duration of infertility, mean±SD	6.1 ± 3.3	6.3 ± 3.6	NA	NA	4.6±3.5	NA

Table 1. General characteristics of the study participants.

SD-standard deviation; NA-not applicable

The participants of Study II were infertile women in reproductive age, entering IVF/ICSI treatment cycle and receiving fresh ET at Elite Clinic or Tartu University Hospital's Women's Clinic in the years 2013–2016. IVF treatment cycles with donor oocytes were excluded. The main reasons for infertility treatment were male factor, unexplained infertility, TFI, advanced female age, or no partner (70.3% of cases, n=71), infertility because of PCOS (including male factor infertility and PCOS or tubal factor and PCOS) and infertility due to endometriosis (including women with male factor infertility and endometriosis) were present in 6.9% (n=7) and 22.8% (n=23) of cases, respectively.

4.2. Infertility treatment (Studies I and II)

In Study I, the patients who had undergone curative laparoscopy and were eligible for IVF, or who were found to have adenomyosis or moderate to severe endometriosis, were postoperatively given a GnRHa, either Diphereline (Ipsen Pharma Biotech, France) or Zoladex (AstraZeneca UK, Ltd., UK). The first dose of GnRHa was administered on the first postoperative day, and each following dose was administered after every 28 days for 3-6 months. In patients scheduled for IVF, GnRHa treatment and pituitary suppression were continued by IVF without waiting for a menstrual period. In FET program, after GnRH treatment and pituitary suppression, endometrium was prepared using oestrogens. Natural conception was recommended for couples with patent fallopian tubes and normal sperm quality. Some patients received GnRHa treatment but did not undergo IVF treatment because they spontaneously achieved pregnancy prior to the scheduled IVF treatment. IVF and ICSI were performed according to standard protocols. Pregnancy was documented by the presence of gestational sac(s) at 6-7 weeks of gestation, with miscarriages occurring between the detection of a pregnancy and the 22nd week of gestation.

In Study II, IVF treatment was conducted using GnRH antagonist (28%) or agonist (72%) protocol. All patients started rFSH (1560.7 ± 575.0 IU) (Gonal F, Merck Serono, Italy; or Bemfola, Finox Biotech AG, Switzerland) injections on day 2–7 of menses, continuing daily for $9 \pm 2-3$ days until 3 follicles achieved 18 mm of diameter, and hCG (Merck Serono, Italy) was administered. The controlled ovarian stimulation (COS) follow-up included 3–4 ultrasound assessments of endometrium and follicular growth. Final follicular maturation was achieved using 250 mcg of hCG followed by oocyte retrieval 36 h later. Patients who received IVF (n = 39) or ICSI (n = 62) were both included. On average 1.5 (±0.6) embryos were transferred after COS on days 2 to 5 (n = 59 and 42, respectively). A serum pregnancy test, referred to as positive hCG, was performed on 14 ± 2 days after ET and considered to be positive if β -hCG > 10 mLU/mL. The ultrasound evaluation for defining clinical pregnancy was performed 6 weeks after oocyte retrieval and was considered positive in the presence of at least one intrauterine gestational sac and cardiac activity on ultrasound.
4.3. Assessment of PA and sedentary behaviour (Study II)

For the objective measurement of PA and sedentary time the Uniaxial accelerometer GT1M (ActiGraph LLC, FL, USA) (Figure 9A) was placed on participant waist (Figure 9B).



Figure 9 A. Uniaxial accelerometer GT1M (ActiGraph LLC, FL, USA); **B.** Participant wearing the accelerometer on the waist. The photograph made by Signe Altmäe from the Instituto de Investigación Biosanitaria ibs. Granada, Spain.

PA and sedentary behavior were measured for 14 consecutive days at each of the three time points as follows: i) before IVF treatment; ii) during IVF at the implantation time (immediately after embryo transfer); and iii) after positive pregnancy test. Patients, enrolled in the study, did not get any recommendations for PA during infertility treatment. The statistical assessment of PA and sedentary behavior were made by partners from University of Granada, Spain. The analyses of power calculation showed that the study group of 100 women with an alpha error of 5% and a power of 90% would be enough to detect an association of an effect size of 10% variance explained of the study outcomes. Accelerometer data was processed by using ActiLife version 6.10.2 (ActiGraph LLC, FL, USA) software. The analysis was performed among women wearing the accelerometer for at least 10 h/day for 4 or more days (N=98). Women were divided into different groups according to the intensity of PA and different stages of energy expenditure, usually measured as metabolic equivalents.

4.4. In vitro cell culture experiments (Study IV)

In vitro cell culture experiments were performed by Darja Lavõgina, PhD (University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry). Briefly, stromal cells were isolated from peritoneal endometriotic lesions (ectopic endometrial stromal cells, ecESC) and endometrial tissues (eutopic endometrial stromal cells, euESC) according to the previously published protocol (Kasvandik et al., 2016). The isolated stromal cells

were cultured for 5–6 passages in DMEM/Ham's F-12 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Capricorn, Ebsdorfergrund, Germany) and a mixture of penicillin, streptomycin and amphotericin B (Capricorn, Ebsdorfergrund, Germany) at 37°C in 5% CO2 in an incubator.

For necrosis/late apoptosis assay euESC and ecESC were seeded onto 96-well plates at a density of 4000–6000 cells per well and after cultivating the cells for 24 h, the medium was exchanged and dilution series of 14 compounds targeting pro-survival enzymes, cytoskeleton proteins, the proteasome and the cell repair machinery were added (see TABLE 1 in Study IV); the final volume per well was 110 µl, and the concentration of DMSO in the treated wells was $\leq 0.1\%$ by volume. For each plate, each concentration of each compound to be tested was represented in duplicate; the controls (10% DMSO and 0.1% DMSO) were represented in sextuplicate. In 22 hours, the medium was removed and 1 µmol/l Sytox Blue solution in PBS was added. The plates were placed into a multimode reader and incubated for 10 min at 37°C, and the fluorescence intensity was measured (excitation 430 nm, emission 480 nm, monochromator, top optics, gain 90; area scan mode 5 × 5, read height 2.5 mm, with lid).

The viability assay was performed directly after the necrosis/late apoptosis assay using the same plates. The solution of Sytox Blue was replaced by 50 μ mol/l resazurin solution in PBS. The absorbance was measured by the multimode reader (570 nm and 600 nm, monochromator; kinetic mode with a reading taken every 15 min for 2 h, read height 8.5 mm, with lid). Next, resazurin solution was replaced by fresh sterile DMEM/Ham's F-12 medium supplemented with FBS, and the cells were incubated for 24 h at 37°C in 5% CO2 in a humidified incubator. Finally, the viability assay was performed again (without the preceding necrosis/late apoptosis assay).

4.5. RNA extraction and detection of gene expression (Studies III and IV)

Total RNA was extracted from both endometrial tissue biopsies and *in vitro* cultured cells using RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. DNase I treatment was performed using the DNA-free DNA removal kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). A 2200 TapeStation system in conjunction with RNA ScreenTape (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, USA) was used to determine the quality and quantity of purified RNA.

Before quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR), DNase treated RNA samples were converted to cDNA using a RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), and qRT-PCR was performed using 1 × HOT FIREPol EvaGreen qPCR Mix Plus (ROX) (Solis BioDyne, Tartu, Estonia) in 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). ACTB was used as a reference gene. Primer sequences are available in the publication (Study IV).

For whole transcriptome sequencing of cultured endometrial (n=3) and endometriotic (n=3) stromal cells (Study IV), RNA from two technical replicates was pooled together. cDNA was synthesized as previously described (Teder et al., 2018) and converted to the next-generation sequencing library using a Nextera XT Library Prep kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA).

For large-scale detection of 57 ER genes (Study III), TAC-seq methodology was used (Teder et al., 2018). SDHA, CYC1, TBP and HMBS were utilized as reference genes. Briefly, mRNA was converted to cDNA, hybridized with specific oligonucleotide probes and converted to next generation sequencing library. Libraries were sequenced with Illumina NextSeq 500 high output 75 cycles kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA).

4.6. Statistical analysis

In study I, the unpaired t test, Wilcoxon's rank sum test and the χ 2 test were applied to compare the groups. Logistic regression analysis adjusted for age, body mass index (BMI), presence of adenomyosis and severity of endometriosis was used to assess pregnancy and delivery outcomes in different study groups.

In study II, associations of baseline PA/sedentary variables with oocytes and embryos obtained after hormonal stimulation were examined using linear regression models, after adjustment for a set of potential confounders selected based on existing clinical knowledge: accelerometer registered time, age, BMI, educational level, smoking, infertility diagnosis, infertility duration, and the amount of FSH administered. The light PA (the mean accelerometer counts per minute (cpm) 100-1951), moderate PA (1952-5724 cpm), vigorous PA (> 5724 cpm), and sedentary time (< 100 cpm) (Freedson et al., 1998) were measured, and using binary logistic regression models after adjustment for the same set of confounders, the associations of PA/sedentary levels at different time points (i.e., baseline, after embryo transfer, and after positive serum hCG pregnancy test) or changes from baseline to implantation period with different pregnancy outcomes (i.e., positive hCG, clinical pregnancy, and live birth) were examined. Additionally, the women were asked to fill questionnaire regarding the spent duration of screen time (TV watching, DVD, computer) during the last 5 work days and total screen time spent during the last non-work days (e.g., weekend). The isotemporal concept analysis was performed to measure the total accelerometer registered waking time (the accelerometer was removed during sleep and exposure to water). Furthermore, one-way analysis of covariance model was used to measure whether PA/sedentary levels at the three different time points varied between women who became pregnant and those who did not (positive hCG, positive clinical pregnancy, and live birth).

In Study III, raw sequencing reads were processed and analysed by Priit Paluoja, MSc (University of Tartu, Institute of Computer Science) as described in (Teder et al., 2018). Each sample was normalized using geometric mean of four housekeeper genes (CYC1, HMBS, SDHA and TBP) expression level using psych (version 1.7.8) package in R (version 3.2.2). TAC-seq data was processed with open-source software (https://github.com/cchtEE/TAC-seq-data-analysis).

In Study IV, raw sequencing reads were processed and analysed by Alvin Meltsov, MSc (University of Tartu, Institute of Molecular and Cellular Biology) as described in the publication. The 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) was used for calculating the relative expression and to determine mRNA expression fold changes.

5. RESULTS

5.1. The effect of infertility treatment approaches on pregnancy and delivery rates of endometriosis patients with different disease severity (Study I)

To analyze the effect of combined approaches on endometriosis patients' infertility treatment results, the retrospectively collected data of 179 infertile women, who had undergone curative laparoscopy, were analyzed. Only the data of women whose complete pregnancy follow-up results, including both natural and assisted conceptions and deliveries, were used for analysis. The patients were firstly divided into two groups according to their endometriosis severity: 121 patients in group I with minimal-mild (stage I–II) and 58 patients in group II with moderatesevere (stage III-IV) endometriosis. Further, the patients in both groups were divided according to the admitted GnRHa treatment status (with and without GnRHa treatment) after laparoscopy (Figure 10). There were no patients without GnRHa treatment in group II and the average duration of postoperative GnRHa treatment after surgery was longer in this group compared to group I (4.9 ± 1.6 vs. 4.3 ± 1.4 months, p=0.02). Also, the use of IVF treatment was significantly higher among group II patients compared to group I patients with GnRHa treatment (89.7% vs. 75.0%, p=0.03), being the lowest (71.1%) among stage I-II patients receiving no GnRHa therapy.



Figure 10. The treatment groups of endometriosis patients.

The results of different treatment approaches are given in Table 2. The cumulative pregnancy rate for all IVF/ICSI/FET cycles was calculated for patients participating in the IVF program until December 2009. The study results showed the beneficial effect of combined treatment on endometriosis-associated infertility. The number of retrieved oocytes was statistically significantly higher among women with stage I–II endometriosis compared to those with stage III–IV disease (p=0.008, Table 2), but the overall CPR and delivery rates separately for ART

and natural pregnancies and combined for all pregnancies did not differ significantly neither between the patients with and without GnRHa treatment inside the group I nor between groups I and II (Table 2). The total pregnancy rate per all patients in both groups was 66.5% (n=119), including women who had conceived spontaneously (18.4%, n=33), or through IVF (48.0%, n=86). Patients with minimal to mild endometriosis (66.9%, n=81) conceived similarly to patients with moderate to severe endometriosis (65.5%, n=38). The miscarriage and delivery rates were also similar in both groups. Seventy-one (58.7%) patients with minimal to mild endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis and 30 (51.7%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis gave birth (Table 2).

	Group I			Group II
Characteristic	GnRHa treatment after laparosc			scopy
	GnRHa+/-	GnRHa+	GnRHa-	GnRHa+
No of patients (%)	121	76 (62.8)	45 (37.2)	58
Total no of IVF cycles	142	89	53	71
IVF cycles per IVF patients	1.6	1.6	1.7	1.4
Total no of FET cycles	15	13	2	8
FET cycles per IVF patients	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2
Retrieved oocytes (mean ±SD)	$10.1{\pm}5.8^{*}$	9.7±5.5	10.7±6.4	$7.4{\pm}4.3^{*}$
IVF/FET cumulative pregnancies per IVF patients (%)**	57 (64.0)	37 (64.9)	20 (62.5)	29 (55.8)
Conceived during I–II IVF attempt per all IVF/FET pregnancies (%)**	51 (89.5)	33 (89.2)	18 (90.0)	26 (89.7)
Spontaneous pregnancies per all patients (%)**	24 (19.8)	16 (21.1)	8 (17.8)	9 (15.5)
The number of total pregnancies per all patients (%)**	81 (66.9)	53 (69.7)	28 (62.2)	38 (65.5)
The number of total miscarriages per all pregnancies (%)	10 (12.3)	6 (11.3)	4 (14.3)	8 (21.1)
The number of total deliveries per all patients (%)	71 (58.7)	47 (61.8)	24 (53.3)	30 (51.7)

Table 2. Results of treatments of endometriosis patients with infertility

GnRHa+/– patients with and without GnRHa treatment. Groups marked with *are statistically significantly different (p<0.05); **for clinical pregnancies confirmed by ultrasound scan. SD – standard deviation

5.2. The effect of maternal physical activity during the IVF procedure on the treatment outcome (Study II)

5.2.1. The PA parameters of study participants before and after IVF treatment

To assess the true impact of maternal PA and sedentary behavior before and during IVF procedure on the treatment outcomes, the activity parameters of 101 women were registered three times by accelerometry at: a) 1–6 months before IVF (baseline activity), b) immediately after embryo transfer and c) after positive serum pregnancy test (Figure 11). The patients were highly motivated to participate, so that the minimum requirement for the data to be included in the analyses (time of detected PA for 4 days with 10 or more accelerometer wearing hours per day) was achieved in case of 98 participants. In 88 out of 98 women, the PA data were registered for 10 days or more. After IVF treatment, 43.6% of participants had a positive hCG test, 39.6% had clinical pregnancy and 28.7% of women gave live birth.



Figure 11. Study design for PA and IVF study. PA – physical activity.

The results of the study revealed that compared to the baseline activity levels, the women significantly altered their PA after starting the IVF treatment. Particularly after ET, the women significantly increased sedentary time (p < 0.001) and reduced their PA in all measured PA categories. Time spent both on light and vigorous PA, and also number of steps per day were significantly decreased after ET (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Changes in physical activity and sedentary behaviour from baseline levels to the infertility treatment procedure, at the period of embryo implantation (14 days registered after embryo transfer) (N = 79 women with valid accelerometer data at both time points). PA, physical activity; MVPA, moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity. The "bout" is the period of time e.g. a sedentary time bout is the consecutive period of time with less than 100 cpm. MVPA was calculated by summing the time spent at moderate and vigorous PA. P values report the significance of the intra-subject changes tested by repeated measured analysis of variance (ANOVA). The ranges (min. and max.) of the scale used in the Y axes are based on the 25 and 75 percentiles of the present study sample.

5.2.2. The impact of PA on COS and pregnancy outcomes

The analysis showed that the baseline PA and sedentary time are associated with COS outcome. The mean number of retrieved oocytes and obtained embryos in the study group were 11.6 (\pm 7.1) and 6.6 (\pm 4.5), respectively. The both parameters were positively associated (both p < 0.05) with higher PA, while sedentary time affected these parameters negatively. Also, women with high self-reported screen time obtained 4.7 oocytes (p=0.005) and 2.8 embryos (p = 0.008) less, compared to women with low-medium screen time. Isotemporal analysis suggested that when woman increased her daily light PA for 1.5 hour and reduced her daily sedentary time for 1.5 hour, she could receive 1.8 oocytes (p = 0.03) and 1.2 embryos (p = 0.03) more during IVF treatment (Figure 13). The analysis of relationships between PA/sedentary time and IVF outcomes revealed no significant impact neither on positive hCG, CPR and LBR nor on the early pregnancy establishment and risk of miscarriage.



Figure 13. Graphical illustration of the accelerometer isotemporal analyses.

5.3. The expression pattern of endometrial receptivity-involved genes in women with and without endometriosis and as a tool for precise dating of archived endometrial samples (Study III)

To uncover whether genes enabling ER determination are alternatively expressed in women with (n=45) and without endometriosis (n=33), women who have undergone laparoscopy because of symptoms of suggestive of endometriosis and proved to be disease-free), we determined the gene expression levels of a panel of 57 known receptivity genes (Altmäe et al., 2017). The results showed no clear segregation between women with and without endometriosis, suggesting similar gene expression in both groups independent of diagnosis (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Principal Component Analysis plot of normalized RNA sequencing data of 57 ER genes in women with (red circles) and without (blue circles) endometriosis. The plot was generated using ClustVis web tool (biit.cs.ut.ee/clustvis/).

The endometrial tissue samples in both groups were collected in different phases throughout the menstrual cycle according to the self-reported menstrual cycle days: M (cycle days 1-5, n=4), P (cycle days 6-14, n=17), ES (cycle days 15-18, n=19), MS (cycle days 19–23, n=19), and LS (cycle days 24–28, n=19). We found that if to take the sample collection day into account, the expression pattern of these 57 genes divided the samples roughly into four distinct groups (Figure 15A). All endometrial samples from P phase clustered together and a subset of LS phase samples (n = 8) formed a distinct cluster; however, several samples from LS phase (n = 8) were more similar to MS samples and two LS samples grouped together with M phase samples. Furthermore, there was no clear segregation of ES and MS samples that formed one diffuse cluster. This indicated that selfreported menstrual cycle day does not allow reliable distinction between samples from these adjacent phases, especially not those where there is a transition from pre-receptive (ES) to a receptive (MS) phase and where the length of the cycle therefore plays an important role. According to the available clinical data, all women in our study had a regular menstrual cycle with the duration of 24-35 days but the exact length of the particular cycle when the samples were collected, was not recorded.

The expression pattern of the same 57 genes was also determined in 54 paired endometrial samples from 27 healthy parous women, collected at the histologically and biochemically (predicted from the LH peak in urine) confirmed prereceptive (ES) and receptive (MS) cycle phases (described in (Suhorutshenko et al., 2018)). Based on the expression data of these samples, a machine learning support vector machine model for discrimination of ES and MS phase samples was established and applied to segregate the studied self-reported ES and MS samples. After this adjustment, 4 out of 19 ES phase samples were re-classified as MS samples and 9 MS samples were re-classified as ES samples (Figure 15B), showing that molecular profiling helped to assign the endometrial samples from adjacent phases correctly even without precise chronological dating.



Figure 15. Multidimensional scaling plot of normalized RNA sequencing data of 57 ER genes in women with and without endometriosis. (A) Clustering analysis of RNA sequencing data. (B) Clustering after applying support vector machine classifier to ES and MS phase samples. P – proliferative, ES – early secretory, MS – mid-secretory, LS – late secretory, M – menstrual phase endometrial samples. Triangles represent women without endometriosis and circles mark women with endometriosis.

5.4. The impact of doxorubicin on endometrial and endometriotic stromal cells' gene expression (Study IV)

We hypothesized that when we find compound(s) that affect/reduce viability of ectopic cells more than eutopic cells that would help us to determine alterations in molecular pathways involved in endometriosis development. For this purpose, cytotoxic effects of 14 compounds that target pro-survival enzymes, cytoskeleton proteins, the proteasome and the cell repair machinery (Table 1 in publication of Study IV) were determined in 11 paired samples of euESCs versus ecESCs from peritoneal lesions. The results showed that most of the compounds (GSK690693, CYC116, ARC-775, Bortezomib, MMAE) affected the viability of euESCs more strongly compared to ecESCs ($P \le 0.05$). SGI-1776 reduced the viability of both cell-types significantly ($P \le 0.001$) but the difference of the effect between euESCs and ecESCs was nonsignificant (P > 0.05). The only compound found with more pronounced effect on ectopic cells ($P \le 0.001$) was doxorubicin.

Thereafter, to find out which genes and pathways are affected by doxorubicin in euESC and ecESC, large-scale mRNA sequencing was performed after 24 h incubation of cells from three patients with 2 µmol/l doxorubicin or 0.1% DMSO control. The effect of doxorubicin on ectopic cells was stronger at the concentration of 10 µmol/l but as the number of surviving cells for mRNA analysis was very low, we decided to conduct RNA sequencing using treatment of cells with 2 µmol/l doxorubicin. The analysis of mRNA sequencing showed that treatment with doxorubicin affected the expression of larger number of genes in euESC compared to ecESCs (4009 vs. 249, respectively). Several genes that had a higher expression in control euESC relative to control ecESC (MMP1/3/10, PENK, PTN and *GRP*) or in control ecESC relative to control euESC (*ESM1*, *IL33* and *PTX3*) also showed greater expression in the same cell type following treatment with doxorubicin. Furthermore, treatment with doxorubicin resulted in a reduced expression of several genes in euESC (e.g., DUSP1/10 and BARD1) as well as in ecESC (e.g., *DKK1*, *HAS2*) relative to the control cells of the same type. However, the expression of some genes (such as histone cluster 1 and 2 family members HIST1H2AE, HIST1H2BK and HIST2H2AA4) in euESC increased upon treatment with doxorubicin relative to control cells, but there was no significant increase in gene expression in toxin-treated ecESC relative to the control treatment (Table 3).

The differential expression of two genes that are known to be involved in chemoresistance to doxorubicin (*PTN* and *HSPA2*) was also validated by qRT-PCR. The gene encoding cyclooxygenase 2 (*PTGS2*) was also chosen for the validation, despite its' slightly higher adjusted p-value than considered significant (Padj = 0.07). However, the product of this gene is known to protect cells against doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. The qRT-PCR validation confirmed significantly higher expression of *PTN* in both control and doxorubicin-treated euESC versus the corresponding ecESC (both P < 0.05), and significantly higher expression of *HSPA2* in control euESC versus ecESC (P = 0.05). In addition, doxorubicin treatment elevated the level of *PTN* and *HSPA2* in eutopic and ectopic stromal cells compared to the respective control cells (both P < 0.05). Furthermore, analysis showed significantly higher expression of *PTGS2* in both control and doxorubicin-treated ecESC versus respective euESCs (both P < 0.05).

Comparison ^a		Gene names and log ₂ FC values ^{b,c}
euESC control vs ecESC control	Higher expression in euESC Higher expression in ecESC	<i>MMP12</i> (8.4), <i>MMP10</i> (8.0), <i>MMP3</i> (8.0), <i>TFAP2C</i> (7.4), <i>RGCC</i> (6.8), <i>HTR2B</i> (6.4), <i>GRP</i> (6.4), <i>DIO2</i> (5.7), <i>MMP1</i> (5.5), <i>RBP1</i> (4.9), <i>CARD16</i> (4.8), <i>LEPR</i> (4.8), <i>PRDM1</i> (4.7), <i>CTSK</i> (4.6), <i>HSPA2</i> (4.6), <i>NID1</i> (4.6), <i>GCNT4</i> (4.5), <i>PLAU</i> (4.5), <i>PENK</i> (4.5), <i>PTN</i> (4.4), <i>IFI6</i> (4.2), <i>SEMA5A</i> (4.1), <i>AREG</i> (4.0), <i>NPY1R</i> (4.0) <i>GIPC2</i> (-9.7), <i>PTX3</i> (-9.0), <i>EFEMP1</i> (-6.1), <i>IL33</i> (-6.0), <i>SFRP4</i> (-4.5), <i>PPP1R3C</i> (-4.3), <i>ESM1</i> (-4.0)
euESC control vs euESC + toxin	Higher expression in control treatment	<i>HTR2B</i> (8.0), <i>CCDC107</i> (7.0), <i>ING3</i> (6.4), <i>BARD1</i> (6.2), <i>CARNMT1</i> (5.9), <i>KRT19</i> (5.8), <i>TUBA1A</i> (5.3), <i>DIO2</i> (5.2), <i>PAN3</i> (5.1), <i>DUSP1</i> (4.9), <i>PKIG</i> (4.9), <i>PBK</i> (4.9), <i>UTP18</i> (4.8), <i>CEMIP</i> (4.7), <i>SLC5A3</i> (4.5), <i>CITED2</i> (4.5), <i>CTGF</i> (4.4), <i>SASS6</i> (4.1), <i>DUSP10</i> (4.1), <i>NOP10</i> (4.1)
	Higher expression in toxin treatment	HIST1H2AE (-7.0), INSYN2 (-6.7), TMEFF2 (-6.0), HIST1H2BPS2 (-5.2), HIST1H2BK (-5.0), HIST2H2AA4 (-4.8), CXCL3 (-4.7)
ecESC control vs ecESC + toxin	Higher expression in control treatment	HAS2 (6.9), MRPL14 (5.0), CARD16 (4.5), DKK1 (4.0)
euESC + toxin vs ecESC +	Higher expression in euESC	<i>GRP</i> (7.3), <i>MMP3</i> (7.1), <i>MMP10</i> (6.1), <i>PTN</i> (5.1), <i>RGCC</i> (4.7), <i>IFITM1</i> (4.5), <i>SOX11</i> (4.3), <i>MMP1</i> (4.2), <i>PENK</i> (4.1)
toxin	Higher expression in ecESC	ESM1 (-6.2), <i>TFPI2</i> (-5.3), PTX3 (-4.9), <i>IL33</i> (-4.4), BARD1 (-4.1)

Table 3. Genes showing significantly different expression in control and toxin-treated euESC and ecESC by mRNA sequencing. Only genes with cut-off values of log_2FC less than or equal to 4 or \geq +4 are shown.

^aControl treatment: 24 h incubation in growth medium containing 0.1% DMSO; toxin treatment: 24 h incubation in growth medium containing 2 μ mol/l doxorubicin. ^bThe binary logarithm of the fold change of averages is shown in brackets; n = 3. Negative values indicate higher expression in ectopic cells (for euESC versus ecESC comparisons) or in doxorubicin-treated cells (for treatment comparisons). ^cGenes that are listed under more than one comparison in the table are shown in bold. ecESC, ectopic endometrial stromal cell; euESC, eutopic endometrial stromal cell; log₂FC, binary logarithm of fold change of averages.

6. DISCUSSION

6.1. The effect of endometriosis treatment on IVF outcome

It is still unclear how endometriosis affects fertility. The well-known ASRM classification of endometriosis severity does not correlate with the infertility status and patients with milder stages of endometriosis may have infertility issues while patients with severe stages of endometriosis may still be fertile (Garcia-Fernandez and García-Velasco 2020). Our results showed that also IVF outcome among surgically treated patients was not statistically significantly different between patients with different stages of endometriosis. However, our study revealed statistically significantly smaller number of retrieved oocytes in women with moderate-severe stage of endometriosis compared to minimal-mild endometriosis. It is well known that endometriosis affects negatively the number of retrieved oocytes (Pacchiarotti et al., 2020; Borges et al., 2015) but it has also been shown that less oocytes were retrieved from women with moderate-severe stage of endometriosis compared to those with minimal-mild stage disease (Coccia et al., 2011). Similar ovulation rate has been observed in young women ovary, regardless the presence of the endometrioma (Maggiore et al., 2015). However, among women with more severe stages of endometriosis, the number of retrieved oocytes was reduced in women who had endometriomas compared to those with peritoneal disease (Li et al., 2020). According to this data, both disease severity and involvement of lesions in ovaries affect the number of oocytes available for fertilization.

Endometriosis-associated infertility treatment may be the combination of surgery, hormonal therapy and IVF. The treatment has to be individualized according to the previous history of infertility, patient's age and the stage of endometriosis, but it is often difficult to choose the right approach due to the different manifestation of endometriosis symptoms (Vercellini et al., 1996). The largely used ASRM classification of disease severity may not work for all patients due to different pattern and nature of symptoms (The Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine 2012; Zeng et al., 2014). Patients with the same disease stage often have different symptoms with variable severity. In our opinion, combined treatment should be used especially in the more severe forms of endometriosis, although its superiority should still be proven. Nowadays, it is recommended to use the more precise Endometriosis Fertility Index classification, that considers in addition to the stage of endometriosis also the function of the fallopian tubes, fimbria, and ovaries, the age of the patient, the duration of infertility, and if the patient has had prior pregnancies (Adamson and Pasta 2010).

Similarly to our study, others have shown the benefit of curative laparoscopy in case of endometriosis-associated infertility with the similar pregnancy rate in different stages of endometriosis (Vercellini et al., 2006). For example, a recent retrospective study with a follow-up period of four to 14 years demonstrated that the excision of lesions in moderate or severe endometriosis resulted in a high postoperative pregnancy rate of 65.8%, leading to considerable relief of symptoms and to the low rate of recurrency (Schippert et al., 2020). On the other hand, IVI group in Spain demonstrated that conservative surgery on ovarian endometriomas before ART did not increase the probability of pregnancy, but might increase the costs and time to pregnancy, reducing the ovarian reserve and increasing the risks arising from the surgery (Garcia-Velasco et al., 2004).

The GnRHa treatment is well used in the therapy of endometriosis, especially in case when adenomyosis is also found (Lin et al., 2000; Pouly et al., 2007). In the mild stages of endometriosis, the use on GnRHa is questionable (Bulletti et al., 2010). In our study the GnRHa was used in mild stage of endometriosis mainly when adenomyosis was detected with transvaginal ultrasound. Also, the GnRHa postoperative treatment was used to block the menstruation before following IVF in cases when endometrial pathology was defined during hysteroscopy. In patients with moderate to severe stage of endometriosis, with the frequently presented adenomyosis, the GnRHa treatment after laparoscopy is beneficial on achieving pregnancy (Lin et al., 2000; Pouly et al., 2007). However, a large study of over 900 patients showed that even if women were pre-treated with GnRHa, the presence of adenomyosis had a negative effect on reproductive outcome in IVF cycles (Sharma et al., 2019). In our study, we found that the outcome of infertility treatment among patients with different stages of endometriosis was similar between those treated or untreated with GnRHa. A prospective randomized controlled trial including 450 women with endometriosis showed similar results, an overall pregnancy rate was comparable among GnRHa alone, surgical laparoscopy alone, and the combination of the treatments (Alkatout et al., 2013).

In general, data on the utility of GnRHa therapy in improving IVF outcomes are conflicting. Some studies have reported no useful effect of GnRHa treatment to IVF outcome (Kaponis et al., 2020; Rodríguez-Tárrega et al., 2020) or it has even been proposed that ovarian reserve may decrease due to the treatment time before IVF, and also the higher rFSH units are necessary for hyperstimulation of the ovaries after GnRHa postoperative treatment. On the other hand, some studies have demonstrated significantly improved IVF outcome in women with postoperative GnRHa treatment before IVF (Sallam et al., 2006; Surrey et al., 2002). The benefit of GnRHa treatment to CPR and LBR was also shown in a group of endometriosis patients with RIF (Zhong et al., 2021). A recent meta-analysis demonstrated that for endometriosis patients with milder disease stages, long and ultra-long GnRHa protocols achieve the same clinical outcome but for patients with severe endometriosis stages, the GnRHa ultra-long protocol can improve pregnancy outcomes (Cao et al., 2020). One study has compared the effect of GnRHa and GnRH antagonist treatments on IVF success rate of endometriosis patients and revealed that regardless of the disease severity, CPR and LBR were not significantly affected by the type of GnRH analog used (Drakopoulos et al., 2018).

Some studies have also shown that treatment of infertile women planning IVF after laparoscopic surgery of ovarian endometriomas with an oral progestin dienogest resulted in improved CPR and delivery rates compared to GnRHa treatment, suggesting that dienogest may be more efficient treatment option (Muller et al., 2017) but another study showed the opposite results in patients with severe endometriosis (Tamura et al., 2019). However, it has to be mentioned that the numbers of patients participating in these studies were modest and no definitive conclusions can be drawn. Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis concluded that dienogest treatment has no advantage in improving pregnancy rates compared to other treatments, including GnRHa therapy (Liu et al., 2021).

A comprehensive systematic review and network meta-analysis was conducted to find the best treatment strategy for infertile women with laparoscopic proven endometriosis (Hodgson et al., 2020). The study included 2,245 women and the results showed that compared with placebo, only surgical laparoscopy alone or GnRHa alone were significantly associated with higher odds of clinical pregnancy. Surprisingly, the combination of laparoscopy and GnRHa treatment did not show consistent positive effect on the pregnancy rate (Hodgson et al., 2020), however, it has to be pointed out that only natural pregnancies were considered and the assisted reproduction treatments were excluded.

Limitations and strengths. As a limitation of our study, we have to mention the absence of a group with severe endometriosis without postoperative GnRHa treatment, so it was not possible to evaluate the effect of GnRHa treatment within this group. This is because of the known benefit of GnRHa treatment in severe stages on endometriosis (Pouly et al., 2007; Sallam et al., 2006). Although, it is important to underline, that all procedures were performed by a single gynecologist, which makes the results more consistent and reliable.

In conclusion, in view of all the above, it can be said that it is still unclear what would be the best treatment strategy for infertility in endometriosis. Based on our and other's results, with similar pregnancy and delivery rates in endometriosis patients with/without GnRHa treatment and followed by IVF, the GnRHa treatment seems to be not advocated for patients with less severe forms of endometriosis. However, in our opinion, the combined treatment should be recommended to the women with long history of endometriosis-associated infertility, especially in case of several previous unsuccessful IVF cycles.

6.2. The effect of PA on IVF outcome

According to our experience in clinical work, women reduce their PA during infertility treatment. The main reason for this is discomfort due to medication that may cause increase of the ovaries after hyperstimulation and fluid accumulation into abdomen after oocyte retrieval. In practice, we have noticed that the PA level is lower in women with higher BMI; however, the majority of the Study II participants had a normal BMI. The results of Study II confirmed that infertile women undergoing IVF significantly reduced their PA levels and increased sedentary

time while entering the treatment cycle. This result, as well as finding no association of PA and IVF outcome, is in accordance with the previous report by Evenson et al. (Evenson et al., 2014). Also, in a very recent study (Läänelaid et al., 2021), the PA levels of both men and women seeking for infertility treatment were measured and the results confirmed no significant associations between the time spent on PA and positive pregnancy test or LBR. However, this study also revealed that couples who became spontaneously pregnant after entering the study were physically more active than those needing ART, supporting the positive effect of PA on fertility.

As the result of this study, we would like to recommend to infertile patients to increase PA and decrease sedentary time, because our isotemporal analysis predicted two more oocytes and one more embryo to women increasing PA for 1.5 hours and decreasing sedentary time for 1.5 hours per day. If considering the 101 patients of Study II from whom approximately 1,200 oocytes were obtained, that would mean 200 more oocytes and nearly 10 more babies. The positive influence of the PA on the BMI and thereby in turn on the reproductive system is also a well-known fact (Redman 2006).

Furthermore, it has been proposed that many subfertile couples could benefit from other pre-conception lifestyle interventions implemented before fertility treatment. The use of a modeled impact of lifestyle interventions on fertility outcomes showed a reduction in the number required ART treatments per couple to achieve a successful ongoing pregnancy, accompanied with a considerable cost savings (Steegers-Theunissen et al., 2020).

Recently, even a specific lifestyle program PreLiFe, that provides online coaching on PA, diet and mindfulness based stress reduction for IVF-couples, has been developed (Boedt et al., 2021). Currently, a randomized trial is ongoing to reveal whether the PreLiFe-program effectively improves lifestyle and IVF-success rates.

Several mechanisms have been proposed how PA could affect female fertility: it may have impact on the ovarian function by regulation of estrogens and other steroid hormones production over the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian-axis (Tworoger et al., 2007); PA can influence reproductive function via possibility to regulate energy balance affecting BMI, which plays important role in IVF outcome (Redman, 2006); may have effect on the inflammation and lipid profiles (Sorensen et al., 2003) and increased expression of antioxidant enzymes throughout the body have been demonstrated with moderate PA levels (Gomez-Cabrera et al., 2008). PA may also have an effect on fertility through positive effect on the insulin sensitization, which is important in ovulation induction via better clomiphene citrate response of ovaries (Palomba et al., 2010) and by reducing the stress level and anxiety, which both influence negatively IVF outcome (Frederiksen et al., 2015). However, extremely high levels of PA could result in big weight loss owing to the relative energy deficiency due to active sporting, absence of ovulation and amenorrhea, which in turn may lead to infertility (Wise et al., 2012). Unfortunately, there is an absence of guidelines regarding the normal range of PA, which is optimal for fertility.

Limitations and strengths. The accelerometer used in the study required removal while in the water; therefore, water-related activities were not recorded. Also, despite the inclusion of a broad set of potential confounders in this study, there is always the possibility that other confounding factors not included in the analyses could influence the results. The strengths of our study are that PA and sedentary behaviour were measured objectively using accelerometry for 14 consecutive days during three critical periods. Also, we included only fresh embryo transfers, and measured PA before any infertility treatment and 4 weeks during the treatment, which enabled us to closely observe the periods of embryo implantation and early pregnancy establishment.

In conclusion, to our knowledge, this is the first study with objectively measured PA and sedentary time before, during and after IVF treatment. PA seems to affect ovarian stimulation outcomes in IVF treatment but does not affect the embryo implantation and early pregnancy establishment processes. Based on our study results, the patients receiving embryos in IVF program should continue their normal lifestyle without reducing PA levels. However, increased PA and decreased sedentary time may result in more oocytes and embryos available for IVF that may improve the cumulative pregnancy rate from all fresh and frozen ETs. Unfortunately, we could not analyse cumulative pregnancy rate as we included only fresh ET cycles and excluded FET cycles from the analysis.

6.3. The endometrial receptivity genes expression pattern is not disturbed in endometriosis patients but allows to determine the menstrual cycle phase of archived endometrial samples

We discovered that expression of 57 ER marker-genes was similar both in laparoscopically confirmed endometriosis patients and in women without endometriosis, suggesting that altered gene expression of ER determinants is probably not the main reason of endometriosis-related infertility. The issue of endometrial defects involvement in endometriosis patients' infertility has been actively disputed and no common position has been taken. Some authorities declare endometrium is a primary barrier to implantation in women with endometriosis because of inflammatory processes and altered signalling pathways associated with endometrial cells proliferation and survival (Lessey and Kim 2017). The other authors show that according to comprehensive transcriptomic data, the ER of endometriosis patients is not affected (Miravet-Valenciano et al., 2017) that is in accordance with our results.

Endometrial tissue gene expression studies are frequently performed to detect which genes may be involved in endometrium-related pathologies, e.g., endometriosis. For study purposes, endometrial samples are usually collected and classified according to the self-reported menstrual cycle day. However, due to the variation of the normal cycles' length between 24 and 35 days, it is difficult to discriminate the samples from adjacent cycle phases to determine the exact cycle phase, and to distinguish the ovulatory cycles from anovulatory cycles (Wideman et al., 2013). Many genes in endometrium are expressed under the strict control of steroid hormones which levels differ considerably during the menstrual cycle; therefore, comparing gene expression of incorrectly classified endometrial samples may cause biased results and cycle phase-specific differences will be detected instead of disease-specific alterations. It has been shown that the global transcriptional profile of the endometrial tissues is concordant with the histological evaluation enabling endometrial cycle stage prediction (Ponnampalam et al., 2004), but now we demonstrated that using expression data of only 57 ER related genes is sufficient to address the same issue and it enables to classify most of the endometrial samples according to the menstrual cycle phase. Such kind of molecular tool is beneficial to specify the precise menstrual cycle phase of already collected endometrial samples with self-reported menstrual cycle day and also of endometrial samples from uncertain cycle phases in transcriptomic studies to facilitate the discovery of true disease-related markers and avoid false-positive findings.

Strengths and limitations. The strength of the study is that we analyzed a large number of endometrial tissue samples that were collected throughout the menstrual cycle and included all phases of the cycle. However, it has to be mentioned that the approach is less sensitive for precise classification of samples collected during the transition of the menstrual cycle phases, a phenomenon that can be explained by the fact that menstrual cycle is a continuum without strict boarders between the adjacent phases (Ponnampalam et al., 2004).

In conclusion, the results of the Study III revealed that the molecular tool, consisting of a panel of 57 well-described ER genes, is useful to identify menstrual cycle phases of endometrial tissue samples from uncertain cycle phases of women with and without endometriosis. In addition, our results confirmed that ER is not disturbed in endometriosis.

6.4. Doxorubicin influences the gene expression of endometrial and endometriotic lesions stromal cells differently

To survive, implant and develop endometriotic lesions in the abdominal cavity, endometrial cells in ectopic locations must avoid cell death and have high resistance to apoptosis. Impaired apoptosis of ectopic and eutopic endometrial tissue from patients with endometriosis compared to endometrial tissue from control subjects has been shown in several studies (Imai et al., 2000; Nasu et al., 2011). The results of drug-induced apoptosis studies have demonstrated higher resistance of ectopic cells to staurosporine (Watanabe et al., 2009; Izawa et al., 2006) but there are no reports about chemicals influencing more ectopic cells. The proteasome-targeting compound bortezomib has been shown to reduce the size of endometriotic implants in rats (Celik et al., 2008), yet no studies of bortezomib in euESC from women with endometriosis have been reported; and in our study,

treatment with bortezomib had significantly greater negative effect on the viability of euESCs than ecESCs. The exact mechanisms behind these processes are still unclear and we hypothesized that finding compounds that affect more ectopic than eutopic cells may help to elucidate the role of apoptosis-associated molecules in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. However, our results showed that out of 14 tested compounds only two reduced the cellular viability of ecESCs more significantly compared to euESCs. Whereas the effect of staurosporine was concentration-dependent: 5 μ mol/l staurosporine caused greater cellular death in ecESC, 0.2 μ mol/l staurosporine was more effective in euESC. Doxorubicin was the only compound that had consistently greater impact on the viability of ectopic cells and therefore we decided to investigate further how this compound affects gene expression of ectopic and eutopic stromal cells.

Doxorubicin has antimitotic and cytotoxic activity through a number of proposed mechanisms, by: forming complexes with DNA by intercalation between base pairs, disrupting topoisomerase-II-mediated DNA repair, and generating free radicals that cause damage to cellular membranes, DNA and proteins. This compound is routinely used in the treatment of several cancers including breast, lung, gastric, ovarian, and thyroid cancers but the major limitation for the use is cardiotoxicity (Thorn et al., 2011). Doxorubicin has also been used in the treatment of endometrial cancer (Chitcholtan et al., 2012; Byron et al., 2012), which increased our interest to investigate the impact of this compound on endometrial and endometriotic cells.

The large-scale transcriptome analysis revealed sets of genes with significantly higher expression in eu- relative to ecESCs or in ec- relative to euESCs, irrespective of the treatment conditions (Padj < 0.05, log2FC of –4 or less or +4 or more). It was postulated that these sets might reflect variations in survival strategies in eutopic and ectopic endometrium, because it is likely that after 24 h of treatment of cells with 2 µmol/l doxorubicin, the isolated mRNA profile was characteristic of the population of survivors. Interestingly, we saw that the treated versus control cells yielded in excess of 10 times more significantly differentially expressed genes in the case of euESC than ecESC. This difference originates probably from the large interpatient variation of gene expression in the ecESC group, being explained by the heterogeneity of lesions originating from the different locations. All three lesions that were used for sequencing, were superficial peritoneal lesions but two of them originated from women with stage I endometriosis and were located on the *excavatio vesicouterina*, and one lesion originated from *ligamentum latum* of more severe form of endometriosis.

In euESC, among other genes, several members of the matrix metalloproteinase (*MMP*) family, precursor for the endogenous opioid peptides, preproenkephalin (*PENK*), and pleiotrophin (*PTN*) were significantly higher expressed in both control and doxorubicin-treated euESC versus ecESC. *MMPs*, *PENK* and *PTN* have previously been linked to endometriosis, showing significantly higher expression in eutopic endometrium from women with endometriosis relative to healthy controls, or lower expression in ectopic than eutopic tissue (Chung et al., 2002; Burney et al., 2007; Kobayashi et al., 2012), thus pointing to their possible role in initiating peritoneal invasion. Furthermore, PTN has been reported to promote chemoresistance to doxorubicin in several cancers, including osteosarcoma and breast cancer (Huang et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2017). Therefore, it can be suggested that the lower expression of *PTN* in untreated ectopic cells is one of the factors responsible for the higher chemosensitivity of this cell type to doxorubicin – although it should be considered that the viability of euESC was also significantly affected by doxorubicin treatment.

Another gene, Heat shock-related 70 kDa protein 2 (*HSPA2*) was also more highly expressed in eutopic than ectopic cells. *HSPA2* protects cells from the cytotoxic and growth-inhibiting effects of doxorubicin by several mechanisms, including binding misfolded or damaged proteins and enabling these proteins to acquire proper folding, and controlling the duration of cell cycle arrest (Karlseder et al., 1996). According to the qRT-PCR data, the drug treatment enhanced the expression of *HSPA2* in ecESC (average fold change 4.5), suggesting a response to the toxic effect; however, as the initial expression of *HSPA2* in untreated cells was much lower in ectopic then eutopic cells (average fold change -11.8), the expression was still less than that of the eutopic cells.

The gene encoding cyclooxygenase 2 (*PTGS2*) was also chosen for the validation taking into account its' possible role in endometriosis development (Lai et al., 2019). Endometriotic lesions have higher PTGS2 expression compared with the normal endometrium which leads to high cell proliferation, a low level of apoptosis, high invasion, angiogenesis, and infertility. PTGS2 has also been explored in the context of management of endometriosis-related pain (Cobellis et al., 2004). Furthermore, PTGS2 has been shown to protect cells against doxorubicin-induced apoptosis, albeit in the context of tissues other than endometrium (Singh et al., 2008; Puhlmann et al., 2005). The latter observation indirectly confirms the hypothesis that the mRNA profile identified for doxorubicin-treated euESC and ecESC reflects the corresponding cellular survival strategies. The fact that the viability of ecESC was severely affected by doxorubicin treatment indicates that the major chemoresistance-ensuring molecules that contribute to the survival of ectopic cells under DNA damage and ROS-triggered conditions of stress might be less efficient than those in eutopic tissue.

Strengths and limitations. The strengths of the study are that we used a large panel of 14 compounds to find compounds that preferentially affect ectopic cells and utlized a large-scale mRNA sequencing to reveal all potential genes responsible for the pronounced effect of doxorubicine in ectopic cells. This study has also some limitations: first, only stromal cells were studied; however, endometrium contains also other cell types, e.g. epithelial cells that may be involved in unique patterns of signalling and cellular interactions. Second, as only ESCs isolated from superficial peritoneal lesions were investigated, the observed results may not necessarily reflect the effects of toxins in other types of lesions, i.e. endometriomas and deep infiltrating lesions.

In conclusion, mRNA sequencing results confirmed differential gene expression between euESCs and ecESCs and highlighted the genes that may be responsible for the altered characteristics of the endometrial cells in ectopic locations.

7. CONCLUSIONS

Based on the results of the current thesis, following conclusions can be made:

- 1. Combined treatment approach may be used for endometriosis-associated infertility. Individual approach is needed for every infertile woman. Pregnancy and delivery rates at different stages of endometriosis were not affected by the different approaches used for infertility treatment, with >60% and >50% of patients conceived and delivered a baby, respectively, in both groups of minimal-to-mild and moderate-to-severe forms of endometriosis. The use-fulness of GnRHa treatment for endometriosis patients with minimal-to-mild forms is questionable and deserves further studies.
- 2. PA and sedentary levels did not influence embryo implantation in IVF; however, physically more active women obtained higher number of oocytes and embryos after COS. Based on our study results, the patients receiving embryos in IVF program should continue their normal lifestyle without reducing PA levels.
- 3. ER genes' expression is not affected in women with endometriosis. However, the expression levels of the well-known ER genes enable to determine the endometrial biopsy collection time throughout the menstrual cycle.
- 4. Endometrial cells in distinct locations, i.e., eutopic and ectopic locations, react differently to the treatment with cytotoxic compounds, a phenomenon that may be related to the altered expression of several genes involved in endometriosis pathogenesis.

In conclusion, the results of these studies have broadened our knowledge of how endometriosis and PA affect the effectiveness of infertility treatment. In addition, our basic scientific findings confirmed differences in gene expression between the endometrium and endometriotic lesions and could help refine future endometriosis research.

8. PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

- 1. Both the severity of endometriosis and previous infertility should be considered when planning infertility treatment. Patients with suspected endometriosis and with several previous unsuccessful IVF attempts should undergo combined treatment of endometriosis.
- 2. Patients undergoing infertility treatment should also be counselled on lifestyle factors during treatment. Women should be advised to continue their normal active lifestyle or at least not to reduce their physical activity.
- 3. As the menstrual cycle significantly affects the expression of endometrial genes, this should definitely be taken into account in endometrial molecular studies. When using archived endometrial biopsies for research, it should first be determined at what phase they have been collected. Based on our studies, for example, an endometrial receptivity test with a limited number of genes can be used for this purpose.
- 4. Further research is needed to investigate the molecular mechanisms of endometriosis. To find new target genes, a comparison of endometrial and endometriotic lesions' gene expression has already been exhausted without providing the results usable in practice and new directions are urgently needed. One possible strategy is to treat the endometrial cells from different locations with different chemical compounds to find altered key pathways and bring us closer to the molecular causes of this disease.

9. SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Endometrioosi ja kehalise aktiivsuse mõju naiste viljakusele

Tänapäeval lükatakse laste saamist edasi, kuna soovitakse esmalt teha karjääri, saavutada majanduslik kindlustatus ja leida sobiv elukaaslane. Paraku on naise kõige viljakamad eluaastad kahekümnendate esimene pool ja 35.–39. eluaastaks langeb naise viljakus juba pea kolmandiku võrra. Naise vanuse tõustes väheneb nii munarakkude arv kui nende kvaliteet, mis mõlemad suurendavad riski viljatuse tekkeks. Viljakust mõjutavad negatiivselt ka eluviisi tegurid, nagu ebatervislik toitumine, söömishäired, stress, suitsetamine, alkoholi liigtarvitamine, vähenenud kehaline aktiivsus ja suurenev keskkonnareostus. Lisaks vanusest tingitud viljakuse langusele on naisepoolse viljatuse sagedasemateks põhjusteks ovulatsioonihäired, endometrioos, munajuhade ja emakaga seotud haigused ning hüperprolaktineemia. Viljatust võivad põhjustada ka kromosoomimuutused ja immunoloogilised probleemid.

Üheks sagedaseks naisepoolse viljatuse põhjuseks on endometrioos, krooniline günekoloogiline haigus, mis mõjutab negatiivselt nii naiste tervist kui ka üleüldist elukvaliteeti. Endometrioosi korral migreeruvad emaka limaskesta sarnased rakud kõhuõõnde, kinnituvad seal ja hakkavad kolletena kasvama. Kõige sagedamini leiduvad endometrioosi kolded väikese vaagna sidekoel, kõhukelmel, munasarjadel, aga ka sooltel, emakakaelal, emaka lihaskihis, kusepõiel või operatsiooniarmides. Endometrioosi esineb umbes 10% viljakas eas naistel ja kuni 50% viljatutel naistel. Kuidas täpselt endometrioos viljatust põhjustab ei ole teada, aga arvatakse, et rolli võivad mängida nii munarakkude halvenenud kvaliteet kui ka häirunud endomeetriumi retseptiivsus. Endometrioosiga seotud viljatuse ravi on keeruline ja koosneb peamiselt kirurgilisest ravist, hormonaalsest ravist või nende kombinatsioonist ning sageli on vajalik kasutada ka in vitro viljastamise (IVF) protseduuri. Kuna endometrioos on väga mitmekesise haiguspildiga, ei ole ka kõigile patsientidele sobivat universaalset raviskeemi ja seetõttu on vajalikud edasised uuringud parimate ravivõimaluste leidmiseks. Uute endometrioosi diagnoosimise- ja ravivõimaluste leidmist takistavad ka ebapiisavad teadmised selle haiguse patogeneesi molekulaarsetest mehhanismidest.

Viljatuse ravi edukus IVF abil oleneb nii viljatuse põhjusest, partnerite vanusest, sugurakkude ja embrüote kvaliteedist, endomeetriumi retseptiivsusest kui ka valitud raviskeemi sobivusest. Endomeetriumi retseptiivsus on oluline aspekt rasestumisel ja sellega seotud geenide ekspressiooni uurimine on märkimisväärse tähtsusega. Samuti ei tohi alahinnata elustiili mõju ravi edukusele ja patsiente tuleb nõustada nii raviaegse toitumise, suitsetamise, ravimite tarbimise kui ka füüsilise aktiivsuse mõjude suhtes. Viimase faktori suhtes ei ole üheseid seisukohti, on nii soovitusi füüsilist aktiivsust vähendada kui ka jätkata normaalset aktiivset elustiili. Objektiivsete soovituste andmiseks on väga oluline teostada uuringuid kasutades näiteks otsest füüsilise aktiivsuse mõõtmist aktseleromeetriga ja mitte tugineda ainult inimeste ütlusepõhistele andmetele.

Uuringu eesmärk

Antud doktoritöö põhieesmärk oli välja selgitada endometrioosi erinevate raviskeemide ja füüsilise aktiivsuse mõju IVF ravi edukusele viljatusravi läbivatel patsientidel ning hinnata endomeetriumi retseptiivsust ja molekulaarsete muutuste ulatust endometrioosi korral.

Uuringu alameesmärgid on:

- 1. Analüüsida kombineeritud ravi (laparoskoopia, GnRHa ja IVF) tõhusust endometrioosiga seotud viljatuse ravis erineva raskusastmega haiguse korral.
- 2. Hinnata objektiivselt mõõdetud füüsilise aktiivsuse mõju IVF ravi tulemustele.
- 3. Hinnata, kas endometrioosi korral on endomeetriumi retseptiivsuse geenide ekspressioonimuster muutunud ja kasutada sama geenipaneeli endomeetriumi koeproovide menstruaaltsükli faasi täpsustamiseks.
- 4. Selgitada välja endometrioosi kolletes toimunud molekulaarseid muutusi, kasutades selleks tsütotoksiliste ühendite tundlikkuse testimist.

Materjal ja metoodika

Uuringud on kooskõlastanud Tartu Ülikooli inimuuringute eetika komitee (kooskõlastused 191T-8, 227/T-7 ja 276/M-13) ja uuringusse värvatud naised allkirjastasid informeeritud nõusoleku vormi.

Uuringus osalenud patsiendid

Retrospektiivses uuringus I osales 179 Elite kliinikus kirurgiliselt ja histoloogiliselt kinnitatud endometrioosi diagnoosiga patsienti. Tuginedes Ameerika Reproduktiivmeditsiini klassifikatsioonile (1996) jaotati patsiendid sõltuvalt endometrioosi raskusastmest gruppidesse. Uuringus I jaotusid patsiendid: grupp 1 – minimaalnekerge, I–II astme endometrioos – 121 patsienti ja grupp 2 – mõõdukas-raske, III– IV astme endometrioos – 58 patsienti. Grupp 1 ja grupp 2 patsiendid jaotati omakorda vastavalt GnRHa ravi järgi, kas GnRHa ravi toimus või mitte. Grupp 2-s olid kõik patsiendid saanud GnRHa ravi. Ravi järgselt sai patsient vastavalt operatsiooni leiule, varasemale anamneesile ja seemnerakkude analüüsi tulemusele soovituse rasestumiseks spontaanselt või IVF teel. Uuringus osalenud patsiente jälgiti kuni sünnituseni.

Uuringus II osales 101 reproduktiivses eas viljatuse diagnoosiga naist, kes läbisid IVF viljatusravi protseduuri Elite kliinikus või Tartu Ülikooli Kliinikumi (TÜK) naistekliinikus. Embrüo siirdamine toimus teisel kuni viiendal päeval. Rasedust diagnoositi inimese koorioni gonadotropiini (hCG) analüüsi abil 14±2 päeva peale siirdamist. Positiivse hCG tulemuse korral kontrolliti kliinilise raseduse olemasolu ultraheli abil 4–5 nädalat peale munarakkude punktsiooni. Füüsilist aktiivsust mõõdeti ActiGraph GT2X+ aktseleromeetri ehk väikese vööl kantava seadeldise abil, mis registreerib kandja kõik liikumisintensiivsused. Mõõtmisi teostati kolmel korral 14 järjestikuse päeva jooksul – enne kehavälist viljastamist, selle ajal ja juhul kui naine rasestus, siis ka kaks nädalat peale rasestumist. Analüüsis kasutati nende naiste andmeid, kes kandsid aktseleromeetrit vähemalt 10 tundi päevas neli või rohkem päeva (N=98). Naistel paluti täita ka küsimustik n.ö. ekraaniaja kohta (televisioon, DVD, arvuti kasutamine) viimase viie tööpäeva kohta ja eraldi nädalavahetuse kohta.

Uuringus III osales 45 endometrioosiga ja 33 endometrioosita ning uuringus IV 11 endometrioosiga patsienti, kes värvati TÜK naistekliinikus endometrioosi kahtluse või viljatuse tõttu laparoskoopilisele operatsioonile suunatud naiste hulgast.

Uuringus III osales 25 I–II astme ja 20 III–IV astme endometrioosiga naist. Uuringus IV osales 7 I astme ja 4 III astme endometrioosiga patsienti. Kõik uuringus osalenud naised olid reproduktiivses eas (vanus 18–42 aastat) ja polnud vähemalt kolm kuud enne operatsiooni saanud hormoonravi. Kõikidelt värvatud patsientidelt uuringutes III ja IV koguti operatsiooni käigus Pipelle kogumiskateetrit kasutades endomeetriumi biopsia ja endometrioosiga patsientidelt koguti lisaks operatsiooni käigus eemaldatud kolded (uuring IV).

In vitro rakukultuuri katsed (uuring IV)

Strooma rakud eraldati endomeetriumi ja endometrioosi kollete biopsiamaterjalist ja kultiveeriti 5–6 passaaži DMEM/Ham's F-12 söötmes koos 10% FBS, penitsilliini, streptomütsiini ja amfoteritsiin B-ga inkubaatoris 37 °C juures 5% CO2 tingimustes. Nii endomeetriumist kui endometrioosi kolletest eraldatud kultiveeritud strooma rakkudele lisati 14 erinevat tsütotoksilist ühendit (uuring IV, Tabel 1 vastavas publikatsioonis) ja teostati nekroosi/apoptoosi ja rakkude elulemuse määramise katsed.

RNA eraldamine ja geeniekspressiooni määramine (uuringud III ja IV)

Totaalne RNA eraldati endomeetriumi koest ja kultiveeritud strooma rakkudest kasutades kommertsiaalset komplekti RNeasy Mini kit. DNase I töötlus viidi läbi kasutades komplekti DNA-free DNA removal kit. Eraldatud RNA kontsentratsioon ja puhtus mõõdeti 2200 TapeStation süsteemiga. Kvantitatiivne reaal-aja PCR viidi läbi kasutades 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System aparatuuri.

Endomeetriumi ja endometrioosi kollete kultiveeritud rakkude kogu transkriptoomi sekveneerimiseks loodi raamatukogud kasutades Nextera XT Library Prep komplekti (uuring IV) ja endomeetriumi retseptiivsust näitavate geenide tasemete tuvastamine viidi läbi kasutades TAC-seq tehnoloogiat (uuring III). Sekveneerimise tulemusel saadud lugemid analüüsiti Priit Paluoja, MSc (Tartu Ülikool, arvutiteaduse instituut) või Alvin Meltsov, MSc (Tartu Ülikool, Molekulaar- ja rakubioloogia instituut) poolt.

Tulemused

Antud doktoritöö raames tehtud uuringute tulemused võib kokku võtta järgnevalt:

- Retrospektiivse uuringu tulemused näitasid, et mõõduka-raske astme endometrioosiga patsiendid (grupp II) on saanud rohkem postoperatiivset GnRHa ravi (p=0,021) kui kergema astme endometrioosiga patsiendid (grupp I) ja üle 75% nendest patsientidest läbisid IVF ravi. Kõikidest uuritavatest rasestus kokku 119 naist (66.5%), kellest 33 (18.4%) rasestus spontaanselt ja 86 (48.0%) IVF abil. Kuigi kergema endometrioosi raskusastmega patsiendid rasestusid sagedamini spontaanselt ja raskema endometrioosi raskusastmega patsiendid rasestusid sagedamini IVF abil, siis vastavad erinevused ei olnud statistiliselt olulised. Samas saadi kergema astme endometrioosiga naistelt rohkem munarakke IVF tsüklis, võrreldes raskema astme haigusega naistega (p=0,008). Üldine rasestumise, sünnitamise ja raseduste katkemiste protsent ei erinenud oluliselt ei grupi I siseselt sõltuvalt GnRHa ravi saamisest ega ka gruppide vahel.
- 2. Füüsilise aktiivsuse ja viljatusravi tulemuslikkuse uuringust selgus, et naised vähendavad oluliselt oma füüsilist aktiivsust kehavälise viljastamise ajal. Samas leidsime, et füüsilise aktiivsuse määr ei olnud seotud rasestumisega edukusega. Küll aga õnnestus füüsiliselt aktiivsematel naistel munasarjade stimulatsiooni järgselt saada rohkem munarakke (+2) ja embrüoid (+1) võrreldes nendega, kes vähendasid viljatusravi ajal oma füüsilist aktiivsust.
- 3. Endomeetriumi retseptiivsuse geenide avaldumise uuringust selgus, et nende geenide ekspressioon on endometrioosiga ja endometrioosita naistel sarnane ja kõige enam mõjutatud naise menstruaaltsükli faasist endomeetriumi koe kogumise ajal. Koeproovid jaotusid retseptiivsuse geenide avaldumise taseme järgi üsna selgelt menstruaaltsükli spetsiifilistesse gruppidesse (menstruaalfaas, proliferatiivne, vara-, kesk- ja hilissekretoorne). Vara- ja kesksekretoorsed proovid ei eristunud omavahel selgelt, sest nende faaside üleminek sõltub menstruaaltsükli kestvusest ja ütlusepõhise menstruaaltsükli päeva järgi ei ole võimalik seda väga täpselt määrata. Samal põhjusel klasterdusid mitmed hilissekretoorse faasi proovidega. Masinõppe tugivektorklassifitseerija mudeli abil, mis oli treenitud eristama vara- ja kesksekretoorseid endomeetriumi proove, oli võimalik eristada ka nende kahe kõrvutise faasi endomeetriumi biopsiaid.
- 4. Tsütotoksilised ühendid mõjutavad endomeetriumi stroomarakkude elulemust oluliselt rohkem võrreldes endometrioosikolde rakkudega. Neljateistkümnest kasutatud ühendist ainult üks, doksorubitsiin vähendas kolde stroomarakkude elulemust oluliselt tugevamalt võrreldes endomeetriumi rakkudega. Doksorubitsiiniga töötlemine mõjutas erinevalt ka endomeetriumi ja endometrioosikollete stroomarakkude geeniekspressiooni, nii et endomeetriumi rakkudes oli võrreldes koldega toimunud tunduvalt rohkem geenide avaldumise muutusi

(vastavalt 4009 ja 249). Doksorubitsiini mõjul toimus mitmete geenide ekspressiooni vähenemine (näiteks *DKK1*, *HAS2*) nii endomeetriumi kui kolde rakkudes, aga näiteks *HIST1H2AE*, *HIST1H2BK* ja *HIST2H2AA4* ekspressioon tõusis doksorubitsiini mõjul endomeetriumi rakkudes, samas kui kolderakkudes nende geenide avaldumine ei muutunud. Kolme geeni korral (*PTN*, *HSPA2* ja *PTGS2*) kinnitati geeniekspressiooni muutused reaal-aja PCR meetodil.

Järeldused

- 1. Erineva raskusastme endometrioosiga naiste viljatusravis kasutatud strateegia, kas ainult laparoskoopiline kollete eemaldamine või laparoskoopia kombineeritult GnRHa raviga, ei mõjutanud oluliselt rasestumise ja sünnituseni jõudmise määra loomuliku ja IVF rasestumise korral. Viie aasta jooksul rasestus mõlemas grupis enam kui 60% naistest ja sünnitas lapse enam kui 50% naistest.
- 2. Viljatusravi läbivate naiste üldine kehaline aktiivsus IVF ravi ajal mõjutab positiivselt munasarja stimulatsiooni tulemusi, aga ei mõjuta embrüo implantatsiooni ega rasestumise tõenäosust. Seega võib soovitada IVF ravi läbivatel naistel ravi ajal füüsilist aktiivsust mitte vähendada, vaid jätkata oma tavapärase aktiivse eluviisiga.
- Endomeetriumi retseptiivsusega seotud geenide ekspressioon ei erine endometrioosiga ja endometrioosita naistel. Samade geenide ekspressiooniprofiil võimaldab määrata varem kogutud endomeetriumi biopsiate menstruaaltsükli faasi. Antud tulemus on väga oluline arhiveeritud endomeetriumi proovide kasutamisel teadustöös.
- 4. Endomeetriumi rakud on tsütotoksilistele ühenditele palju tundlikumad kui endometrioosi kolde rakud. Kogu transkriptoomi sekveneerimise tulemused kinnitasid erinevat geeniekspressiooni endomeetriumi ja peritoneaalsete endometrioosi kollete rakkude vahel ja tõi esile geenid, mis võivad olla vastutavad endomeetriumi rakkude muutunud omaduste eest emakavälistes kolletes. Kolderakkude suurem tundlikkus doksorubitsiini suhtes tuleneb ilmselt teatud geenide juba algselt madalamast avaldumistasemest, mis vähendab resistentsust doksorubitsiinile.

Kokkuvõtteks võib öelda, et meie uuringute tulemustel on oluline kliiniline väljund, sest need aitavad otsustada endometrioosiga naistele sobiva viljatusravi strateegiate valimisel ja võimaldavad anda teaduspõhiseid elustiili soovitusi viljatusravi läbivatele naistele. Meie tulemused viivad sammu lähemale ka endometrioosiga seotud teaduslike probleemide lahendamisele, samas tuleb tõdeda, et selles vallas on vaja teha veel palju edasist uurimistööd, enne kui neid teadmisi saab rakendada patsientide heaolu suurendamiseks ja ravitulemuste parandamiseks.

Praktilised soovitused

- 1. Viljatusravi planeerides peab arvesse võtma nii endometrioosi raskusastet kui eelnevat viljatusravi anamneesi. Antud töö tulemusena saame väita, et endometrioosi kahtluse ja mitmete ebaõnnestunud IVF protseduuridega patsiendid peaksid kaaluma endometrioosi kombineeritud ravi.
- 2. Viljatusravi läbivaid patsiente on vajalik nõustada elustiili tegurite võimalikust mõjust viljatusravi tulemustele. Naistele tuleks soovitada jätkata nende tavapärast aktiivset elustiili või vähemalt mitte vähendada oma füüsilist aktiivsust.
- 3. Endomeetriumi molekulaarsetes uuringutes peab arvestama menstruaaltsükli faaside mõjuga endomeetriumi geenide ekspressioonile. Seega, kui kasutada uuringutes varem kogutud endomeetriumi biopsiaid, peaks kõigepealt kindlaks tegema, millises menstruaaltsükli faasis need on kogutud. Meie uuring näitas, et selleks sobib näiteks endomeetriumi retseptiivsuse test.
- 4. Endometrioosi molekulaarsete mehhanismide väljaselgitamine vajab jätkuvat uurimist. Märklaudgeenide leidmiseks kasutatud endomeetriumi ja endometrioosi kollete geeniekspressiooni võrdluskatsed on ennast ammendanud andmata igapäevases töös praktiliselt kasutatavaid tulemusi. Seega oleks väga vaja uusi uurimissuundi. Ühe võimaliku strateegiana võib pakkuda endomeetriumi ja kolde rakkude mõjutamist erinevate keemiliste ühenditega, mis võimaldaks tuvastada endometrioosi tekkes osalevaid uusi faktoreid ja aitaks paremini mõista selle haiguse molekulaarseid põhjusi.

REFERENCES

- Abbott J. Surgical treatment is an excellent option for women with endometriosis and infertility. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 2017;57:679–681.
- Abdolmohammadi-Vahid S, Danaii S, Hamdi K, Jadidi-Niaragh F, Ahmadi M, Yousefi M. Novel immunotherapeutic approaches for treatment of infertility. *Biomed Pharma-cother*. 2016;84:1449–1459.
- Adamson GD, Pasta DJ. Endometriosis fertility index: The new, validated endometriosis staging system. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2010;94:1609–1615.
- Alkatout I, Mettler L, Beteta C, Hedderich J, Jonat W, Thoralf Schollmeyer AS. Combined Surgical and Hormone Therapy for Endometriosis is the Most Effective Treatment: Prospective, Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology*. 2013;20:473–481.
- Al-Nasiry S, Ambrosino E, Schlaepfer M, Morré SA, Wieten L, Voncken JW, Spinelli M, Mueller M, Kramer BW. The Interplay Between Reproductive Tract Microbiota and Immunological System in Human Reproduction. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 2020; 11:378.
- Altmäe S, Koel M, Võsa U, Adler P, Suhorutšenko M, Laisk-Podar T, Kukushkina V, Saare M, Velthut-Meikas A, Krjutškov K, Aghajanova L, Lalitkumar PG, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Giudice L, Simón C, Salumets A. Meta-signature of human endometrial receptivity: A meta-analysis and validation study of transcriptomic biomarkers. *Scientific Reports*. 2017;7:1–15.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Gynecologic Practice and Practice Committee. Female age-related fertility decline. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2014;101:633–634.
- Angioni S, Cela V, Sedda F, Stochino Loi E, Cofelice V, Pontis A, Melis GB. Focusing on surgery results in infertile patients with deep endometriosis. *Gynecological Endo*crinology. 2015;31:595–598.
- Apostolopoulos NV, Alexandraki KI, Gorry A., Coker A. Association between chronic pelvic pain symptoms and the presence of endometriosis. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*. 2016;293:439–445.
- Arita A, Costa M. Epigenetics in metal carcinogenesis: Nickel, arsenic, chromium and cadmium. *Metallomics*. 2009;1:222–228.
- ART Surveillance and Research Team. Assisted Reproductive Technology 2010. *Fertility Clinic Success Rates Report.* 2010.
- Azem F, Many A, Yovel I, Amit A, Lessing JB, Kupferminc MJ. Increased rates of thrombophilia in women with repeated IVF failures. *Human Reproduction*. 2004; 19:368–370.
- Baird DT, Collins J, Egozcue J, Evers LH, Gianaroli L, Leridon H, Sunde A, Templeton A, Van Steirteghem A, Cohen J, Crosignani PG, Devroey P, Diedrich K, Fauser BC JM, Fraser L, Glasier A, Liebaers I, Mautone G, Penney G, Tarlatzis B. Fertility and ageing. *Human Reproduction Update*. 2005;11:261–276.
- Balasch J, Gratacós E. Delayed childbearing: Effects on fertility and the outcome of pregnancy. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2012;29:187–193.
- Barbieri RL. The endocrinology of the menstrual cycle. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2014; 1154:145–169.

- Bashiri A, Halper KI, Orvieto R. Recurrent Implantation Failure-update overview on etiology, diagnosis, treatment and future directions. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*. 2018;16:1–18.
- Bassil R, Casper R, Samara N, Hsieh TB, Barzilay E, Orvieto R, Haas J. Does the endometrial receptivity array really provide personalized embryo transfer? *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*. 2018;35:1301–1305.
- BBC News. 1978: "First 'test tube baby' born."
- Becker CM, Bokor A, Heikinheimo O, Horne A, Jansen F, Kiesel L, King K, Kvaskoff M, Nap A, Petersen K, Saridogan E, Tomassetti C. The members of the Endometriosis Guideline Core Group. ESHRE guideline: endometriosis. *Human Reproduction Open*. 2022;2:1–26.
- Bellver J, Melo MA B, Bosch E, Serra V, Remohí J, Pellicer A. Obesity and poor reproductive outcome: the potential role of the endometrium. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2007;88:446–451.
- Berker B, Taşkin S, Taşkin EA. Absence of endometrium as a cause of primary amenorrhea. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2008;89:723.E1-723.E3.
- Bhattacharya S, Maheshwari A, Mollison J. Factors associated with failed treatment: An analysis of 121,744 women embarking on their first IVF Cycles. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8:1–13.
- Bishop LA, Gunn J, Jahandideh S, Devine K, Decherney AH, Hill MJ. Endometriosis does not impact live-birth rates in frozen embryo transfers of euploid blastocysts. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2020;115:416–422.
- Boedt T, Matthys C, Lie Fong S, De Neubourg D, Vereeck S, Seghers J, Van der Gucht K, Weyn B, Geerts D, Spiessens C, Dancet EA F. Systematic development of a mobile preconception lifestyle programme for couples undergoing IVF: the PreLiFeprogramme. *Human Reproduction*. 2021;36:2493–2505.
- Bontekoe S, Heineman MJ, Johnson N, Blake D. Adherence compounds in embryo transfer media for assisted reproductive technologies. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2014;2014:1–99.
- Bosma-Bleeker MH, Blaauw E. Substance use disorders and sexual behavior; the effects of alcohol and drugs on patients' sexual thoughts, feelings and behavior. *Addictive Behaviors*. 2018;87:231–237.
- Brawn J, Morotti M, Zondervan KT, Becker CM, Vincent K. Central changes associated with chronic pelvic pain and endometriosis. *Human Reproduction Update*. 2014; 20:737–747.
- Bulletin AP. Medical management of endometriosis. *Int J Obstet Gynecol*. 2000;71:183–196.
- Bulletti C, Coccia ME, Battistoni S, Borini A. Endometriosis and infertility. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*. 2010;27:441–447.
- Bulun SE, Yilmaz BD, Sison C, Miyazaki K, Bernardi L, Liu S, Kohlmeier A, Yin P, Milad M, Wei JJ. Endometriosis. *Endocrine Reviews*. 2019;40:1048–1079.
- Byron SA, Loch DC, Pollock PM. Fibroblast growth factor receptor inhibition synergizes with Paclitaxel and Doxorubicin in endometrial cancer cells. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2012;22:1517–1526.
- Calhaz–Jorge C, De Geyter C, Kupka MS, De Mouzon J, Erb K, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Wyns C, Goossens V, Gliozheni O, Strohmer H, Petrovskaya E, Tishkevich O, Bogaerts K, Antonova I, Ljiljak D, Pelekanos M, Rezabek K, Baranowski R. Assisted reproductive technology in Europe, 2013: Results generated from European registers by ESHRE. *Human Reproduction*. 2017;32:1957–1973.

- Canis M, Donnez JG, Guzick DS, Halme JK, Rock JA, Schenken RS, Vernon MW. Revised American Society for Reproductive Medicine classification of endometriosis: 1996. *Fertility and Sterility*. 1997;67:817–821.
- Cao X, Chang HY, Xu JY, Zheng Y, Xiang YG, Xiao B, Geng XJ, Ni LL, Chu XY, Tao SB, He Y, Mao GH. The effectiveness of different down-regulating protocols on in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer in endometriosis: a meta-analysis. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*. 2020;18:1–12.
- Celik O, Hascalik S, Elter K, Tagluk ME, Gurates B, Aydin NE. Combating endometriosis by blocking proteasome and nuclear factor-kappaB pathways. *Hum Reprod*. 2008;23:2458–2465.
- Cesana MC, Ferrari L, Passoni P, Polizzi S, Brunetti F, Milani R. Reproductive prognosis in women with endometriosis after conservative surgery: A single-center experience. *Minerva Ginecologica*. 2017;69:322–327.
- Charkamyani F, Hosseinkhani A, Samani NL, Khedmat L. Reducing the Adverse Maternal and Fetal Outcomes in IVF Women by Exercise Interventions During Pregnancy. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*. 2019;90:589–599.
- Chauffour C, Pouly JL, Brugnon F, Dejou L, Gremeau AS, Janny L, Philippe AG. Effect of endometriosis on IVF outcomes in cases of single embryo transfer for first IVF attempt in patients under 35. *Journal of Endometriosis*. 2016;8:13–18.
- Chavarro JE, Rich-Edwards JW, Rosner BA, Willett WC. Diet and lifestyle in the prevention of ovulatory disorder infertility. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2007;110: 1050–1058.
- Chen LC, Hsu JW, Huang KL, Bai YM, Su TP, Li CT, Yang AC, Chang WH, Chen TJ, Tsai SJ, Chen MH. Risk of developing major depression and anxiety disorders among women with endometriosis: A longitudinal follow-up study. *Journal of Affective Dis*orders. 2016;190:282–285.
- Chung HW, Wen Y, Choi EA, Hao-Li, Moon HS, Han-Ki Y, Polan ML. Pleiotrophin (PTN) and midkine (MK) mRNA expression in eutopic and ectopic endometrium in advanced stage endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod*. 2002;8:350–355.
- Cobellis L, Razzi S, De Simone S, Sartini A, Fava A, Danero A, Gioffrè W, Mazzini M, Petraglia F. The treatment with a COX-2 specific inhibitor is effective in the management of pain related to endometriosis. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*. 2004;116: 100–102.
- Coccia ME, Rizzello F, Mariani G, Bulletti C, Palagiano A, Scarselli G. Impact of endometriosis on in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer cycles in young women: A stage-dependent interference. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2011; 90:1232–1238.
- Cole DC, Wainman B, Sanin LH, Weber JP, Muggah H, Ibrahim S. Environmental contaminant levels and fecundability among non-smoking couples. *Reproductive Toxicology*. 2006;22:13–19.
- Coppus SF PJ, Land JA, Opmeer BC, Steures P, Eijkemans MJ C, Hompes PG A, Bossuyt PM M, Van Der Veen F, Mol B WJ, Van Der Steeg JW. Chlamydia trachomatis IgG seropositivity is associated with lower natural conception rates in ovulatory subfertile women without visible tubal pathology. *Human Reproduction*. 2011;26:3061–3067.
- Cozzolino M, Diaz-Gimeno P, Pellicer A, Garrido N. Evaluation of the endometrial receptivity assay and the preimplantation genetic test for an euploidy in overcoming recurrent implantation failure. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*. 2020; 37:2989–2997.

- Cozzolino M, Troiano G, Esencan E. Bed rest after an embryo transfer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*. 2019;300:1121–1130.
- Critchley HO, Jones RL, Lea RG, Drudy TA, Kelly RW, Williams AR, Baird DT. Role of inflammatory mediators in human endometrium during progesterone withdrawal and early pregnancy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1999;84:240–248.
- Critchley HO D, Maybin JA, Armstrong GM, Williams AR W. Physiology of the Endometrium and Regulation of Menstruation. *Physiol Rev.* 2020;100:1149–1179.
- Csapo AI, Pulkkinen MO, Wiest WG. Effects of luteectomy and progesterone replacement therapy in early pregnant patients. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1973;115:759–765.
- Da Broi MG, Meola J, Plaça JR, Peronni KC, Rocha CV, Silva WA, Ferriani RA, Navarro PA. Is the profile of transcripts altered in the eutopic endometrium of infertile women with endometriosis during the implantation window? *Human Reproduction*. 2019;34: 2381–2390.
- Da Broi MG, Navarro PA. Oxidative stress and oocyte quality: Ethiopathogenic mechanisms of minimal/mild endometriosis-related infertility. *Cell Tissue Res. 2016*;364:1–7.
- Dağ ZÖ and Dilbaz B. Impact of obesity on infertility in women. *Journal of the Turkish German Gynecology Association*. 2015;16:111–117.
- Dan S, Wei W, Yichao S, Hongbo C, Shenmin Y, Jiaxiong W, Hong L. Effect of Prednisolone Administration on Patients with Unexplained Recurrent Miscarriage and in Routine Intracytoplasmic Sperm Injection: A Meta-Analysis. *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*. 2015;74:89–97.
- Datta J, Palmer MJ, Tanton C, Gibson LJ, Jones KG, Macdowall W, Glasier A, Sonnenberg P, Field N, Mercer CH, Johnson AM, Wellings K. Prevalence of infertilityand help seeking among 15 000 women and men. *Human Reproduction*. 2016;31:2108– 2118.
- Davis AC, Goldberg JM. Extrapelvic Endometriosis. *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine*. 2017;35:98–101.
- De Angelis C, Nardone A, Garifalos F, Pivonello C, Sansone A, Conforti A, Di Dato C, Sirico F, Alviggi C, Isidori A, Colao A, Pivonello R. Smoke, alcohol and drug addiction and female fertility. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*. 2020;18:1–26.
- de Jong, AM E, Menkveld R, Lens JW, Nienhuis SE, Rhemrev JP T. Effect of alcohol intake and cigarette smoking on sperm parameters and pregnancy. *Andrologia*. 2014; 46:112–117.
- De Sutter P, Stadhouders R, Dutré M, Gerris J, Dhont M. Prevalence of chromosomal abnormalities and timing of karyotype analysis in patients with recurrent implantation failure (RIF) following assisted reproduction. *Facts, Views and Vision in ObGyn.* 2012;4:59–65.
- Dean SV, Lassi ZS, Imam AM, Bhutta ZA. Preconception care: Nutritional risks and interventions. *Reproductive Health*. 2014;11:1–15.
- Deroux A, Dumestre-Perard C, Dunand-Faure C, Bouillet L, Hoffmann P. Female Infertility and Serum Auto-antibodies: a Systematic Review. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* 2017;53:78–86.
- Dicker D, Ashkenazi J, Dekel A, Orvieto R, Feldberg D, Yeshaya A, Ben-Rafael Z. The value of hysteroscopic evaluation in patients with preclinical in-vitro fertilization abortions. *Human Reproduction*. 1996;11:730–731.
- Domar AD. Stress and infertility in women: Is there a relationship? *Psychother Prac.* 1996;2:17–27.

- Dorrington JH. Effects of FSH on gonadal functions. *Recent Prog Horm Res.* 1979; 35:301–342.
- Drakopoulos P, Rosetti J, Pluchino N, Blockeel C, Santos-Ribeiro S, de Brucker M, Drakakis P, Camus M, Tournaye H, Polyzos NP. Does the type of GnRH analogue used, affect live birth rates in women with endometriosis undergoing IVF/ICSI treatment, according to the rAFS stage? *Gynecological Endocrinology*. 2018;34:884–889.
- Edson Borges Jr, Braga Daniela PA F, Setti AS, Vingris LS, Figueira RC S, Assumpto Iaconelli Jr. Endometriosis Affects Oocyte Morphology in Intracytoplasmic Sperm Injection Cycles. *JBRA Assisted Reproduction*. 2015;19:235–240.
- Edwards TM, Myers JP. Environmental exposures and gene regulation in disease etiology. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 2007;115:1264–1270.
- Elizur SE, Lerner-Geva L, Levron J, Shulman A, Bider D, Dor J. Factors predicting IVF treatment outcome: A multivariate analysis of 5310 cycles. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2005;10:645–649.
- Emanuele MA, Wezeman F, Emanuele NV. Alcohol's effects on female reproductive function. *Alcohol Research and Health*. 2002;26:274–281.
- Enciso M, Carrascosa JP, Sarasa J, Martínez-Ortiz PA, Munné S, Horcajadas JA, Aizpurua J. Development of a new comprehensive and reliable endometrial receptivity map (ER Map/ER Grade) based on RT-qPCR gene expression analysis. *Human Reproduction.* 2018;33:220–228.
- ESHRE. *Eshre fact sheet*. 2016.
- ESHRE Endometriosis Guideline Development Group. *ESHRE Guideline Endometriosis*. 2020.
- Eskenazi B, Warner ML. Epidemiology of endometriosis. *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America*. 1997;24:235–258.
- Estonian Medical Birth Registry and Estonian Abortion Registry. 2020.
- Evenson K, Calhoun K, Herring A, Pritchard D, Wen F, Steiner AZ. Association of physical activity in the past year and immediately after in vitro fertilization on pregnancy. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2014;101:1047–1054.
- Fauser BC JM, Devroey P. Reproductive biology and IVF: Ovarian stimulation and luteal phase consequences. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2003;14:236–242.
- Fawzy M, El-Refaeey AA A. Does combined prednisolone and low molecular weight heparin have a role in unexplained implantation failure? *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*. 2014;289:677–680.
- Fox C, Morin S, Jeong JW, Scott RT, Lessey BA. Local and systemic factors and implantation: What is the evidence? *Fertility and Sterility*. 2016;105:873–884.
- Frederiksen Y, Farver-Vestergaard I, Skovgård NG, Ingerslev HJ, Zachariae R. Efficacy of psychosocial interventions for psychological and pregnancy outcomes in infertile women and men: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*. 2015;5:1–18.
- Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30:777–781.
- Frisch RE. The right weight: Body fat, menarche and ovulation. *Bailliere's Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 1990;4:419–439.
- Garcia-Fernandez J, García-Velasco JA. Endometriosis and reproduction: What we have learned. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*. 2020;93:571–577.
- Garcia-Velasco JA, Mahutte NG, Corona J, Zúñiga V, Gilés J, Arici A, Pellicer A. Removal of endometriomas before in vitro fertilization does not improve fertility outcomes: A matched, case-control study. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2004;81:1194–1197.

- García-Velasco JA, Menabrito M, Catalán IB. What fertility specialists should know about the vaginal microbiome: a review. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2017; 35:103–112.
- Garcia J, Jones GS, Acosta AA, Wright GL. Corpus luteum function after follicle aspiration for oocyte retrieval. *Fertility and Sterility*. 1981;36:565–572.
- Gaskins AJ, Williams PL, Keller MG, Souter I, Hauser R, Chavarro JE. Maternal physical and sedentary activities in relation to reproductive outcomes following IVF. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2016;33:513–521.
- Georgiou EX, Melo P, Baker PE, Sallam HN, Arici A, Garcia-Velasco JA, Abou-Setta AM, Becker C, Granne IE. Long-term GnRH agonist therapy before in vitro fertilisation (IVF) for improving fertility outcomes in women with endometriosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2019;11:1–56.
- Gimenes F, Souza RP, Bento JC, Teixeira J JV, Maria-Engler SS, Bonini MG, Consolaro ME L. Male infertility: A public health issue caused by sexually transmitted pathogens. *Nature Reviews Urology*. 2014;11:672–687.
- Giudice LC. Endometriosis. New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;362:2389–2398.
- Giudice LC, Kao LC. Endometriosis. Lancet. 2004;364:1789–1799.
- Gomez-Cabrera MC, Domenech E, Viña J. Moderate exercise is an antioxidant: Upregulation of antioxidant genes by training. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 2008;44: 126–131.
- Gudmundsdottir SL, Flanders WD, Augestad LB. Physical activity and fertility in women: The North-Trøndelag Health Study. *Human Reproduction*. 2009;24:3196–3204.
- Hammer JH, Parent MC, Spiker DA, and World Health Organization. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. *Global status report on alcohol*. 2018.
- Harada T, Kaponis A, Iwabe T, Taniguchi F, Makrydimas G, Sofikitis N, Paschopoulos M, Paraskevaidis E, Terakawa N. Apoptosis in human endometrium and endometriosis. *Human Reproduction Update*. 2004;10:29–38.
- Hassan MA M, Lavery SA, Trew GH. Congenital uterine anomalies and their impact on fertility. *Women's Health*. 2010;6:443–461.
- Hodgson RM, Lee HL, Wang R, Mol BW, Johnson N. Interventions for endometriosisrelated infertility: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2020;113:374–382.
- Holesh JE, Bass AN, Lord M. Physiology, Ovulation. *National Library of Medicine*, *National Institutes of Health*. 2021.
- Hsu AL, Khachikyan I, Stratton P. Invasive and noninvasive methods for the diagnosis of endometriosis. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2010;53:413–419.
- Hull ML, Escareno CR, Godsland JM, Doig JR, Johnson CM, Phillips SC, Smith SK, Tavaré S, Print CG, Charnock-Jones DS. Endometrial-peritoneal interactions during endometriotic lesion establishment. *American Journal of Pathology*. 2008;173:700– 715.
- Hutchinson-Williams, K. A., Lunenfeld, B., Diamond, M. P., Lavy, G., Boyers, S. P., and DeCherney AH. Human chorionic gonadotropin, estradiol, and progresterone profiles in conception and nonconception cycles in an in vitro fertilization program. *Fertility* and Sterility. 1989;52:441–445.
- Imai A, Takagi A, Tamaya T. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone analog repairs reduced endometrial cell apoptosis in endometriosis in vitro. *General Obstetrics and Gynecology Gynecology*. 2000;182:1142–1146.
- Izawa M, Harada T, Deura I, Taniguchi F, Tomio Iwabe NT. Drug-induced apoptosis was markedly attenuated in endometriotic stromal cells. *Hum Reprod.* 2006;21:600–604.

- Jabbour HN, Kelly RW, Fraser HM, Critchley HO D. Endocrine regulation of menstruation. *Endocr Rev.* 2006;27:17–46.
- Jang DH, Hoffman RS. Heavy Metal Chelation in Neurotoxic Exposures. *Neurologic Clinics*. 2011;29:607–622.
- Johnson NP, Hummelshoj L. Consensus on current management of endometriosis. Human Reproduction. 2013;28:1552–1568.
- Nasu K, Nishida M, Kawano Y, Tsuno A, Abe W, Yuge A, Takai N, Narahara H. Aberrant expression of apoptosis-related molecules in endometriosis: a possible mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Reprod Sci.* 2011;18:206–218.
- Kamel RM. Management of the infertile couple: an evidence-based protocol. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*. 2010;8:1–7.
- Kaponis A, Chatzopoulos G, Paschopoulos M, Georgiou I, Paraskevaidis V, Zikopoulos K, Tsiveriotis K, Taniguchi F, Adonakis G, Harada T. Ultralong administration of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists before in vitro fertilization improves fertilization rate but not clinical pregnancy rate in women with mild endometriosis: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. *Fertil Steril.* 2020;113:828– 835.
- Karlseder J, Wissing D, Holzer G, Orel L, Sliutz G, Auer H, Jäättelä M, Simon MM. HSP70 overexpression mediates the escape of a doxorubicin-induced G2 cell cycle arrest. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. 1996;220:153–159.
- Kasvandik S, Samuel K, Peters M, Eimre M, Peet N, Roost AM, Padrik L, Paju K, Peil L, Salumets A. Deep Quantitative Proteomics Reveals Extensive Metabolic Reprogramming and Cancer-Like Changes of Ectopic Endometriotic Stromal Cells. *Journal* of Proteome Research. 2016;15:572–584.
- Chitcholtan K, Sykes PH, Evans JJ. The resistance of intracellular mediators to doxorubicin and cisplatin are distinct in 3D and 2D endometrial cancer. *J Transl Med*. 2012;10:1–16.
- Kapoor R, Stratopoulou CA, Dolmans MM. Pathogenesis of Endometriosis: New Insights into Prospective Therapies. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;21:1–14.
- Khan KN, Fujishita A, Kitajima M, Hiraki K, Nakashima M, Masuzaki H. Occult microscopic endometriosis: Undetectable by laparoscopy in normal peritoneum. *Human Reproduction*. 2014;29:462–472.
- Klemmt PA, Starzinski-Powitz A. Molecular and Cellular Pathogenesis of Endometriosis. *Current Women s Health Reviews*. 2017;13:1–11.
- Klonoff-Cohen HS, Natarajan L. The effect of advancing paternal age on pregnancy and live birth rates in couples undergoing in vitro fertilization or gamete intrafallopian transfer. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2004;191:507–514.
- Klonoff-Cohen H, Natarajan L. The Concerns During Assisted Reproductive Technologies (CART) scale and pregnancy outcomes. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2004;81:982– 988.
- Kloss JD, Perlis ML, Zamzow JA, Culnan EJ, Gracia CR. Sleep, sleep disturbance, and fertility in women. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*. 2015;22:78–87.
- Kobayashi Y, Hatta T, Hojo A, Kura Y, Uchino Y, Takahashi H, Kiso S, Hirabayashi Y, Yagi M, Kodaira H, Kurita D, Tanaka T, Miura K, Iriyama N, Kobayashi S, Sawada U, Sugitani M, Takeuchi J. Long-term follow-up of localized, primary gastric diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with rituximab and CHOP. *Exp Ther Med*. 2012;3:304–308.
- Koedooder R, Singer M, Schoenmakers S, Savelkoul PH M, Morré SA, De Jonge JD, Poort L, Cuypers WJ S. S, Beckers NG M, Broekmans FJ M, Cohlen BJ, Den Hartog JE, Fleischer K, Lambalk CB, Smeenk JM JS, Budding AE, Laven JS E. The vaginal microbiome as a predictor for outcome of in vitro fertilization with or without intracytoplasmic sperm injection: A prospective study. *Human Reproduction*. 2019; 34:1042–1054.
- Konieczna A, Rutkowska A, Rachoń D. Health risk of exposure to Bisphenol A (BPA). *Roczniki Państwowego Zakladu Higieny*. 2015;66:5–11.
- Labyak S, Lava S, Turek F, Zee P. Effects of shiftwork on sleep and menstrual function in nurses. *Health Care for Women International*. 2002;23:703–714.
- Lai ZZ, Yang HL, Ha SY, Chang KK, Mei J, Zhou WJ, Qiu XM, Wang XQ, Zhu R, Li DJ, Li MQ. Cyclooxygenase-2 in Endometriosis. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2019;15:2783– 2797.
- Lee J, Choi K, Park J, Moon HB, Choi G, Lee JJ, Suh E, Kim HJ, Eun SH, Kim GH, Cho GJ, Kim SK, Kim S, Kim SY, Kim S, Eom S, Choi S, Kim YD, Kim S. Bisphenol A distribution in serum, urine, placenta, breast milk, and umbilical cord serum in a birth panel of mother–neonate pairs. *Science of the Total Environment*. 2018; 626:1949–1501.
- Lessey BA, Kim JJ. Endometrial receptivity in the eutopic endometrium of women with endometriosis: it is affected, and let me show you why. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2017; 108:19–27.
- Li A, Zhang J, Yanping Kuang CY. Analysis of IVF/ICSI-FET Outcomes in Women With Advanced Endometriosis: Influence on Ovarian Response and Oocyte Competence. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*. 2020;11:1–12.
- Lin J, Sun C, Zheng H. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists and laparoscopy in the treatment of adenomyosis with infertility. *Chinese Medical Journal*. 2000;113:442– 445.
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta CT$ method. *Methods*. 2001;25:402–408.
- Liu Y, Gong H, Gou J, Xinghui L, Li Z. Dienogest as a Maintenance Treatment for Endometriosis Following Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Medicine*. 2021;8:1–9.
- Läänelaid S, Ortega FB, Kunovac Kallak T, Joelsson L, Ruiz JR, Hreinsson J, Wånggren K, Stavreus-Evers A, Kalda R, Salumets A, Altmäe S. Physical and Sedentary Activities in Association with Reproductive Outcomes among Couples Seeking Infertility Treatment: A Prospective Cohort Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2021;18:1–10.
- Maggiore LR U, Scala C, Venturini PL, Remorgida V, Ferrero S. Endometriotic ovarian cysts do not negatively affect the rate of spontaneous ovulation. *Human Reproduction*. 2015;30:299–307.
- Mahoney MM. Shift work, jet lag, and female reproduction. *International Journal of Endocrinology*. 2010;2010:1–9.
- Mena GP, Mielke GI, Brown WJ. The effect of physical activity on reproductive health outcomes in young women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Human Reproduction Update*. 2019;25:541–563.
- Menken J, Trussell J, Larsen U. Age and infertility. Science. 1986;233:1389-1394.
- Messaoudi S, Kasmi IE L, Bourdiec A, Crespo K, Bissonnette L, Le Saint C, Bissonnette F, Kadoch IJ. 15 years of transcriptomic analysis on endometrial receptivity: what have we learnt? *Fertility Research and Practice*. 2019;5:1–9.

- Mikhael S, Punjala-Patel A, Gavrilova-Jordan L. Hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis disorders impacting female fertility. *Biomedicines*. 2019;7:1–9.
- Mills M, Rindfuss RR, McDonald P, te Velde E. Why do people postpone parenthood? Reasons and social policy incentives. *Human Reproduction Update*. 2011;7:848–860.
- Minici F, Tiberi F, Tropea A, Orlando M, Gangale MF, Romani F, Campo S, Bompiani A, Lanzone A, Apa R. Endometriosis and human infertility: A new investigation into the role of eutopic endometrium. *Human Reproduction*. 2008;23:530–537.
- Miravet-Valenciano J, Ruiz-Alonso M, Gómez E, Garcia-Velasco JA. Endometrial receptivity in eutopic endometrium in patients with endometriosis: it is not affected, and let me show you why. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2017;108:28–31.
- Miyamoto T, Tsujimura A, Miyagawa Y, Koh E, Namiki M, Sengoku K. Male Infertility and Its Causes in Human. *Advances in Urology*. 2012;2012:1–7.
- Moodley P, Wilkinson D, Connolly C, Moodley J, Sturn AW. Trichomonas vaginalis is associated with pelvic inflammatory disease in women infected with human immunodeficiency virus. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2002;34:519–522.
- Mouhayar Y, Yin O, Mumford SL, Segars JH. Hysteroscopic polypectomy prior to infertility treatment: A cost analysis and systematic review. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*. 2017;213:107–115.
- Muller V, Kogan I, Yarmolinskaya M, Niauri D, Gzgzyan A, Aylamazyan E. Dienogest treatment after ovarian endometrioma removal in infertile women prior to IVF. *Gynecological Endocrinology*. 2017;33:18–21.
- Nahshon C, Sagi-Dain L, Dirnfeld M. The impact of endometrial injury on reproductive outcomes: results of an updated meta-analysis. *Reproductive Medicine and Biology*. 2020;19:334–349.
- Nakagawa K, Kwak-Kim J, Ota K, Kuroda K, Hisano M, Sugiyama R, Yamaguchi K. Immunosuppression with tacrolimus improved reproductive outcome of women with repeated implantation failure and elevated peripheral blood TH1/TH2 cell ratios. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* 2015;73:353–361.
- Nastri CO, Lensen S, Polanski L, Raine-Fenning N, Farquhar CM, Martins WP. Endometrial injury and reproductive outcomes: There's more to this story than meets the horse's blind eye. *Human Reproduction*. 2015;30:749.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Fertility problems: assessment and treatment. 2013.
- Navot D, Drews MR, Bergh PA, Guzman I, Karstaedt A, Scott RT, Garrisi GJ, Hofmann GE. Age-related decline in female fertility is not due to diminished capacity of the uterus to sustain embryo implantation. *Fertility and Sterility*. 1994;61:97–101.
- Nelson SM, Lawlor DA. Predicting live birth, preterm delivery, and low birth weight in infants born from in vitro fertilisation: A prospective study of 144,018 treatment cycles. *PLoS Medicine*. 2011;8:1–1.
- Nesbitt-Hawes EM, Campbell N, Maley PE, Won H, Hooshmand D, Henry A, Ledger W, Abbott J A. The Surgical Treatment of Severe Endometriosis Positively Affects the Chance of Natural or Assisted Pregnancy Postoperatively. *BioMed Research International*. 2015;2015:1–7.
- Nezhat C, Silfen S, Nezhat F, Martin D. Surgery for endometriosis. Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 1991;3:385–393.
- Nieweglowska D, Hajdyla-Banas I, Pitynski K, Banas T, Grabowska O, Juszczyk G, Ludwin A, Jach R. Age-related trends in anti-Mullerian hormone serum level in women with unilateral and bilateral ovarian endometriomas prior to surgery. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*. 2015;13:1–9.

- Noyes RW, Hertig AT, Rock J. Dating the Endometrial Biopsy. *Fertility and Sterility*. 1950;1:3–25.
- Noyes RW, Hertig AT, Rock J. Dating the endometrial biopsy. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 1975;122:262–263.
- O Burney R, Talbi S, Hamilton AE, Vo KC, Nyegaard M, Nezhat CR, Lessey BA, Giudice LC. Gene expression analysis of endometrium reveals progesterone resistance and candidate susceptibility genes in women with endometriosis. *Endocrinology*. 2007;148:3814–3826.
- O'Flynn N. Fertility: assessment and treatment for people with fertility problems: NICE guideline. *British Journal of General Practice*. 2014;64:50–51.
- Pacchiarotti A, Iaconianni P, Caporali S, Vitillo M, Meledandri M, Monaco G, Sergio C, Boza M, Saccucci P. Severe endometriosis: low value of AMH did not affect oocyte quality and pregnancy outcome in IVF patients. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences*. 2020;24:11488–11495.
- Palomba S, Falbo A, Russo T, Orio F, Tolino A, Zullo F. Systemic and local effects of metformin administration in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): Relationship to the ovulatory response. *Human Reproduction*. 2010;25:1005–1013.
- Papp JR, Schachter J, Gaydos CA, Van Der Pol B. Recommendations for the laboratorybased detection of Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae – 2014. MMWR Recommendations and Reports. 2014;63:1–19.
- Pivonello C, Muscogiuri G, Nardone A, Garifalos F, Provvisiero DP, Verde N, De Angelis C, Conforti A, Piscopo M, Auriemma RS, Colao A, Pivonello R. Bisphenol A: An emerging threat to female fertility. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*. 2020;18:1–33.
- Pluchino N, Roman H. Oocyte vitrification offers more space for a tailored surgical management of endometriosis. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2020;41:753–755.
- Ponnampalam AP, Weston GC, Trajstman AC, Susil B, Rogers PA W. Molecular classification of human endometrial cycle stages by transcriptional profiling. *Molecular Human Reproduction*. 2004;10:879–893.
- Pouly JL, Canis M, Velemir L, Brugnon F, Rabischong B, Botchorichvili R, Jardon K, Peikrishvili R, Mage G, Janny L. Endometriosis related infertility. *Journal de Gynecologie Obstetrique et Biologie de La Reproduction*. 2007;36:151–161.
- Pozharny Y, Lambertini L, Clunie G, Ferrara L, Lee MJ. Epigenetics in women's health care. *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine*. 2010;77:225–235.
- Prapas Y, Goudakou M, Matalliotakis I, Kalogeraki A, Matalliotaki C, Panagiotidis Y, Ravanos K, Prapas N. History of endometriosis may adversely affect the outcome in menopausal recipients of sibling oocytes. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2012;25: 543–548.
- Puhlmann U, Ziemann C, Ruedell G, Vorwerk H, Schaefer D, Langebrake C, Schuermann P, Creutzig U, Reinhardt D. Impact of the cyclooxygenase system on doxorubicin-induced functional multidrug resistance 1 overexpression and doxorubicin sensitivity in acute myeloid leukemic HL-60 cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2005; 312:346–354.
- Purewal S, Chapman SC E, van den Akker OB A. Depression and state anxiety scores during assisted reproductive treatment are associated with outcome: a meta-analysis. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2018;36:646–657.
- Quaas A, Dokras A. Diagnosis and treatment of unexplained infertility. *Reviews in Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2008;1:69–76.

- Rao M, Zeng Z, Li T. Maternal physical activity before IVF/ICSI cycles improves clinical pregnancy rate and live birth rate: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* 2018;16:1–8.
- Rattan S, Zhou C, Chiang C, Mahalingam S, Brehm E, Flaws JA. Exposure to endocrine disruptors during adulthood: Consequences for female fertility. Journal of Endocrinology. 2017;233:109–129.
- Ravimiamet. Rakkude, kudede ja elundite 2020. aasta hankimis- ja käitlemisandmete kokkuvõte. 2021;1–9.
- Recent advances in medically assisted conception. Report of a WHO Scientific Group. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 1992;820:1–111.
- Redman LM. Physical activity and its effects on reproduction. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2006;12:579–586.
- Reindollar RH. Turner syndrome: contemporary thoughts and reproductive issues. *Seminars in reproductive medicine*. 2011;29:342–352.
- Reis FM, Petraglia F, Taylor RN. Endometriosis: hormone regulation and clinical consequences of chemotaxis and apoptosis. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2013;19:406–418.
- Rich-Edwards JW, Goldman MB, Willett WC, Hunter DJ, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Manson JA E. Adolescent body mass index and infertility caused by ovulatory disorder. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 1994;171:171–177.
- Rich-Edwards JW, Spiegelman D, Garland M, Hertzmark E, Hunter DJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Wand H, Manson JA E. Physical activity, body mass index, and ovulatory disorder infertility. *Epidemiology*. 2002;13:184–190.
- Riches N, Arora R. Primary care management of infertility. InnovAiT. 2013;7:5-13.
- Robertson SA, Jin M, Yu D, Moldenhauer LM, Davies MJ, Hull ML, Norman RJ. Corticosteroid therapy in assisted reproduction – immune suppression is a faulty premise. *Hum Reprod.* 2016;10:2164–2173.
- Rodríguez-Tárrega E, Monzo AM, Quiroga R, Polo-Sánchez P, Fernández-Colom P, Monterde-Estrada M, Novella-Maestre E, Pellicer A. Effect of GnRH agonist before IVF on outcomes in infertile endometriosis patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Reprod Biomed Online*. 2020;41:653–662.
- Rogers JM. Tobacco and pregnancy. Reproductive Toxicology. 2009:28:152-160.
- Rogers PA W, D'Hooghe TM, Fazleabas A, Gargett CE, Giudice LC, Montgomery GW, Rombauts L, Salamonsen LA, Zondervan T. Priorities for endometriosis research: Recommendations from an international consensus workshop. *Reproductive Sciences*. 2009;16:335–346.
- Rogers PA W, D'Hooghe TM, Fazleabas A, Giudice LC, Montgomery GW, Petraglia F, Taylor RN. Defining future directions for endometriosis research: Workshop report from the 2011 World Congress of Endometriosis in Montpellier, France. *Reproductive Sciences*. 2013;30:483–499.
- Rolla E. Endometriosis: Advances and controversies in classification, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. *F1000Research*. 2019;8:1–28.
- Rossi BV, Berry KF, Hornstein MD, Cramer DW, Ehrlich S, Missmer SA. Effect of Alcohol Consumption on In Vitro Fertilization. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2011;117:136–142.
- Ruiz-Alonso M, Blesa D, Díaz-Gimeno P, Gómez E, Fernández-Sánchez M, Carranza F, Carrera J, Vilella F, Pellicer A, Simón C. The endometrial receptivity array for diagnosis and personalized embryo transfer as a treatment for patients with repeated implantation failure. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2013;100:818–824.

- Rzymski P, Tomczyk K, Rzymski P, Poniedziałek B, Opala T, Wilczak M. Impact of heavy metals on the female reproductive system. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine*. 2015;22:259–264.
- Sallam HN, Garcia-Velasco JA, Dias S, Arici A, Abou-Setta AM. Long-term pituitary down-regulation before in vitro fertilization (IVF) for women with endometriosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2006;1:1–21.
- Santos-Ribeiro S, Mackens S, Tournaye H, Blockeel C, Stoop D. Endometrial receptivity enhancement through induced injury and repair during ovarian stimulation: the Receptivity Enhancement by Follicularphase Renewal after Endometrial ScratcHing (REFRESH) trial protocol. *Human Reproduction Open*. 2017;2017:1–7.
- Schippert C, Witte Y, Bartels J, Garcia-Rocha GJ, Jentschke M, Hillemanns SK P. Reproductive capacity and recurrence of disease after surgery for moderate and severe endometriosis – a retrospective single center analysis. *BMC Women's Health.* 2020; 20:1–11.
- Schwartz K, Llarena NC, Rehmer JM, Richards EG, Falcone T. The role of pharmacotherapy in the treatment of endometriosis across the lifespan. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*. 2020;21:893–903.
- Seli E, Kayisli UA, Cakmak H, Bukulmez O, Bildirici I, Guzeloglu-Kayisli O, Arici A. Removal of hydrosalpinges increases endometrial leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) expression at the time of the implantation window. *Human Reproduction*. 2005;20: 3012–3017.
- Sharma S, Bathwal S, Agarwal N, Chattopadhyay R, Indranil S, Chakravarty B. Does presence of adenomyosis affect reproductive outcome in IVF cycles? A retrospective analysis of 973 patients. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2019;38:13–21.
- Silvestris E, Lovero D, Palmirotta R. Nutrition and female fertility: An interdependent correlation. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*. 2019;10:346.
- Simón C, Gómez C, Cabanillas S, Vladimirov I, Castillón G, Giles J, Boynukalin K, Findikli N, Bahçeci M, Ortega I, Vidal C, Funabiki M, Izquierdo A, López L, Portela S, Frantz N, Kulmann M, Taguchi S, Labarta E, ... Valbuena D. A 5-year multicentre randomized controlled trial comparing personalized, frozen and fresh blastocyst transfer in IVF. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2020;41:402–415.
- Singh B, Cook KR, Vincent L, Hall CS, Berry JA, Multani AS, Lucci A. Cyclooxygenase-2 induces genomic instability, BCL2 expression, doxorubicin resistance, and altered cancer-initiating cell phenotype in MCF7 breast cancer cells. J Surg Res. 2008; 147:240–246.
- Somigliana E. Ovarian reserve, endometriomas, and surgery: research must go on. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2018;110:856–857.
- Sorensen TK, Williams MA, Lee IM, Dashow EE, Thompson ML, Luthy DA. Recreational physical activity during pregnancy and risk of preeclampsia. *Hypertension*. 2003;41:1273–1280.
- Sõritsa D, Saare M, Laisk-Podar T, Peters M, Sõritsa A, Matt K, Karro H, Salumets A. Pregnancy rate in endometriosis patients according to the severity of the disease after using a combined approach of laparoscopy, GnRH agonist treatment and in vitro fertilization. *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*. 2015;79:34–39.
- Stadtmauer LA, Wong BC, Oehninger S. Should patients with polycystic ovary syndrome be treated with metformin? Benefits of insulin sensitizing drugs in polycystic ovary syndrome – Beyond ovulation induction. *Human Reproduction*. 2002;17:3016–3026.
- Stanford JB, Dunson DB. Effects of sexual intercourse patterns in time to pregnancy studies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 2007;165:1088–1095.

- Steegers-Theunissen R, Hoek A, Groen H, Bos A, van den Dool G, Schoonenberg M, Smeenk J, Creutzberg E, Vecht L, Starmans L, Laven J. Pre-Conception Interventions for Subfertile Couples Undergoing Assisted Reproductive Technology Treatment: Modeling Analysis. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*. 2020;8:1–12.
- Stojanov M, Baud D, Greub G, Vulliemoz N. Male infertility: the intracellular bacterial hypothesis. *New Microbes and New Infections*. 2018;26:37–41.
- Suhorutshenko M, Kukushkina V, Velthut-Meikas A, Altmäe S, Peters M, Mägi R, Krjutškov K, Koel M, Codoñer FM, Martinez-Blanch JF, Vilella F, Simón C, Salumets A, Laisk T. Endometrial receptivity revisited: endometrial transcriptome adjusted for tissue cellular heterogeneity. *Human Reproduction*. 2018;33:2074–2086.
- Surrey ES, Silverberg KM, Surrey MW, Schoolcraft WB. Effect of prolonged gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist therapy on the outcome of in vitro fertilizationembryo transfer in patients with endometriosis. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2002;78:699–704.
- Szamatowicz M, Szamatowicz J. Proven and unproven methods for diagnosis and treatment of infertility. *Advances in Medical Sciences*. 2020;65:93–96.
- Tamura H, Yoshida H, Kikuchi H, Josaki M, Mihara Y, Shirafuta Y, Shinagawa M, Tamura I, Taketani T, Takasaki A, Sugino N. The clinical outcome of Dienogest treatment followed by in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer in infertile women with endometriosis. *Journal of Ovarian Research*. 2019;12:123.
- Tanbo T, Fedorcsak P. Endometriosis-associated infertility: aspects of pathophysiological mechanisms and treatment options. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2017;96:659– 667.

Taylor E, Gomel V. The uterus and fertility. Fertility and Sterility. 2008;89:1-16.

- Taylor HS, Giudice LC, Lessey BA, Abrao MS, Kotarski J, Archer DF, Diamond MP, Surrey E, Johnson NP, Watts NB, Gallagher JC, Simon JA, Carr BR, Dmowski WP, Leyland N, Rowan JP, Duan WR, Ng J, Schwefel B, Thomas JW, Jain RI, Chwalisz K. Treatment of Endometriosis-Associated Pain with Elagolix, an Oral GnRH Antagonist. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2017;377:28–40.
- Teder H, Koel M, Paluoja P, Jatsenko T, Rekker K, Laisk-Podar T, Kukuškina V, Velthut-Meikas A, Fjodorova O, Peters M, Kere J, Salumets A, Palta P, Krjutškov K. TACseq: targeted DNA and RNA sequencing for precise biomarker molecule counting. *Npj Genomic Medicine*. 2018;3:1–8.
- Templeton A, Morris JK, Parslow W. Factors that affect outcome of in-vitro fertilisation treatment. *Lancet*. 1996;348:1402–1406.
- The Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Endometriosis and infertility: A committee opinion. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2012;98:591–598.
- Thorn CF, Oshiro C, Marsh S, Hernandez-Boussard T, McLeod H, Klein TE, Altman RB. Doxorubicin pathways: pharmacodynamics and adverse effects. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2011;21:440–446.
- Tomassetti C, Johnson NP, Petrozza J, Abrao MS, Einarsson JI, Horne AW, Lee TM, Missmer S, Vermeulen N, Zondervan KT, Grimbizis G, De Wilde RL. An International Terminology for Endometriosis, 2021. *International Working Group of* AAGL, ESGE, ESHRE and WES. 2021;28:1849–1859.
- Tsevat DG, Wiesenfeld HC, Parks C, Peipert JF. Sexually transmitted diseases and infertility. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2017;216:1–9.
- Tworoger SS, Missmer SA, Eliassen AH, Barbieri RL, Dowsett M, Hankinson SE. Physical activity and inactivity in relation to sex hormone, prolactin, and insulin-like growth factor concentrations in premenopausal women: Exercise and premenopausal hormones. *Cancer Causes and Control*. 2007;18:743–752.

- Vander Borght M, Wyns C. Fertility and infertility: Definition and epidemiology. *Clinical Biochemistry*. 2018;62:2–10.
- Vannuccini S, Clifton VL, Fraser IS, Taylor HS, Critchley H, Giudice LC, Petraglia F. Infertility and reproductive disorders: Impact of hormonal and inflammatory mechanisms on pregnancy outcome. *Human Reproduction Update*. 2016;22:104–115.
- Veleva Z, Orava M, Nuojua-Huttunen S, Tapanainen JS, Martikainen H. Factors affecting the outcome of frozen-thawed embryo transfer. *Human Reproduction*. 2013;28:2425– 2431.
- Venturella R, Vaiarelli A, Cimadomo D, Pedri S, Lico D, Mazzilli R, Mocciaro R, Rienzi L, Di Carlo C, Ubaldi FM, Zullo F. State of the art and emerging drug therapies for female infertility. *Gynecological Endocrinology*. 2019;35:835–841.
- Vercellini P, Viganò P, Somigliana E, Fedele L. Endometriosis: pathogenesis and treatment. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10:261–275.
- Vercellini, P., Trespidi, L., De Giorgi, O., Cortesi, I., Parazzini, F., and Crosignani, P. G. (1996). Endometriosis and pelvic pain: Relation to disease stage and localization. *Fertility and Sterility*. 1996;65:299–304.
- Vercellini P, Buggio L, Frattaruolo MP, Borghi A, Dridi D, Somigliana E. Medical treatment of endometriosis-related pain. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics* and Gynaecology. 2018;51:68–91.
- Vercellini P, Fedele L, Aimi G, De Giorgi O, Consonni D, Crosignani PG. Reproductive performance, pain recurrence and disease relapse after conservative surgical treatment for endometriosis: The predictive value of the current classification system. *Human Reproduction*. 2006;21:2679–2685.
- Vlahos NF, Theodoridis TD, Partsinevelos GA. Myomas and Adenomyosis: Impact on Reproductive Outcome. *BioMed Research International*. 2017;2017:1–14.
- Vollenhoven B, Hunt S. Ovarian ageing and the impact on female fertility. *F1000-Research*. 2018;7:1–6.
- Wang YA, Farquhar C, Sullivan EA. Donor age is a major determinant of success of oocyte donation/recipient programme. *Human Reproduction*. 2012;27:118–125.
- Watanabe A, Taniguchi F, Izawa M, Suou K, Uegaki T, Takai E, Terakawa N, Harada T. The role of survivin in the resistance of endometriotic stromal cells to drug-induced apoptosis. *Hum Reprod.* 2009;24:3172–3179.
- Watters M, Noble M, Child T, Nelson S. Short versus extended progesterone supplementation for luteal phase support in fresh IVF cycles: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*. 2020;40:143–150.
- Welt CK. Primary ovarian insufficiency: A more accurate term for premature ovarian failure. *Clinical Endocrinology*. 2008;68:499–509.
- Wideman L, Montgomery MM, Levine BJ, Beynnon BD, Shultz SJ. Accuracy of Calendar-Based Methods for Assigning Menstrual Cycle Phase in Women. *Sports Health*. 2013;5:143–149.
- Wilcox AJ, Baird DD, Weinberg CR. Time of implantation of the conceptus and loss of pregnancy. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1999;340:1796–1799.
- Wise LA, Rothman KJ, Mikkelsen EM, Sorensen HT, Riis AH, Hatch EE. A prospective cohort study of physical activity and time to pregnancy. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2012; 97:1136–1142.
- Wyns C, Bergh C, Calhaz-Jorge C, De Geyter Ch, Kupka MS, Motrenko T, Rugescu I, Smeenk J, Tandler-Schneider A, Vidakovi S, Goossens V. ART in Europe, 2016: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Human Reproduction Open*. 2020;2020:1–7.

- Youness ER, Mohammed NA, Morsy FA. Cadmium impact and osteoporosis: Mechanism of action. *Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods*. 2012;22:560–567.
- Zapata LB, Hillis SD, Marchbanks PA, Curtis KM, Lowry R. Methamphetamine use is independently associated with recent risky sexual behaviors and adolescent pregnancy. *Journal of School Health*. 2008;78:641–648.
- Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, de Mouzon J, Ishihara O, Mansour R, Nygren K, Sullivan E, Vanderpoel S. International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology (ICMART) and the World Health Organization (WHO) revised glossary of ART terminology, 2009. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2009;92:1520–1524.
- Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, Dyer S, Racowsky C, de Mouzon J, Sokol R, Rienzi L, Sunde A, Schmidt L, Cooke ID, Simpson JL, van der Poel S. The International Glossary on Infertility and Fertility Care, 2017. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2017;108:393– 406.
- Zeng C, Xu JN, Zhou Y, Zhou YF, Zhu SN, Xue Q. Reproductive performance after surgery for endometriosis: Predictive value of the revised american fertility society classification and the endometriosis fertility index. *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*. 2014;77:180–185.
- Zhong C, Gao L, Shu L, Hou Z, Cai L, Huang J, Liu J, Mao Y. Analysis of IVF/ICSI Outcomes in Endometriosis Patients With Recurrent Implantation Failure: Influence on Cumulative Live Birth Rate. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*. 2021;12:1–8.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work has been completed thanks to teamwork of several people and institutions, to whom I wish to express my deepest gratitude.

The studies were carried out at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Institute of Clinical Medicine at the University of Tartu, Tervisetehnoloogiate Arenduskeskus AS, and Clinic Elite, all Tartu, Estonia. The research was funded by the Estonia Ministry of Education and Research, Clinic Elite, University of Granada and University of Tartu base funding.

I would like to thank all the people who were involved in and supported me throughout my PhD studies as follows:

- All the patients who were willing to participate in this research.
- All the employees of the Tervisetehnoloogiate Arenduskeskus AS, Clinic Elite and Tartu University Hospital's Women's Clinic, who were involved in the process of this thesis.
- All the co-authors of the manuscripts for their contribution in different parts of the preparation of the study for publication. Especially, Merli Saare and Triin Laisk, who took a relevant part in composing studies I and III; Signe Altmäe and Francisco B. Ortega who took a remarkable part in study II; Darja Lavõgina for the help in study IV.
- My colleagues, Dr. Svetlana Räim, Dr. Aivar Ehrenberg, and Dr. Aire Sekavin for the patient enrolment.
- My supervisor Maire Peters, with her significant contribution to my thesis. Thank you for the time spent working on this thesis.
- My supervisors prof. Helle Karro and Dr. Kadri Matt.
- My main supervisor prof. Andres Salumets, your continuous and skilled motivative mentoring were essential for me.
- The reviewers of this thesis Associate Professor Kersti Pärna and Researcher Aili Tagoma for the constructive comments, recommendations and the time.

Finally, I would like to thank my supportive family, for their patience on this very long journey.

PUBLICATIONS

Π

Sõritsa D, Saare M, Laisk-Podar T, Peters M, Sõritsa A, Matt K, Karro H, Salumets A. Pregnancy rate in endometriosis patients according to the severity of the disease after using a combined approach of laparoscopy, GnRH agonist treatment and in vitro fertilization. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2015;79(1):34–9.

Original Article

Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation

Gynecol Obstet Invest 2015;79:34–39 DOI: 10.1159/000365329 Received: January 13, 2014 Accepted after revision: June 18, 2014 Published online: September 25, 2014

Pregnancy Rate in Endometriosis Patients according to the Severity of the Disease after Using a Combined Approach of Laparoscopy, GnRH Agonist Treatment and in vitro Fertilization

Deniss Sõritsa^{a-c} Merli Saare^{b, d} Triin Laisk-Podar^{b, d} Maire Peters^{b, d} Andrei Sõritsa^c Kadri Matt^{a, d} Helle Karro^{a, d} Andres Salumets^{b, d}

^aWomen's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital, ^bCompetence Centre on Reproductive Medicine and Biology, ^cElite Clinic, and ^dDepartment of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia

Key Words

Endometriosis · GnRH agonists · Infertility · In vitro fertilization · Laparoscopy

Abstract

Aim: To evaluate the effects of combined treatment approaches on endometriosis-associated infertility in different stages of endometriosis using laparoscopy, gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH) agonist (GnRHa) therapy and in vitro fertilization (IVF). Methods: This retrospective study was carried out on 179 women with surgically confirmed endometriosis. Patients were divided into subgroups: group 1 (stage I-II, n = 121) and group 2 (stage III-IV, n = 58). Patients eligible for IVF, who were found to have adenomyosis or moderate to severe endometriosis, were also given postoperative GnRHa. Pregnancy and delivery rates were cumulatively calculated during 5 years according to the severity of the disease. Results: The overall pregnancy, delivery and miscarriage rates were 66.5, 56.4 and 15.1%, respectively, for all patients following spontaneous and assisted conception. There were no significant differences in reproductive outcomes between the study groups. The pregnancy and delivery rates were also comparable within group 1 between the patients with and without GnRHa treatment. Conclusion: Pregnancy and delivery rates at different stages of endome-

KARGER 125

© 2014 S. Karger AG, Basel 0378–7346/14/0791–0034\$39.50/0

E-Mail karger@karger.com www.karger.com/goi triosis were not affected by the different approaches used for infertility treatment, with >60 and >50% of patients having conceived and delivered a baby, respectively, in both groups. The usefulness of GnRHa treatment for endometriosis patients with minimal to mild forms is questionable and deserves further studies. © 2014 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Endometriosis is one of the most frequent benign chronic gynecological disorders, and it influences female health negatively by causing abdominopelvic pain and infertility. It has been estimated that endometriosis affects approximately 10% of women of reproductive age and up to 50% of infertile women [1]. Endometriosis-associated infertility is poorly treatable, and treatment mainly consists of surgical approaches, hormonal medication and in vitro fertilization (IVF) or their combination.

The purpose of surgery is to remove all visible implants of endometriosis and adhesions. Women surgically treated at any stage of endometriosis have an approximately 50% chance of spontaneous conception 1–2 years after surgery [2]. Previously, it has been confirmed that surgical treatment improves fertility and has a positive effect on

Deniss Söritsa, MD Women's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital L. Puusepa 8 EE-51014 Tartu (Estonia) E-Mail deniss.soritsa@kliinikum.ee pregnancy rate at all stages of the disease [3]. Large-scale randomized controlled trials and meta-analyses have shown higher pregnancy rates in women with minimal and mild-stage endometriosis-associated infertility who underwent surgical treatment compared with diagnostic laparoscopy [4]. However, the real value of surgical approaches in women with early-stage endometriosis-associated infertility remains unclear [5]. Surgery for moderate to severe endometriosis is mainly aimed at the alleviation of pain classically associated with these lesions [6] and the restoration of distorted pelvic anatomy [7]. The negative aspect of moderate to severe endometriosis surgery is that it could harm the ovaries, especially in women with bilateral endometriomas, and impair the ovarian reserve [8].

Previous studies have shown that gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) treatment without laparoscopy for women with minimal to mild and moderate to severe endometriosis seems to be ineffective for endometriosis-related infertility and does not improve the pregnancy rates among infertile women. GnRH therapy may even worsen the situation as a result of treatment delay [9]. Long-term pituitary downregulation, using GnRH therapy, after surgery in women with endometriosis-associated infertility has often been advocated to improve the pregnancy rate, but its real value is still uncertain [10]. However, surgically diagnosed endometriosis patients had better pregnancy rates if pretreated with GnRH analogues for 3 months before IVF [11]. Also, a meta-analysis of 165 women has confirmed the benefit of a 3- to 6-month administration of GnRH analogues before initiation of IVF [12].

When surgery and hormonal medication fail, or when spontaneous conception is impossible due to tubal or male factor infertility, the use of IVF is recommended [13]. Thus, controlled ovarian hyperstimulation and IVF are commonly used for the treatment of endometriosisassociated infertility. The effect of surgery for ovarian endometriomas on IVF outcome is still unclear [14]. Nevertheless, in cases of several unsuccessful IVF attempts, surgical treatment could improve the pregnancy rate [15].

The aim of this retrospective study was to evaluate the effects of combined treatment approaches on endometriosis-associated infertility in minimal to mild and advanced stages of endometriosis using laparoscopy, GnRH agonist (GnRHa) therapy and IVF. In addition, we were interested in the usefulness of applying the GnRHa treatment in minimal to mild stages of endometriosis by calculating the cumulative pregnancy and delivery rates for patients with and without GnRHa treatment.

Materials and Methods

This retrospective study was carried out among 179 infertile women (22–42 years of age) with surgically confirmed endometriosis, who underwent curative laparoscopy at the Elite Clinic from 2005 to 2008. In our clinic, diagnostic-curative laparoscopy is the first choice of treatment for all patients with endometriosisassociated infertility.

Laparoscopy was performed using a 10-mm laparoscope in the umbilical position and two 5-mm trocars. After a thorough check of the pelvic and abdominal organs, adnexal adhesions were removed. All visible foci of endometriosis, most commonly on ligaments, peritoneum, cavum Douglasi and less frequently on ovaries, parametrium and fossa ovarica, as well as superficial foci on the bowel and bladder were coagulated by bipolar diathermy. The appendix was removed if endometriotic foci were found on it. Out of 58 patients with moderate to severe endometriosis, 32 (55%) had endometriomas. When endometriotic lesions were found on the uterus, or the presence of adenomyosis had previously been diagnosed by ultrasonography, the whole exterior uterine wall was coagulated. Vascular extensions of the uterus and the fallopian tube angle region were also coagulated. However, in our clinical practice, we do not support the surgical treatment of adenomyosis alone, and this procedure is performed only in case of laparoscopy for endometriosis. We did not perform bowel and bladder resection, and a maximum of 6 months of GnRHa treatment was prescribed in these patients.

The patients were divided into group 1 (stage I–II endometriosis, n = 121) and group 2 (stage III–IV endometriosis, n = 58) according to the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM) classification system [16]. The patients of group 1 and group 2 were further divided according to the GnRHa treatment status (with and without GnRHa treatment). There were no patients without GnRHa treatment in group 2.

Patients eligible for IVF, or who were found to have adenomyosis or moderate to severe endometriosis, were postoperatively given a GnRHa, either Diphereline (Ipsen Pharma Biotech, France) or Zoladex (AstraZeneca UK, Ltd., UK). The first dose of GnRHa was administered on the first postoperative day, and each following dose was administered after every 28 days for 3–6 months. Some patients received GnRHa treatment, but did not undergo IVF treatment because they spontaneously achieved pregnancy prior to the scheduled IVF treatment. In patients scheduled for IVF, GnRHa treatment and pituitary suppression were continued by IVF without waiting for a menstrual period.

Natural conception was recommended for couples with patent fallopian tubes and normal sperm quality. IVF, intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) and slow embryo freezing were performed according to standard protocols. Pregnancy was documented by the presence of gestational sac(s) at 6–7 weeks of gestation, with miscarriages occurring between the detection of a pregnancy and the 22nd week of gestation. The cumulative pregnancy rate for all IVF/ICSI/frozen embryo transfer (FET) cycles was calculated for patients participating in the IVF program until December 2009. The study involved only those women for whom we had a complete pregnancy follow-up, including both natural and assisted conceptions and deliveries.

All statistical tests were performed using the R2.14.1 environment (Free Software Foundation, Boston, Mass., USA). The unpaired t test, Wilcoxon's rank sum test and the χ^2 test were applied to compare the groups. Logistic regression analysis adjusted for

Endometriosis-Associated Infertility

Gynecol Obstet Invest 2015;79:34-39 DOI: 10.1159/000365329 Table 1. General characteristics and laparoscopic findings in the study groups

Characteristics	Group 1	Group 2		
Patients, n	121	58		
Age, years	33.2±4.4	32.5 ± 4.4		
BMI	22.4 ± 2.9^{a}	21.5 ± 2.6^{a}		
Regularity of menstruation	105 (86.8)	53 (91.4)		
Secondary dysmenorrhea	31 (25.6) ^b	24 (41.4) ^b		
Primary infertility	41 (33.9)	25 (43.1)		
Secondary infertility	80 (66.1)	33 (56.9)		
Duration of infertility, years	$6.1 \pm 3.3 (n = 111)$	$6.3 \pm 3.6 (n = 55)$		
Previously laparoscopically diagnosed endometriosis	19 (15.7) ^c	30 (51.7) ^c		
Adenomyosis	44 (36.4) ^d	36 (62.1) ^d		
Chronic and adhesive pelveoperitonitis	53 (43.8)	34 (58.6)		
At least one fallopian tube permeable	91 (75.2)	45 (77.6)		
Myoma of uterus	21 (17.4)	7 (12.1)		

Values for age, BMI and duration of infertility are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Figures in parentheses indicate percentages unless otherwise indicated. Groups with common superscript are different: ^a p = 0.041; ^b p = 0.032; ^c p < 0.001; ^d p = 0.001.

age, body mass index (BMI), presence of adenomyosis and severity of endometriosis was used to assess pregnancy and delivery outcomes in different study groups.

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia.

Results

General characteristics and laparoscopic findings for the two groups are presented in table 1, with no statistically significant differences between the groups regarding age, regularity of menstruation, pelveoperitonitis, fallopian tube permeability or the reproductive characteristics. The mean BMI value was higher in group 1 than in group 2 (p = 0.041). Secondary dysmenorrhea was observed more often in the group with moderate to severe endometriosis (p = 0.032). Also, the women in group 2 had adenomyosis (p = 0.001) more often than those in group 1, while the incidence of myomas (size up to 3 cm) was similar in both groups.

Comparisons and the results of GnRHa treatment and IVF used for the study groups are presented in table 2. The average duration of GnRHa therapy after surgical treatment was longer in group 2 (p = 0.021). More than 75% of the women had undergone IVF treatment; the value was the highest (89.7%) in the group with moderate to severe endometriosis who had also received GnRHa therapy. The total number of IVF and FET cycles and the average number of IVF/FET cycles per patient were similar in all groups.

Gynecol Obstet Invest 2015;79:34-39 DOI: 10.1159/000365329 Although the number of retrieved oocytes was statistically higher in group 1 (10.1 ± 5.8 vs. 7.4 ± 4.3 , p = 0.008), two embryos were transferred in IVF/FET cycles in both groups.

During this retrospective study, until 2009, 119 (66.5%) patients became pregnant, 33 (18.4%) conceived spontaneously, and 86 (48.0%) conceived through IVF. Patients with minimal to mild endometriosis conceived similarly to patients with moderate to severe endometriosis. Twenty-four (19.8%) patients from group 1 and 9 (15.5%) patients from group 2 conceived spontaneously; 25 of them (16 patients from group 1 and 9 from group 2) had undergone previous GnRHa treatment. Fifty-seven (47.1%) patients from group 1 and 29 (50.0%) patients from group 1 and 29 from group 2) had undergone previous GnRHa treatment. Seventy-seven patients (89.5% of all IVF pregnancies) conceived during the first two IVF attempts.

The overall clinical pregnancy rate for all patients was 66.5%, and altogether 81 (66.9%) patients with minimal to mild endometriosis and 38 (65.5%) patients with moderate to severe endometriosis achieved pregnancy. Seven-ty-one (58.7%) patients in group 1 and 30 (51.7%) patients in group 2 delivered. There were no significant differences in miscarriage and delivery rates between the groups with milder and more severe forms of the disease.

We were unable to demonstrate any statistical differences in total pregnancy, miscarriage and delivery rates between the patients with and without GnRHa treatment

> Sõritsa/Saare/Laisk-Podar/Peters/Sõritsa/ Matt/Karro/Salumets

Table 2. Results of treatment of endometriosis patients

Characteristics	GnRH treatment after laparoscopy							
	group 1	group 2						
	GnRH+/-	GnRH+	GnRH-	GnRH+				
Patients, n	121	76 (62.8)	45 (37.2)	58				
Age, years	33.2 ± 4.4	33.3 ± 4.7	33.0 ± 3.9	32.5 ± 4.4				
Duration of postoperative GnRH treatment, months	-	4.3 ± 1.4^{a}	-	4.9 ± 1.6^{a}				
Patients with IVF/FET treatment per all patients	89 (73.6)	57 (75.0) ^b	32 (71.1)	52 (89.7) ^b				
Total IVF cycles	142	89	53	71				
IVF cycles per IVF patient	1.6	1.6	1.7	1.4				
Total FET cycles	15	13	2	8				
FET cycles per IVF patient	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2				
Retrieved oocytes	10.1±5.8 ^c	9.7±5.5	10.7 ± 6.4	7.4±4.3 ^c				
IVF/FET cumulative pregnancies per IVF patient	57 (64.0)	37 (64.9)	20 (62.5)	29 (55.8)				
Conceived during I-II IVF attempt per all IVF/FET pregnancies	51 (89.5)	33 (89.2)	18 (90.0)	26 (89.7)				
Spontaneous pregnancies per all patients	24 (19.8)	16 (21.1)	8 (17.8)	9 (15.5)				
Total pregnancy rate per all patients	81 (66.9)	53 (69.7)	28 (62.2)	38 (65.5)				
Total miscarriage rate per all pregnancies	10 (12.3)	6 (11.3)	4 (14.3)	8 (21.1)				
Total delivery rate per all patients	71 (58.7)	47 (61.8)	24 (53.3)	30 (51.7)				

Values for age, duration of postoperative GnRH treatment and retrieved oocytes are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Figures in parentheses indicate percentages. GnRH+/– denotes patients with and without GnRH treatment. Groups with common superscript are different: ^a p = 0.021; ^b p = 0.030; ^c p = 0.008.

in group 1. This observation was equally true for those women who became pregnant following IVF as well as for those who conceived spontaneously.

Discussion

In the present retrospective study, we evaluated the effects of combined treatment approaches on endometriosis-associated infertility using laparoscopy, GnRHa therapy and IVF. Treatment of endometriosis-associated infertility is complicated and depends largely on patient age, previous treatment, duration of infertility and the severity of the disease. Optimal treatment is often difficult to choose as the course of the disease is unpredictable and sometimes causes no complaints, while on other occasions it can be aggressive and cause severe pelvic pain and infertility, being referred to as 'active endometriosis' [17]. The ASRM classification system, which is widely used, provides the stage of endometriosis but does not always correlate with the activity of the disease and the degree of pelvic pain, nor is it predictive of fertility after treatment [2, 18, 19].

The results of studies focusing on treatment options for different stages of endometriosis are conflicting, even when involving identical treatment approaches [9, 20, 21]. Thus, it is possible that the patients with the same disease stage according to the ASRM classification are actually not comparable when it comes to symptoms and activity of endometriosis [2, 22]. The ideal management approach should involve the consideration of the course of the disease, and for very active forms of endometriosis early combined treatment is recommended. It is common practice that a combination of surgery, hormonal medication and IVF is usually recommended to women with endometriosis-associated infertility. However, there are limited data about the efficiency of the various forms of treatment because the number of randomized controlled trials has so far been too small [23].

Many studies have demonstrated the benefit of curative laparoscopy in endometriosis-associated infertility treatment. The pregnancy rate achieved after operative laparoscopy was shown to be similar at all stages of endometriosis [2], which was also observed in our study. In another study, the removal of visible foci of endometriosis during laparoscopy enhanced fertility in infertile women [4]. Sometimes, endometriotic lesions may be located in places (e.g. the myometrium of the uterus or the pararectal region) where surgical removal is technically impossible or associated with an increased risk of complications; in such cases, a combined treatment approach

Gynecol Obstet Invest 2015;79:34-39 DOI: 10.1159/000365329

Endometriosis-Associated Infertility

could prove valuable. The following treatment options have been used: (a) surgical removal of endometriotic lesions, (b) laparoscopy and hysteroscopy when endometrial changes are expected (e.g. endometrial hyperplasia, uterine polyps, adenomyosis or repeated IVF failure), (c) postoperative GnRHa therapy depending on the severity of the endometriosis, and (d) in cases with indication for IVF, immediate postoperative GnRHa therapy continuing with IVF [3, 11, 12, 24, 25].

GnRH supplements are often used in the treatment of endometriosis. In cases of minimal and mild endometriosis, there is no clear view about the usefulness of GnRH therapy [20, 21]. Furthermore, the information available about the activity of endometriotic lesions in minimal to mild endometriosis is very scarce [9]. However, GnRH therapy alone without laparoscopy might be ineffective to alleviate endometriosis-associated infertility [26].

The results of our study further raised the question about the benefit of using GnRHa treatment in cases of milder forms of endometriosis unless laparoscopic surgery is continued with IVF. According to our results, with similar pregnancy and delivery rates in endometriosis patients with/without GnRHa treatment, the GnRHa treatment seems to be not advocated for patients with less severe forms of endometriosis. However, further studies are required before any final conclusion can be made about the recommended treatment protocols for endometriosis patients with milder forms.

When it comes to moderate and severe endometriosis and associated infertility, GnRH therapy after surgery should be considered the 'first-line' treatment and IVF is only indicated as a second treatment option [27]. Furthermore, several case studies where endometriosis was combined with adenomyosis have shown the efficacy of Gn-RHa therapy in enhancing pregnancy rate [28-30], although its exact fertility-improving impact is not yet entirely clear [29]. In our study, GnRHa therapy in patients with minimal to mild stages of endometriosis was mainly used when adenomyosis was observed during transvaginal ultrasonography. Thus, in our opinion, the reason for administering GnRHa medication after laparoscopy is the regulation of the menstrual cycle before starting IVF as well as the improvement in implantation in cases when endometrial pathology is detected during hysteroscopy.

Consensus opinion on the benefit of medical treatment after surgery in women with endometriosis-associated infertility has never been reached, and its real value in improving pregnancy rate and in preventing recurrence of endometriosis is uncertain [10]. According to the latest ASRM committee opinion [18] and the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists guidelines (2006; http:// www.rcog.org.uk), postoperative GnRH treatment is not recommended as no proven value is available in terms of a better pregnancy rate. Furthermore, the prolonged GnRH treatment prior to IVF may decrease the ovarian reserve as patients become older and thereby may have a deleterious effect on the pregnancy outcome. As such, urgent IVF after surgery might have some benefit over the postoperative GnRH treatment. However, other studies have still reported contrasting results and have proposed that women who are postoperatively pretreated with analogues of GnRH prior to IVF show better pregnancy rates [11, 12, 31].

Our results confirm that the use of combined treatment can lead to good pregnancy rate, even in patients with moderate to severe endometriosis. Namely, the percentage of women who conceived after treatment of endometriosis in our study (overall pregnancy rate of 66.5%) is comparable to that reported by other authors [32, 33]. Also, our findings emphasize the importance of using combined treatment for infertility patients affected by endometriosis of different stages and in the case of coexisting adenomyosis. In contrast, there is evidence that adenomyosis has a negative impact on the pregnancy outcome [34]. However, the results of our study suggested that the pregnancy rate was not affected by the higher frequency of adenomyosis in the patients with more severe stages of endometriosis compared to the patients with minimal to mild endometriosis.

Certain limitations of this study must be underlined. Firstly, it is a retrospective follow-up study, with patients undergoing curative laparoscopy during 4 years. Secondly, there were no patients without GnRHa treatment in the group with severe endometriosis. This is because the benefits of the GnRHa treatment in cases of severe endometriosis are clearly proved [12, 27]. Therefore, we were unable to estimate the pregnancy rate in patients with more severe stages of the disease, but without the GnRH treatment.

However, the strong point of this study is that all patients were treated by one gynecologist, eliminating the differences in surgery techniques and biases in diagnosing and interpreting the occurrence and progression of the disease.

In conclusion, we found that the outcome of infertility treatment among patients with different stages of endometriosis was not affected by the different approaches used. Sixty-six percent of the studied endometriosis-associated infertility patients conceived and 56% delivered during the study period. Patients with minimal to mild endometriosis conceived similarly (either spontaneously or through IVF) to those who had moderate to severe endometriosis.

Gynecol Obstet Invest 2015;79:34–39 DOI: 10.1159/000365329 Sõritsa/Saare/Laisk-Podar/Peters/Sõritsa/ Matt/Karro/Salumets

Acknowledgement

This research was funded by grant SF0180044s09 from the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research and by Enterprise Estonia, grant No. EU30020. This research was supported by the European Union through the European Social Fund.

Disclosure Statement

The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

References

- Eskenazi B, Warner ML: Epidemiology of endometriosis. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am 1997;24:235–258.
- 2 Vercellini P, Fedele L, Aimi G, De Giorgi O, Consonni D, Crosignani PG: Reproductive performance, pain recurrence and disease relapse after conservative surgical treatment for endometriosis: the predictive value of the current classification system. Hum Reprod 2006; 21:2679–2685.
- 3 Jacobson TZ, Duffy JM, Barlow D, Farquhar C, Koninckx PR, Olive D: Laparoscopic surgery for subfertility associated with endometriosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010;CD001398.
- 4 Marcoux S, Maheux R, Berube S; Canadian Collaborative Group on Endometriosis: Laparoscopic surgery in infertile women with minimal or mild endometriosis. N Engl J Med 1997;337:217–222.
- 5 Hughes EG, Fedorkow DM, Collins JA: A quantitative overview of controlled trials in endometriosis-associated infertility. Fertil Steril 1993;59:963–970.
- 6 Dousset B, Leconte M, Borghese B, Millischer AE, Roseau G, Arkwright S, Chapron C: Complete surgery for low rectal endometriosis: long-term results of a 100-case prospective study. Ann Surg 2010;251:887–895.
- 7 Donnez J, Squifflet J, Pirard C, Jadoul P, Wyns C, Smets M: The efficacy of medical and surgical treatment of endometriosis-associated infertility and pelvic pain. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2002;54:2–10.
- 8 Busacca M, Vignali M: Endometrioma excision and ovarian reserve: a dangerous relation. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2009;16:142– 148.
- 9 Donnez J, Chantraine F, Nisolle M: The efficacy of medical and surgical treatment of endometriosis-associated infertility: arguments in favour of a medico-surgical approach. Hum Reprod Update 2002;8:89–94.
- Bulletin AP: Medical management of endometriosis. Int J Obstet Gynecol 2000;71:183– 196.
- 11 Surrey ES, Silverberg KM, Surrey MW, Schoolcraft WB: Effect of prolonged gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist therapy on the outcome of in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer in patients with endometriosis. Fertil Steril 2002;78:699–704.

- 12 Sallam HN, Garcia-Velasco J, Dias S, Arici A: Long-term pituitary down-regulation before in vitro fertilization (IVF) for women with endometriosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;CD004635.
- 13 de Ziegler D, Borghese B, Chapron C: Endometriosis and infertility: pathophysiology and management. Lancet 2010;376:730–738.
- 14 Somigliana E, Vercellini P, Vigano P, Ragni G, Crosignani PG: Should endometriomas be treated before IVF-ICSI cycles? Hum Reprod Update 2006;12:57–64.
- 15 Littman E, Giudice L, Lathi R, Berker B, Milki A, Nezhat C: Role of laparoscopic treatment of endometriosis in patients with failed in vitro fertilization cycles. Fertil Steril 2005;84: 1574–1578.
- 16 American Society for Reproductive Medicine: Revised American Society for Reproductive Medicine classification of endometriosis: 1996. Fertil Steril 1997;67:817–821.
- 17 Vercellini P, Trespidi L, De Giorgi O, Cortesi I, Parazzini F, Crosignani PG: Endometriosis and pelvic pain: relation to disease stage and localization. Fertil Steril 1996;65:299–304.
- 18 The Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine: Endometriosis and infertility: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril 2012;98:591–598.
- 19 Zeng C, Xu JN, Zhou Y, Zhou YF, Zhu SN, Xue Q: Reproductive performance after surgery for endometriosis: predictive value of the Revised American Fertility Society Classification and the endometriosis fertility index. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2014;77:180-185.
- 20 Bulletti C, Coccia ME, Battistoni S, Borini A: Endometriosis and infertility. J Assist Reprod Genet 2010;27:441–447.
- 21 Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine: Endometriosis and infertility. Fertil Steril 2006;86:S156– S160.
- 22 Roberts CP, Rock JA: The current staging system for endometriosis: does it help? Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am 2003;30:115–132.
- 23 Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine: Treatment of pelvic pain associated with endometriosis. Fertil Steril 2006;86:518–527.
- 24 Fuchs F, Raynal P, Salama S, Guillot E, Le Tohic A, Chis C, Panel P: Reproductive outcome after laparoscopic treatment of endometriosis in an infertile population. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris) 2007;36:354–359.

25 Boudhraa K, Jellouli MA, Kassaoui O, Ben Aissia N, Ouerhani R, Triki A, Gara MF: Role of the hysteroscopy and laparoscopy in management of the female infertility: about 200 cases. Tunis Med 2009:87:55–60.

- 26 Hughes E, Brown J, Collins JJ, Farquhar C, Fedorkow DM, Vandekerckhove P: Ovulation suppression for endometriosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;CD000155.
- 27 Pouly JL, Canis M, Velemir L, Brugnon F, Rabischong B, Botchorichvili R, Jardon K, Peikrishvili R, Mage G, Janny L: Endometriosis related infertility (in French). J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod 2007;36:151–161.
- 28 Huang FJ, Kung FT, Chang SY, Hsu TY: Effects of short-course buserelin therapy on adenomyosis. A report of two cases. J Reprod Med 1999;44:741–744.
- 29 Lin J, Sun C, Zheng H: Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists and laparoscopy in the treatment of adenomyosis with infertility. Chin Med J 2000;113:442–445.
- 30 Silva PD, Perkins HE, Schauberger CW: Live birth after treatment of severe adenomyosis with a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist. Fertil Steril 1994;61:171–172.
- 31 Rickes D, Nickel I, Kropf S, Kleinstein J: Increased pregnancy rates after ultralong postoperative therapy with gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogs in patients with endometriosis. Fertil Steril 2002;78:757–762.
- 32 Loverro G, Carriero C, Rossi AC, Putignano G, Nicolardi V, Selvaggi L: A randomized study comparing triptorelin or expectant management following conservative laparo-scopic surgery for symptomatic stage III–IV endometriosis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2008;136:194–198.
- 33 Barri PN, Coroleu B, Tur R, Barri-Soldevila PN, Rodríguez I: Endometriosis-associated infertility: surgery and IVF, a comprehensive therapeutic approach. Reprod Biomed Online 2010;21:179–185.
- 34 Yan L, Ding L, Tang R, Chen ZJ: Effect of adenomyosis on in vitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes in infertile women: a retrospective cohort study. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2014;77:14–18.

Endometriosis-Associated Infertility

Gynecol Obstet Invest 2015;79:34-39 DOI: 10.1159/000365329

Sõritsa D, Mäestu E, Nuut M, Mäestu J, Migueles JH, Läänelaid S, Ehrenberg A, Sekavin A, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, Ortega FB, Altmäe S. Maternal physical activity and sedentary behaviour before and during in vitro fertilization treatment: a longitudinal study exploring the associations with controlled ovarian stimulation and pregnancy outcomes. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2020;37(8):1869–1881.

ASSISTED REPRODUCTION TECHNOLOGIES

Maternal physical activity and sedentary behaviour before and during in vitro fertilization treatment: a longitudinal study exploring the associations with controlled ovarian stimulation and pregnancy outcomes

Deniss Söritsa^{1,2} • Evelin Mäestu³ • Margit Nuut⁴ • Jarek Mäestu³ • Jairo H. Migueles⁵ • Siret Läänelaid^{6,7} • Aivar Ehrenberg⁴ • Aire Sekavin⁴ • Andrei Sõritsa² • Andres Salumets^{1,8,9} • Francisco B. Ortega^{5,10} • Signe Altmäe^{8,11,12}

Received: 21 January 2020 / Accepted: 16 June 2020

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2020

Abstract

Purpose To evaluate the association of objectively measured physical activity (PA) and sedentary behaviour before and during in vitro fertilization (IVF) with controlled ovarian stimulation (COS) and pregnancy outcomes.

Methods This longitudinal study involved 107 infertile women undergoing IVF treatment. PA and sedentary behaviour were measured for 14 consecutive days using accelerometry as follows: (1) before IVF treatment, (2) during IVF at the implantation time, immediately after embryo transfer, and (3) after positive pregnancy test. Total screen time was assessed by questionnaires. COS results were measured as the number of oocytes and embryos obtained, and the study outcomes included positive hCG, clinical pregnancy, and live birth.

Results Compared with baseline activity levels, women significantly reduced their PA and increased sedentary behaviour during IVF ($p \le 0.001$). Higher average PA, light PA, and ratio between breaks in every ≥ 30 -min blocks of sedentary time showed positive associations, while sedentary time, number, and time accumulated in blocks of ≥ 30 min of sedentary time associated negatively with oocyte and embryo counts (all p < 0.05). Women with high total screen time during non-work days (≥ 7 h) obtained 4.7 oocytes (p = 0.005) and 2.8 embryos (p = 0.008) less in COS. PA and sedentary behaviour before and during IVF did not affect the positive hCG, clinical pregnancy, and live birth outcomes.

Key message Higher levels of light physical activity and shorter sedentary behaviour and screen-watching times before entering infertility treatment associate with better ovarian stimulation outcomes under IVF treatment protocols.

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-020-01864-w) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Signe Altmäe signealtmae@ugr.es

- ¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu, 51014 Tartu, Estonia
- ² Elite Clinic, 50407 Tartu, Estonia
- ³ Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Sport Sciences and Physiotherapy, University of Tartu, 51014 Tartu, Estonia
- ⁴ Tartu University Hospital's Women's Clinic, 51014 Tartu, Estonia
- ⁵ PROFITH 'PROmoting FITness and Health through physical activity' Research Group, Department of Physical Education and Sports, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Granada, 18071 Granada, Spain

- ⁶ Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, 50411 Tartu, Estonia
- ⁷ Tartu Health Care College, 50411 Tartu, Estonia
- ⁸ Competence Centre on Health Technologies, 50410 Tartu, Estonia
- ⁹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, FI-00029 HUS Helsinki, Finland
- ¹⁰ Department of Biosciences and Nutrition, NOVUM, Karolinska Institutet, 14183 Huddinge, Sweden
- ¹¹ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Sciences, University of Granada, Avda. Fuente Nueva S/N, 18071 Granada, Spain
- ¹² Instituto de Investigación Biosanitaria ibs.GRANADA, Granada, Spain

Published online: 23 June 2020

Deringer

Conclusion Our study results suggest that higher time spent in PA and lower time spent in sedentary behaviour before entering assisted reproduction is associated with better COS outcomes, while activity levels before and during IVF do not affect the implantation, pregnancy, and live birth outcomes.

Keywords Controlled ovarian stimulation · In vitro fertilization · Physical activity · Pregnancy outcome · Sedentary behaviour

Introduction

Infertility is a growing medical and global public health concern [1], with a prevalence of 12–15% of couples in childbearing age [2]. Infertility is experienced by an estimated 48.5 million couples worldwide, and is steadily increasing with the trend to delay the time of first pregnancy in developed countries, and now also in developing countries [3]. Even though the development of assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs) and the constant improvements in the treatment protocols have helped many infertile couples to achieve pregnancy, the rates of pregnancy and live births among all ARTtreated couples still remain \sim 30% per treatment cycle [4]. Ways to improve ARTs outcomes have become a critical topic for both clinicians and couples undergoing infertility treatment.

Several of the most influential factors of infertility treatment, such as female age and genetic factors, are non-modifiable, while there is emerging evidence that modifiable factors, like smoking, weight, nutrition, or physical activity (PA) among others, can influence assisted reproduction [5, 6]. In fact, comparative studies indicate that PA intervention may be as effective as other clinical interventions used for improving reproductive health outcomes, while the type, intensity, frequency, and duration of optimal PA remain unclear [7]. The American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists recommends pregnant women to engage in moderate intensity exercise for at least 30 min most days per week [8], and suggests for overweight women to lose weight and become more physically active prior to pregnancy [9]. There are, however, no specific guidelines of PA for women attempting conception or women undergoing infertility treatment. In fact, no consensus has been reached regarding the effect of PA before/during ART on pregnancy outcome [10]. The few studies of female PA and infertility treatment success have produced mixed results, where higher PA has been associated with decreased embryo implantation and live birth in in vitro fertilization (IVF) [11], no effect [5, 1, 2], or others have reported beneficial effect of PA on IVF outcomes [10, 13-16]. Nevertheless, in all these studies, PA was measured using self-reported questionnaires, which are prone to recall bias and reliance problems [6], and clearly, more studies evaluating objectively PA effects on assisted reproduction are needed.

High levels of sedentary behaviour, any waking behaviour characterized by a very low energy expenditure while in a sitting or reclining posture, on the other hand, have been associated with many detrimental health consequences [17], but its effect on infertility treatment outcomes remains unexplored. Another important unexplored question to clinical practice is what PA levels to recommend for women after embryo transfer, during the 2 weeks of critical time of embryo implantation and early pregnancy establishment. Clarifying the role of PA and sedentary behaviour in infertility treatment, using objective methods for assessing PA and sedentary behaviour, may help to provide the long-sought-after PA recommendations for women undergoing infertility treatment.

The objective of this study was to examine the associations of objectively measured PA and sedentary behaviour before and during assisted reproduction with IVF treatment outcomes.

Materials and methods

This longitudinal study was carried out among infertile women in reproductive age, entering IVF/ICSI (intracytoplasmic sperm injection) treatment cycle and receiving fresh embryo transfer (ET) at Elite Clinic and Tartu University Hospital's Women's Clinic, Estonia from January 2013 to December 2016. IVF treatment cycles with donor oocytes were excluded. After a detailed explanation, in total, 107 women agreed to participate in the study (see Fig. 1 for the study design). Power calculation analyses showed that sample size of 100 participants with an alpha error of 5% and a power of 90% would be enough to detect an association of an effect size of 10% variance explained of the study outcomes. At enrolment, all participants were asked to fill out a questionnaire of general characteristics, and reproductive health. Patient's measurements of weight, height, and waist and hip circumference were obtained by an assistant nurse. The BMI was calculated as weight (kg)/height² (m).

IVF treatment protocol was conducted according to the gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) antagonist or agonist protocols. All patients started recombinant FSH (Gonal F, Merck Serono, Italy; or Bemfola, Finox Biotech AG, Switzerland) injections on day 2–7 of menses, continuing daily for $9 \pm 2-3$ days until 3 follicles achieved 18 mm of diameter, and human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) (Merck Serono, Italy) was administered. The controlled ovarian stimulation (COS) follow-up included 3–4 ultrasound assessments



Fig. 1 Study design. Three time points for physical activity (PA)/ sedentary behaviour and 5 time points for infertility treatment outcomes were assessed in this longitudinal study. PA and sedentary behaviour were measured for 14 consecutive days using accelerometry at each of the three time points: (1) before IVF treatment, (2) during IVF at the

of endometrium and follicular growth. Final follicular maturation was achieved using 250 mcg of hCG followed by oocyte retrieval 36 h later.

Patients who received IVF or ICSI were both included (later indicated in conjunction as 'IVF'). Embryo transfer (ET) was done after COS on days 2 to 5. A serum pregnancy test, referred to as positive hCG, was performed on 14 ± 2 days after ET and considered to be positive if β -hCG > 10 mLU/mL. The ultrasound evaluation for defining clinical pregnancy was performed 6 weeks after oocyte retrieval, and was considered positive in the presence of at least one intrauterine gestational sac and cardiac activity on ultrasound. Live birth was abstracted from medical records.

All women were Caucasians. Patients did not receive any restrictions or recommendations for PA during the infertility treatment. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Tartu, and written informed consent was obtained from all subjects before their participation.

Assessment of PA and sedentary behaviour

PA and sedentary behaviour were measured for 14 consecutive days using accelerometry at each of the three time points as follows: (1) before IVF treatment, (2) during IVF at the implantation time, immediately after embryo transfer, and (3) after positive pregnancy test (see Fig. 1 for the study design).

implantation time, immediately after embryo transfer, and (3) after positive pregnancy test. Total screen time was measured at the baseline, before any IVF treatment, using a questionnaire. The study outcomes included the number of oocytes and embryos obtained after COS, and positive hCG test, clinical pregnancy, and live birth

Uniaxial accelerometers GT1M (ActiGraph LLC, FL, USA) were placed on participants' waists to objectively assess PA and sedentary activities' time. Detailed information on accelerometer assessment is described elsewhere [18]. Briefly, patients were asked to wear accelerometers for 14 consecutive days and to only remove them for swimming, bathing, and sleeping. Three measurements of PA and sedentary behaviour, up to 14 days each, were performed within the study as follows: (1) one to 6 months before IVF, termed as baseline activity; (2) after ET, starting from the day after the embryo transfer (embryo implantation time); and (3) after positive serum pregnancy test, from the next day after the test (early pregnancy establishment) (Fig. 1).

ActiLife software version 6.10.2 (ActiGraph LLC, FL, USA) was used to process accelerometer data. Accelerometer's output consists in a score calculated in a minute basis intended to measure movement, usually referred to as 'activity counts'. Non-wear time was defined using algorithm proposed by Choi et al. [19, 20], which consists of 90 min of consecutive 0 cpm with an allowance of 2 min of activity when it is placed between two 30-min windows of 0 cpm. This algorithm outperformed other algorithms on the detection of non-wear time according to our recent systematic review on accelerometry's data analyses methods [21]. Only women wearing the accelerometer for at least 10 h/day for 4 or more days were included into the analysis (N=98) [21].

PA is usually classified into different intensity categories, i.e., different levels of energy expenditure required to perform certain PA, usually measured as metabolic equivalents. Metabolic equivalents are usually measured as oxygen consumption relative to body weight per minute (ml/kg/min). In this regard, all activities occurring below 1.5 metabolic equivalents in a seated or reclined posture are considered sedentary behaviour. PA requiring energy expenditure between 1.5 and 3 metabolic equivalents is considered of light intensity, and between 3 and 6 metabolic equivalents is considered moderate PA. Vigorous PA included the activities requiring hard physical effort and they require more than 6 metabolic equivalents.

Accelerometers are unable to measure the energy expenditure required to perform PA, but the existing linear relationship between movement/accelerations, expressed as cpm, and metabolic equivalents allow to estimate PA intensity using validated cpm cut-points [22]. In this regard, we calculated time per day spent at different intensities of PA using the Freedson's cut-points [22]. Briefly, sedentary time, light PA, moderate PA, and vigorous PA were considered when cpm accumulation was < 100 cpm, 100-1951 cpm, 1952-5724 cpm and > 5724 cpm, respectively [22]. Moderate-tovigorous PA (MVPA) was calculated by summing the time spent at moderate and vigorous PA. Average physical activity, expressed as mean cpm, was computed as the sum of counts per all valid days divided by the total wear time in minutes in these days. Beyond, as maintained time in certain behaviours can be important of health outcomes [23], the number and time spent in bouts of at least 10 min of MVPA and 30 min of sedentary time were computed. An interruption up to 2 min below or above the threshold (i.e. < 1952 cpm for MVPA and >100 cpm for sedentary time, respectively) was allowed to consider bouts of activity. A variable of sedentary breaks was also computed as the total number of 'breaks' during continuous sedentary bouts. Finally, we computed a ratio between the number of breaks divided by the total time accumulated in 30 min (or longer) bouts of sedentary time.

In addition to the objectively measured PA and sedentary time, the women filled in a questionnaire, where different screen times (TV watching, DVD, computer) were assessed by asking women to indicate the total screen time spent during the last 5 work days and total screen time spent during the last non-work days (e.g. weekend). These questions were obtained from previous large-scale surveys and have shown good reliability, validity, and relation with health outcomes [24].

Statistical analyses

Descriptive characteristics of the sample and baseline PA/ sedentary behaviour were calculated. The intra-subject changes in PA/sedentary behaviour from baseline (before starting infertility treatment) to the implantation period (2 weeks onwards from embryo transfer) were tested using repeated measured analysis of variance (ANOVA) models. Associations of baseline PA/sedentary variables with oocytes and embryos obtained after hormonal stimulation were examined using linear regression models, after adjustment for a set of potential confounders selected based on existing clinical knowledge: accelerometer registered time, age, body mass index, educational level, smoking, infertility diagnosis, infertility duration, and the amount of follicle stimulation hormone administered. Finally, the associations of PA/sedentary levels at different time points (i.e. baseline, after embryo transfer, and after positive serum hCG pregnancy test) or changes from baseline to implantation period with different pregnancy outcomes (i.e. positive hCG, clinical pregnancy, and live birth) were examined using binary logistic regression models after adjustment for the same set of confounders. Further, we tested whether PA/sedentary levels at the three different time points varied between women who became pregnant and those who did not (positive hCG, positive clinical pregnancy, and live birth) using one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) models, with the PA/sedentary variables as dependent variables (one per model), the pregnancy groups (Yes vs. No) as fixed factor, and the same confounders previously selected. Next, we performed isotemporal substitution modelling (also called reallocation modelling, which is becoming more frequently used in the field of sport sciences [25, 26]. The isotemporal concept is based on the assumption that the sum of time spent in sedentary activities, plus those of light intensity, plus those of moderate-to-vigorous intensity (MVPA) result in the total waking time registered by the accelerometer, so that if a woman increases the time spent in one of the components (e.g. light PA), the time spent in another component (e.g. sedentary time) must be reduced proportionally if the rest of components remain unchanged. Statistically, this is handled with linear regression models entering all the activity/sedentary variables (e.g. total registered time, light PA, and MVPA) except one (e.g. sedentary time), plus all the potential confounders.

All analyses were performed using the IBM-SPSS software, version 20.0. Armonk, NY, USA. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05 for all the analyses.

Results

Characteristics

Characteristics of the study sample are presented in Table 1. In total, 107 women agreed to participate in this longitudinal study, but as 6 women cancelled the IVF treatment, the final number of women for the analyses remained 101. Majority of women (70%) underwent infertility treatment because of male factor infertility, unexplained infertility, tubal factor infertility, advanced age, or because of no partner. Seven per cent of women were infertile due to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and 23% due to endometriosis. The average time of infertility in the study group was 4.6 years. Following IVF/

J Assist Reprod Genet

in vitro fertilization, IVF)			
	n	Mean	SD
Age (years)	101	33.5	4.1
Height (cm)	101	167.1	5.5
Weight (kg)	101	66.9	12.8
BMI (kg/m ²)	101	23.9	4.4
Infertility duration (years)	101	4.6	3.5
Total FSH dose (IU)	100	1560.7	575.0
Oocytes retrieved	101	11.6	7.1
Embryos obtained	101	6.6	4.5
Embryos transferred	101	1.5	0.6
		Frequency	%
Weight status (UW/NW/OW/OB)	101	7/61/23/10	6.9/60.4/22.8/9.9
Smoking (0/1/2)	101	57/36/8	56.4/35.6/7.9
Education (university)	101	65	64.4
Diagnosis (0/1/2)	101	71/7/23	70.3/6.9/22.8
Menstrual cycle (regular)	101	87	86.1
IVF protocol (agonist)	101	72	71.3
IVF/ICSI (IVF)	101	39	38.6
ET stage (2-3 day)	101	59	62.8
hCG (positive)	101	44	43.6
Clinical pregnancy (positive)	101	40	39.6
Live birth (yes)	101	29	28.7

 Table 1
 Characteristics of the study population (patients undergoing in vitro fertilization, IVF)

BMI body mass index, *ET* embryo transfer, *FSH* follicle stimulating hormone, *ICSI* intracytoplasmic sperm injection, *IVF* in vitro fertilization, *UW* underweight if BMI < 18.5 kg/m², *NW* normal-weight if BMI between 18.5 and 24.9 kg/m², *OW* overweight if BMI between 25.0 and 29.9 kg/m², and *OB* obese if BMI \geq 30 kg/m²

ET - embryo transfer

SD standard deviation

Smoking was coded as 0 = never, 1 = formerly, and 2 = currently

Educational level was coded as 0 = under university and 1 = university Diagnosis group 0—infertility is due to male factor infertility, unexplained infertility, tubal factor, female age, or no partner, Diagnosis group 1—infertility is due to PCOS (including male factor infertility and PCOS; tubal factor and PCOS); Diagnosis group 2—infertility is due to endometriosis (including women with endometriosis and spouses' male factor infertility)

Menstrual cycle was coded as regular vs. irregular

IVF protocol was coded as agonist vs. antagonist

IVF/ICSI was coded as IVF vs. ICSI

ET stage was coded as 2-3 day vs. blastocyst

hCG test and clinical pregnancy were coded as positive vs. negative Live birth was coded as yes vs. no.

ICSI, 43.6% of women had a positive hCG test, 39.6% of women had clinical pregnancy and finally 28.7% of women gave live birth. As twin pregnancy was only reported for six (15%) out of 40 women with clinical pregnancy, we were unable to perform any analyses to assess the associations between PA/sedentary patterns and twinning rate. Spare embryos from 50 women were frozen for future embryo transfers, but as most of them are still being stored, we were not able to calculate the PA and sedentary behaviour effects on cumulative pregnancy rate.

Baseline PA and sedentary behaviour among women before infertility treatment are presented in Supplementary Table 1. The compliance wearing the accelerometer was high, i.e. although the minimum required to be included in the analyses was 4 days with ≥ 10 wearing hours (N = 98), among those included, 90% of them had 10 valid days or more registered (N = 88). When comparing the baseline activity levels of the infertile women, i.e. before IVF, with their PA levels during the IVF treatment, specifically at the time of embryo implantation, the women significantly reduced their PA levels and increased sedentary time as follows: average PA reduced 18% (p < 0.001), light PA reduced 6% (p = 0.001), MVPA reduced 27% (p < 0.001), MVPA accumulated blocks of 10 min reduced 39% (p < 0.001), vigorous PA reduced 72% (p = 0.008), and number of steps per day reduced 14% (p < 0.001), while daily total sedentary time increased 4% (p < 0.001) and sedentary time accumulated in 30-min blocks increased 9% (p < 0.001) (Fig. 2).

Relationships between baseline PA and sedentary behaviour with COS outcomes

Linear regression analysis of the associations of PA/sedentary variables with oocytes and embryos obtained after COS are summarized in Table 2. The average PA (p = 0.04), light PA (p = 0.03), and ratio between breaks in every 30-min sedentary time (p = 0.002) showed positive association with the number of oocytes obtained in COS, while sedentary time (p = 0.02), number of 30-min blocks of sedentarism (p = 0.02), and time accumulated in ≥ 30 -min blocks of sedentarism (p = 0.01) associated negatively with the oocyte count in COS (Table 2).

Regarding the obtained embryos in COS and IVF, light PA (p = 0.03) and ratio between breaks in every 30-min sedentary time (p = 0.01) showed positive association with the number of embryos obtained, while sedentary time (p = 0.03), number of 30-min blocks of sedentarism (p = 0.01), and time accumulated of 30-min blocks of sedentarism (p = 0.04) associated negatively with the number of obtained embryos.

When assessing the self-reported total screen time spent during work days and non-work days, the women with high self-reported total screen time during non-work days (≥ 7 h TV, DVD, computer screen time) obtained 4.7 oocytes (p = 0.005) and 2.8 embryos (p = 0.008) less in COS than women with low-medium screen time (Fig. 3).

Next, we performed an isotemporal analysis of the time spent in different intensities of baseline PA and sedentarism in association with the number of oocytes and embryos obtained in COS (Fig. 4). This analysis predicted that if a woman increased her daily light PA for 1.5 h, thereby reducing her daily sedentary behaviour for 1.5 h, she would obtain 1.8

D Springer

Fig. 2 Changes in physical activity and sedentary behaviour from baseline levels to the infertility treatment procedure, at the period of embryo implantation (14 days registered after embryo transfer) (N = 79 women with valid accelerometer data at both time points). PA, physical activity; MVPA, moderate-tovigorous PA. P values report the significance of the intra-subject changes tested by repeated measured analysis of variance (ANOVA). The ranges (min. and max.) of the scale used in the Y axes are based on the percentile 25 and 75 of the present study sample



oocytes and 1.2 embryos more under COS (p = 0.03 and p = 0.03, respectively).

Relationships between PA and sedentary behaviour with pregnancy outcomes

Logistic regression analysis of possible associations of PA/ sedentary behaviour at different time points (at baseline and during IVF) with IVF outcomes such as positive hCG, clinical pregnancy, and live birth are presented in Tables 3 and 4. No

D Springer

statistically significant association of different PA and sedentary indicators with IVF outcomes were detected.

Next, we analysed whether changes in PA/sedentary behaviour from baseline to implantation were associated with pregnancy outcomes. When the analyses of Tables 3 and 4 were conducted using changes in PA and sedentary time from baseline to implantation period, the results were consistent to those shown in the tables, i.e. no significant associations were observed. Likewise, no significant association was found when entering into the model activity/sedentary behaviour of a person in a specific time point plus the change observed over

 Table 2
 Associations of baseline physical activity and sedentary time with controlled ovarian stimulation (COS) outcome – oocytes retrieved and embryos developed (N=97)

	Oocytes				Embryos						
	UnStnd. B	Lower CI	Upper CI	Stnd. B	p value	UnStnd. B	Lower CI	Upper CI	Stnd. B	p value	
Average PA (counts/min)	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.21	0.04	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.19	0.07	
Sedentary time (hours/day)	-1.29	-2.36	-0.22	-0.29	0.02	-0.77	-1.46	-0.08	-0.27	0.03	
Light PA (hours/day)	1.25	0.13	2.37	0.23	0.03	0.79	0.07	1.50	0.23	0.03	
Moderate PA (min/day)	0.04	-0.05	0.12	0.09	0.40	0.01	-0.05	0.06	0.03	0.78	
Vigorous PA (min/day)	0.06	-0.19	0.31	0.05	0.64	0.06	-0.10	0.22	0.08	0.44	
MVPA (min/day)	0.04	-0.04	0.12	0.11	0.30	0.01	-0.04	0.06	0.05	0.61	
10 min bouts of MVPA (No./day)	0.64	-1.94	3.22	0.06	0.62	-0.57	-2.21	1.07	-0.08	0.49	
Time accumulated in 10 min bouts of MVPA (min/day)	-0.01	-0.11	0.10	-0.01	0.93	-0.03	-0.09	0.04	-0.09	0.45	
30 min bouts of sedentarism (No./day)	-0.88	-1.59	-0.18	-0.27	0.02	-0.58	-1.03	-0.13	-0.28	0.01	
Time accumulated in 30 min bouts of sedentarism (hours/day)	-0.87	-1.55	-0.19	-0.28	0.01	-0.47	-0.91	-0.03	-0.24	0.04	
Ratio breaks:sedentary time in 30 min bouts (No./hours each day)	9.79	3.74	15.85	0.34	0.002	5.12	1.18	9.05	0.28	0.01	
Steps (1000/day)	0.21	-0.36	0.77	0.08	0.47	0.06	-0.30	0.42	0.03	0.75	

Linear regression models adjusted for accelerometer registered time, age, body mass index, educational level (university vs. below university), smoking (never, before but not now and currently), infertility diagnosis (see Table 1 for coding), infertility duration (years), and follicle stimulation hormone administered. Exploratory additional adjustments for treatment protocol (agonist/antagonist) or infertility centre did not alter the results

PA physical activity, MVPA moderate-to-vigorous PA, CI confidence intervals, UnStnd. unstandardized beta coefficient B, Stnd. B standardized beta coefficient

time. Moreover, those women with proven positive hCG pregnancy tests were asked to wear the accelerometer for 14 more days to test whether the PA and sedentary behaviour at that period of pregnancy had any relation with the risk of miscarriage and early pregnancy establishment. We observed no statistically significant associations (data not shown).

In further exploratory analyses, we tested whether PA and sedentary behaviour at the different time points (baseline, after ET, after positive hCG test) differed between women who became pregnant and those who did not using ANCOVA models and adjusting for the same set of confounders as in the logistic regression models indicated in Tables 2, 3, and 4. The results showed no significant differences in PA and sedentary behaviour between women who had a successful pregnancy and those who did not (in all cases P > 0.1, data not shown). Further, no associations between IVF outcomes and total screen time spent during work days and non-work days were detected (data not shown).

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study where PA and sedentary behaviour is objectively measured for 14 days before any infertility treatment and for 4 weeks during IVF procedure, 14 days after ET and 14 days after positive pregnancy test, in order to closely observe how the activity levels relate to IVF outcomes. In our cohort of infertile women, higher baseline light PA and lower baseline sedentary behaviour were associated with higher number of oocytes and embryos obtained in IVF, while PA and sedentary behaviour before and during IVF did not affect the implantation, pregnancy, and live birth outcomes in fresh embryo transfers. These associations suggest that lifestyle changes such as increase in PA and reduction of sedentary time may positively influence ovarian hyperstimulation under ART protocols. Indeed, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis concluded that PA may be an affordable and feasible alternative or complementary therapy to fertility treatments [7]. In our study, increased PA and reduced sedentary time support obtaining higher number of oocytes and embryos per COS at ovarian puncture, leading to more embryos available for spare embryo freezing. In fact, a recent study shows that higher oocyte yield is independently associated with more embryos obtained and higher cumulative live birth rates [27]. Nevertheless, due to the limited number of patients enrolled in our study, we cannot directly prove that higher PA and decreased sedentary behaviour are related to higher cumulative pregnancy rate combining the pregnancies from fresh and all frozenthawed embryo transfers. This seems highly likely and should be demonstrated in larger patient cohorts. Our study findings also suggest that PA (at the levels observed in our study) during the most vulnerable period of establishing a



Fig. 3 Differences in the number of oocytes and embryos obtained after controlled ovarian stimulation according to different levels of selfreported screen time in work days and during non-work days (N = 98). Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) models with oocytes or embryos as dependent variables (in separate models), groups of screen time as fixed factors, and a set of potential confounders as covariates: age, body mass index, educational level (university ys. below university), smoking (never, before but not now and currently), infertility diagnosis (see Table 1 for

pregnancy, e.g., after embryo transfer and until confirmation of a clinical pregnancy, is not harmful for the IVF procedure to succeed.

coding), infertility duration (years), and follicle stimulation hormone administered. High screen time was defined as belonging to the 3rd tertile, while low-middle screen time was defined as belonging to 1st or 2nd tertiles. High screen time in the non-work days (i.e. 3rd tertile) was equivalent to watch screens (TV, DVD, computers) for 7 h or more during the non-work days, i.e. about 3–4 h per day. When high screen time was defined using the 4th quartile instead of 3rd tertile, the results were consistent

The mechanisms through which PA affect fecundability could be as follows: (1) PA may influence ovarian function by altering production of oestrogens and other steroid



Fig. 4 Graphical illustration of the accelerometer isotemporal analyses showing the association of the time spent in different intensities of physical and sedentarism activities with oocytes and embryos obtained after stimulation in our study group (N=98). The interpretation of this model is that by a given value of MVPA and registered time, an increase in, for example, 1.5 h in light PA accumulated during the whole day (slow walking, slow biking, some houseworks, etc.) should be mirrored by a

decrease in sedentary time (the only variable left out of the model), which in turn would result in the change in the dependent variable indicated by the unstandardized regression coefficient. In our study, the regression coefficient for oocytes and embryos of the described models were 1.8 (P = 0.03) and 1.2 (P = 0.03), respectively (these values were rounded to the closest entire number in the figure for simplicity)

2 Springer

J Assist Reprod Genet

Table 3 Associations of baseline physical activity and sedentary time with in vitro fertilization (IVF) outcomes (N = 97)

Baseline physical and sedentary activities Positive hCG			Clinica	l pregnancy		Live birth			
(14 days registered)	OR	Lower CI	Upper CI	OR	Lower CI	Upper CI	OR	Lower CI	Upper CI
Average PA (counts/min)	1.00	0.99	1.00	1.00	0.99	1.00	1.00	0.99	1.00
Sedentary time (hours/day)	1.09	0.79	1.52	1.06	0.76	1.48	1.08	0.75	1.57
Light PA (hours/day)	0.95	0.68	1.34	1.01	0.71	1.43	0.96	0.65	1.41
Moderate PA (min/day)	0.99	0.97	1.02	0.99	0.96	1.01	0.99	0.96	1.02
Vigorous PA (min/day)	0.93	0.82	1.04	0.93	0.83	1.05	0.95	0.83	1.09
MVPA (min/day)	0.99	0.96	1.01	0.98	0.95	1.01	0.99	0.96	1.02
10-min bouts of MVPA (No./day)	1.07	0.51	2.26	0.80	0.36	1.77	0.86	0.35	2.11
Time accumulated in 10 min bouts of MVPA (min/day)	0.99	0.96	1.02	0.99	0.95	1.02	0.99	0.95	1.03
30-min bouts of sedentarism (No./day)	1.06	0.85	1.31	1.05	0.84	1.31	1.17	0.90	1.52
Time accumulated in 30-min bouts of sedentarism (hours/day)	1.05	0.85	1.30	1.03	0.83	1.28	1.06	0.83	1.34
Ratio breaks:sedentary time in 30-min bouts (No./hours each day)	0.72	0.11	4.55	0.84	0.13	5.54	2.26	0.28	18.58
Steps (1000/day)	0.93	0.79	1.11	0.91	0.77	1.09	0.95	0.78	1.16

Binary logistic regression models adjusted for accelerometer registered time, age, body mass index, educational level (university vs. below university), smoking (never, before but not now and currently), infertility diagnosis (see Table 1 for coding), infertility duration (years), and follicle stimulation hormone administered. Additional adjustment for the treatment protocol (agonist/antagonist), infertility centre and transferred embryo stage did not chance the results

PA physical activity, MVPA moderate-to-vigorous PA, OR odds ratio, CI confidence intervals

hormones via the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian-axis [28]; (2) PA can impact reproductive function through its ability to regulate energy balance and affect BMI, which, in turn, are correlated with the reproductive system [29]; (3) PA may influence lipid profiles and inflammation [30]; (4) moderate PA levels have been shown to increase the expression of antioxidant enzymes throughout the body [31]; (5) PA may improve the ART outcome through insulin sensitization, which has been shown to have an effect on ovarian response to clomiphene citrate during ovulation induction [32]; and (6) PA can help to relieve stress and anxiety, which have been shown to affect negatively ARTs [33, 34]. On the other hand, extreme levels of exercise and being underweight may result in disruption of menstrual cyclicity and increase risk for amenorrhea and subfertility, mostly via disruption of hypothalamicpituitary endocrine axis [35]. However, we lack the information on thresholds for the amount and intensity of activity to achieve optimal fertility.

Our study results demonstrate that women who were engaged in light PA before entering infertility treatment obtained more oocytes and embryos after the stimulation than women who were less active. Also a recent study has associated light PA prior to pregnancy with improved fecundity among overweight/obese women with previous pregnancy loss [36]. Different types of PA (e.g. household, recreational, work, transportation) or exercise (e.g. aerobic, strength) may have different impacts on fertility. Vigorous PA for instance has been believed to be detrimental, while moderate PA could have beneficial effects on fertility [6]. To our knowledge, only two previous studies have assessed the influence of PA on COS, and no association between PA and the number of oocytes and embryos obtained was found [12, 15], although the number of oocytes and embryos tended to be lower among inactive women [12]. In both of these studies, PA was measured using self-reported questionnaires, which are more biased than objectively measured PA [13, 37] which could explain these differences.

Based on the current study, we believe that the public health message is to encourage light PA among infertile women by reducing the time spent for sedentary behaviours. Indeed, according to the recently published 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report, the current evidence supports that, among individuals with low levels of activity, replacing sedentary behaviour with light-intensity PA is associated with a better systemic health [23]. Our study results demonstrate that women with high sedentary behaviour (>8 h per day) and 30-min period blocks of sedentarism (>7) before treatment associate with a lower number of oocytes and embryos in IVF. Furthermore, women who broke more frequently their sedentary behaviour obtained better COS outcomes than women who did less breaks. Sedentary behaviour for prolonged periods of time has been identified as an important public health concern, associated with a range of health issues [38-40], and is another potential

Physical and sedentary activities after ET	Positive hCG			Clinical pregnancy			Live birth		
	OR	Lower CI	Upper CI	OR	Lower CI	Upper CI	OR	Lower CI	Upper CI
Average PA (counts/min)	1.00	0.99	1.00	1.00	0.99	1.00	1.00	0.99	1.00
Sedentary time (hours/day)	1.11	0.75	1.64	1.09	0.73	1.63	1.22	0.79	1.88
Light PA (hours/day)	0.94	0.63	1.41	0.99	0.65	1.50	0.87	0.56	1.35
Moderate PA (min/day)	0.98	0.94	1.01	0.96	0.92	1.00	0.95	0.90	1.01
Vigorous PA (min/day)	1.14	0.85	1.51	1.16	0.87	1.57	1.33	0.97	1.82
MVPA (min/day)	0.98	0.94	1.01	0.96	0.92	1.00	0.95	0.90	1.01
10-min bouts of MVPA (No./day)	1.17	0.40	3.44	0.83	0.27	2.55	0.73	0.20	2.61
Time accumulated in 10-min bouts of MVPA (min/day)	0.99	0.94	1.05	0.98	0.93	1.04	0.98	0.92	1.05
30-min bouts of sedentarism (No./day)	1.12	0.86	1.46	1.14	0.86	1.50	1.31	0.96	1.81
Time accumulated in 30-min bouts of sedentarism (hours/day)	1.11	0.87	1.41	1.10	0.85	1.41	1.18	0.90	1.55
Ratio breaks:sedentary time in 30-min bouts (No./hours each day)	1.60	0.31	8.37	1.63	0.28	9.34	2.92	0.38	22.50
Steps (1000/day)	1.03	0.96	1.10	0.83	0.61	1.12	0.73	0.51	1.04

Table 4 Associations of physical activity and sedentary time during IVF (during 14 days after embryo transfer, ET) with treatment outcomes (N=79)

Binary logistic regression models adjusted for accelerometer registered time, age, body mass index, educational level (university vs. below university), smoking (never, before but not now and currently), infertility diagnosis (see Table 1 for coding), infertility duration (years), and follicle stimulation hormone administered. Additional adjustment for the treatment protocol (agonist/antagonist), infertility centre, and transferred embryo stage did not change the results

PA physical activity, MVPA moderate-to-vigorous PA, OR odds ratio, CI confidence intervals

modifiable risk factor for infertility. Indeed, in a recent study, sedentary behaviour was strongly associated with female infertility [41]. Even further, our isotemporal analysis predicted that if a woman decreased her daily sedentary behaviour for 1.5 h a day and thereby increased 1.5 h light PA, she would obtain 2 oocytes and 1 embryo more in COS. In our cohort of 101 women, we obtained in total ~1200 oocytes, while by increasing PA and reducing sedentary behaviour, this number could grow up to ~1400. A previous extensive study analysing the reproductive potential of 207,000 oocytes in fresh and frozen embryo transfers yielded 4.5% live birth per oocyte [42], indicating that by exploiting these extra 200 oocytes in IVF, the birth of nearly 10 babies is expected.

Another intriguing result in our study is the link observed between TV/screen watching and assisted reproduction outcomes, which has not been studied before. We found that total screen time at non-work days was strongly associated with the number of oocytes and embryos obtained in COS. The effect is even stronger than sedentary behaviour measured by accelerometry, which could be explained by the fact that not all sedentary behaviours seem to be equally harmful for health, and TV watching seems to be the most harmful [17]. In fact, screen time during work days (which tends to be more work-related) was not associated with COS outcomes among our cohort of women, while the screen time during non-work days should be more volunteer behaviour and more likely to be TV based. TV watching has been associated with detrimental health consequences [43, 44], including lower sperm concentration and lower total sperm count in young men [45].

Deringer

In our study, women while undergoing IVF significantly reduced PA and increased sedentary behaviour, which means that few women engaged in vigorous activity during IVF and therefore we cannot adequately assess whether high-intensity PA during treatment affects pregnancy outcomes. In fact, we did not detect any associations of objectively measured PA and sedentary behaviour before and during IVF treatment with IVF outcomes such as positive hCG, clinical pregnancy, and live birth. Our study results are in line with the only previous study that has objectively assessed PA, where women significantly reduced their PA and increased sedentary behaviour levels during IVF and no association of PA on IVF outcomes was detected [13]. Although they measured objectively PA during IVF, for 1 week, and the activity levels 1 year before entering IVF were assessed with selfreported questionnaires [13]. In line with our objectively measured data are a number of previous studies demonstrating that bed rest after ET in IVF programs does not influence pregnancy outcomes and is unnecessary [46-50]. Our results contribute to the existing knowledge suggesting that, at least within the levels of PA observed in our participants, higher levels of PA during this critical period of implantation of the embryo had no negative impact on the changes to become pregnant, supporting the notion that there is no evidence to suggest to avoid PA during this period. Nevertheless, we did not find very high/extreme levels of PA within our sample; therefore, we cannot know how these extreme doses of PA could affect successful implantation.

Limitations and strengths

First, the sample may not be generalizable and should be confirmed in other populations. Next, the accelerometer used in the study required removal while in the water, meaning that water-related activities could not be recorded. Our observational study design does not allow to draw conclusions on causality. Likewise, despite the inclusion of a broad set of potential confounders in this study, there is always the possibility that other confounding factors not included in the analyses could influence the results. There are, however, several strengths in our study that should be highlighted. Firstly, that PA and sedentary behaviour were measured objectively using accelerometry and that we measured activities for 14 consecutive days during three critical periods. Also, our unique study design should be acknowledged, where we included only fresh embryo transfers, and measured PA before any infertility treatment and 4 weeks during the treatment, which enabled us to closely observe the periods of embryo implantation and early pregnancy establishment. Further, the confirmation of the study findings with self-reported method, screen time measure, strengthens our conclusions.

Conclusions

Infertility treatment is costly in time, money, and emotional stress; therefore, it is of utmost importance to identify factors which dictate the success of infertility treatment, especially the factors that could be modifiable (e.g. lifestyle factors). This is the first study to objectively measure PA before and during infertility treatment and we show that PA and sedentary behaviour can influence ovarian stimulation outcomes in IVF protocol. Our results suggest that increase in light PA and reduction of sedentary behaviour and screen watching before IVF may help infertile women to improve their results in COS. On the other hand, no positive or negative association of PA with pregnancy outcomes in fresh embryo transfers, including during the critical period of embryo implantation, was observed. Thus, we conclude that PA does not seem to affect the quality of the oocytes (as measured by the achieved pregnancies), but rather the quantity of the oocytes obtained (as measured by COS parameters). Whether the increased number of oocytes collected in more active women is transformed into improved pregnancy rate from cumulative fresh and frozen embryo transfers should be proven by the forthcoming studies.

Acknowledgements We thank infertile women for participating in the study.

Author's contributions All authors contributed to the study design, execution, and interpretation of the study. DS, EM, MN, JM, AE, AS, AS, and AS were responsible for the data collection; FBO and JHM were responsible for the data analysis; and DS and SA drafted the first version of the manuscript. All authors revised critically the manuscript and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding information The study was supported by Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (grant IUT34-16); Enterprise Estonia (grant EU48695); the European Commission Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under grant agreement 692065 project WIDENLIFE); MSCA-RISE-2015 project MOMENDO (grant no 691058), and University of Tartu base funding; Spanish Ministry of Economy, Industry and Competitiveness (MINECO) and European Regional Development Fund (FEDER): grants RYC-2016-21199 and ENDORE SAF2017-87526-R; Programa Operativo FEDER Andalucía (B-CTS-500-UGR18) and by the University of Granada Plan Propio de Investigación 2016 -Excellence actions: Unit of Excellence on Exercise and Health (UCEES) - and Plan Propio de Investigación 2018 - Programa Contratos-Puente, and the Junta de Andalucía, Consejería de Conocimiento, Investigación y Universidades, European Regional Development Funds (ref. SOMM17/6107/UGR); and Karolinska Institutet Foundation grant (Ref: 2011FoBi1184).

Compliance with ethical standards

Ethical approval The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Tartu.

Statement of informed consent Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects before their participation.

References

- Macaluso M, Wright-Schnapp TJ, Chandra A, Johnson R, Satterwhite CL, Pulver A, et al. A public health focus on infertility prevention, detection, and management. Fertil Steril. 2010;93: 16.el–16.e10.
- McLaren JF. Infertility evaluation. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. 2012;39:453–63.
- Datta J, Palmer MJJ, Tanton C, Gibson LJJ, Jones KGG, Macdowall W, et al. Prevalence of infertility and help seeking among 15 000 women and men. Hum Reprod. 2016;0:1–11.
- Evans J, Salamonsen LA, Winship A, Menkhorst E, Nie G, Gargett CE, et al. Fertile ground: human endometrial programming and lessons in health and disease. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2016;12:654– 67 Nature Publishing Group.
- Gaskins AJ, Williams PL, Keller MG, Souter I, Hauser R, Chavarro JE, et al. Maternal physical and sedentary activities in relation to reproductive outcomes following IVF. Reprod BioMed Online. 2016;33:513–21.
- Evenson KR, Hesketh KR. Studying the complex relationships between physical activity and infertility. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2016;10:232–4.
- Mena GP, Mielke GI, Brown WJ. The effect of physical activity on reproductive health outcomes in young women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2019;25:542–64.
- ACOG Committee Obstetric Practice. ACOG Committee opinion. Number 267, January 2002: exercise during pregnancy and the postpartum period. Obstet Gynecol. 2002;99:171–3.
- Good Health Before Pregnancy: Preconception Care [Internet]. Women's Heal. Care Physicians. 2017. p. https://www.acog.org/ Patients/FAQs/Good-Health-Bef. Available from: https://www.

a cog. org/Patients/FAQs/Good-Health-Before-Pregnancy-Preconception-Care

- Rao M, Zeng Z, Tang L. Maternal physical activity before IVF/ ICSI cycles improves clinical pregnancy rate and live birth rate: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2018;16:11.
- Morris SN, Missmer SA, Cramer DW, Powers RD, McShane PM, Hornstein MD. Effects of lifetime exercise on the outcome of in vitro fertilization. Obstet Gynecol. 2006;108:938–45.
- Ramezanzadeh F, Kazemi A, Yavari P, Nasr-Esfahani MH, Nejat S, Rahimi-Foroshani A, et al. Impact of body mass index versus physical activity and calorie intake on assisted reproduction outcomes. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2012;163:52–6.
- Evenson KR, Calhoun KC, Herring AH, Pritchard D, Wen F, Steiner AZ. Association of physical activity in the past year and immediately after in vitro fertilization on pregnancy. Fertil Steril. 2014;101:1047–1054.e5.
- Ferreira RC, Halpern G, de Cássia Savio Figueira R, de Almeida Ferreira Braga DP, Iaconelli A Jr, Borges E Jr, et al. Physical activity, obesity and eating habits can influence assisted reproduction outcomes. Womens Health (Lond). 2010;6:517–24.
- Kucuk M, Doymaz F, Urman B. Effect of energy expenditure and physical activity on the outcomes of assisted reproduction treatment. Reprod BioMed Online. 2010;20:274–9.
- Palomba S, Falbo A, Valli B, Morini D, Villani MT, Nicoli A, et al. Physical activity before IVF and ICSI cycles in infertile obese women: an observational cohort study. Reprod BioMed Online. 2014;29:72–9.
- Ekelund U, Steene-Johannessen J, Brown WJ, Fagerland MW, Owen N, Powell KE, et al. Does physical activity attenuate, or even eliminate, the detrimental association of sitting time with mortality? A harmonised meta-analysis of data from more than 1 million men and women. Lancet. 2016;388:1302–10.
- Pärn T, Grau Ruiz R, Kunovac Kallak T, Ruiz JR, Davey E, Hreinsson J, et al. Physical activity, fatness, educational level and snuff consumption as determinants of semen quality: findings of the ActiART study. Reprod BioMed Online. 2015;31:108–19.
- Choi L, Liu Z, Matthews CE, Buchowski MS. Validation of accelerometer Wear and nonwear time classification algorithm. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43:357–64.
- Choi L, Ward SC, Schnelle JF, Buchowski MS. Assessment of Wear/nonwear time classification algorithms for triaxial accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2012;44:2009–16.
- Migueles JH, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Ekelund U, Delisle Nyström C, Mora-Gonzalez J, Löf M, et al. Accelerometer data collection and processing criteria to assess physical activity and other outcomes: a systematic review and practical considerations. Sports Med. 2017;47:1821–45.
- Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the computer science and applications, Inc accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1998;30:777–81.
- Committee 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory. 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report. Washington, DC; 2018.
- Dunstan DW, Barr ELM, Healy GN, Salmon J, Shaw JE, Balkau B, et al. Television viewing time and mortality: the australian diabetes, obesity and lifestyle study (ausdiab). Circulation. 2010;121:384– 91.
- Hansen BH, Anderssen SA, Andersen LB, Hildebrand M, Kolle E, Steene-Johannessen J, et al. Cross-sectional associations of reallocating time between sedentary and active Behaviours on Cardiometabolic risk factors in young people: an international Children's Accelerometry database (ICAD) analysis. Sports Med. 2018;48:2401–12.

- Mekary RA, Willett WC, Hu FB, Ding EL. Isotemporal substitution paradigm for physical activity epidemiology and weight change. Am J Epidemiol. 2009;170:519–27.
- Venetis CA, Tilia L, Panlilio E, Kan A. Is more better? A higher oocyte yield is independently associated with more day-3 euploid embryos after ICSI. Hum Reprod. 2018.
- Tworoger SS, Missmer SA, Eliassen AH, Barbieri RL, Dowsett M, Hankinson SE. Physical activity and inactivity in relation to sex hormone, prolactin, and insulin-like growth factor concentrations in premenopausal women - exercise and premenopausal hormones. Cancer Causes Control. 2007;18:743–52.
- Redman LM. Physical activity and its effects on reproduction. Reprod BioMed Online. 2006;12:579–86.
- Sorensen TK, Williams MA, Lee I-M, Dashow EE, Thompson ML, Luthy DA. Recreational physical activity during Pregnancy and risk of preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2003;41:1273–80.
- Gomez-Cabrera M-C, Domenech E, Viña J. Moderate exercise is an antioxidant: upregulation of antioxidant genes by training. Free Radic Biol Med. 2008;44:126–31.
- Palomba S, Falbo A, Russo T, Orio F, Tolino A, Zullo F. Systemic and local effects of metformin administration in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): relationship to the ovulatory response. Hum Reprod. 2010;25:1005–13.
- Hämmerli K, Znoj H, Barth J. The efficacy of psychological interventions for infertile patients: a meta-analysis examining mental health and pregnancy rate. Hum Reprod Update. 2009;15:279–95.
- Frederiksen Y, Farver-Vestergaard I, Skovgård NG, Ingerslev HJ, Zachariae R. Efficacy of psychosocial interventions for psychological and pregnancy outcomes in infertile women and men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2015;5:e006592.
- Wise LA, Rothman KJ, Mikkelsen EM, Sørensen HT, Riis AH, Hatch EE. A prospective cohort study of physical activity and time to pregnancy. Fertil Steril. 2012;97:1136–1142.e4.
- Russo LM, Whitcomb BW, Mumford SL, Hawkins M, Radin RG, Schliep KC, et al. A prospective study of physical activity and fecundability in women with a history of pregnancy loss. Hum Reprod. 2018;33:1291–8.
- Hagströmer M, Bergman P, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Ortega FB, Ruiz JR, Manios Y, et al. Concurrent validity of a modified version of the international physical activity questionnaire (IPAQ-A) in European adolescents: the HELENA study. Int J Obes. 2008;32(Suppl 5): S42–8.
- Owen N, Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW. Too much sitting. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2010;38:105–13.
- Mackenzie K, Such E, Norman P, Goyder E. The development, implementation and evaluation of interventions to reduce workplace sitting: a qualitative systematic review and evidence-based operational framework. BMC Public Health. 2018;18:833.
- Ding D, Lawson KD, Kolbe-Alexander TL, Finkelstein EA, Katzmarzyk PT, van Mechelen W, et al. The economic burden of physical inactivity: a global analysis of major non-communicable diseases. Lancet. 2016;388:1311–24.
- Foucaut A-M, Faure C, Julia C, Czernichow S, Levy R, Dupont C. Sedentary behavior, physical inactivity and body composition in relation to idiopathic infertility among men and women. Drevet JR, editor. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0210770.
- Stoop D, Ermini B, Polyzos NP, Haentjens P, De Vos M, Verheyen G, et al. Reproductive potential of a metaphase II oocyte retrieved after ovarian stimulation: an analysis of 23 354 ICSI cycles. Hum Reprod. 2012;27:2030–5.
- Grøntved A, Hu FB. Television viewing and risk of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and all-cause mortality: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2011;305:2448–55.
- 44. Sun J-W, Zhao L-G, Yang Y, Ma X, Wang Y-Y, Xiang Y-B. Association between television viewing time and all-cause

D Springer

mortality: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Am J Epidemiol. 2015;182:908-16.

- Gaskins AJ, Mendiola J, Afeiche M, Jørgensen N, Swan SH, Chavarro JE. Physical activity and television watching in relation to semen quality in young men. Br J Sports Med. 2015;49:265–70.
- Sharif K, Afnan M, Lashen H, Elgendy M, Morgan C, Sinclair L. Is bed rest following embryo transfer necessary? Fertil Steril. 1998;69:478–81.
- Purcell KJ, Schembri M, Telles TL, Fujimoto VY, Cedars MI. Bed rest after embryo transfer: a randomized controlled trial. Fertil Steril. 2007;87:1322–6.
- Lambers MJ, Lambalk CB, Schats R, Hompes PGA. Ultrasonographic evidence that bedrest after embryo transfer is useless. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2009;68:122–6.
- Su TJ, Chen YC, Hung YT, Yang YS. Comparative study of daily activities of pregnant and non-pregnant women after in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer. J Formos Med Assoc. 2001;100:262– 8.
- Bar-Hava I, Kerner R, Yoeli R, Ashkenazi J, Shalev Y, Orvieto R. Immediate ambulation after embryo transfer: a prospective study. Fertil Steril. 2005;83:594–7.

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.
Saare M, Laisk T, Teder H, Paluoja P, Palta P, Koel M, Kirss F, Karro H, **Sõritsa D**, Salumets A, Krjutškov K, Peters M. A molecular tool for menstrual cycle phase dating of endometrial samples in endometriosis transcriptome studies. Biol Reprod. 2019;101(1):1–3.

Letter to the Editor

A molecular tool for menstrual cycle phase dating of endometrial samples in endometriosis transcriptome studies[†]

Merli Saare^{1,2,*}, Triin Laisk^{1,3}, Hindrek Teder^{1,4}, Priit Paluoja^{1,5}, Priit Palta⁶, Mariann Koel^{1,7}, Fred Kirss⁸, Helle Karro^{2,8}, Deniss Sõritsa^{1,9}, Andres Salumets^{1,2,10}, Kaarel Krjutškov^{1,11} and Maire Peters^{1,2}

¹Competence Centre on Health Technologies; Tartu, Estonia; ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu; Tartu, Estonia; ³Estonian Genome Center Science Center, Institute of Genomics, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia; ⁴Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia; ⁵Institute of Computer Science, University of Tartu, Estonia; ⁶Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland (FIMM), University of Helsinki, Finland; ⁷Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia; ⁸Tartu University Hospital, Women's Clinic, Tartu, Estonia; ⁹Elite Clinic, Tartu, Estonia; ¹⁰Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland and ¹¹Research Program of Molecular Neurology, Research Programs Unit, University of Helsinki, and Folkhälsan Institute of Genetics, Helsinki, Finland

*Correspondence: E-mail: merli.saare@ut.ee

[†] Grant support: This study was funded by the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (grant IUT34-16); Enterprise Estonia (grant EU48695); European Commission Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement 692065 (project WIDENLIFE); MSCA-RISE-2015 project MOMENDO (grant no 691058); and University of Tartu base funding.

Received 5 April 2019; Accepted 18 April 2019

Summary Sentence

Transcriptome profiling of 57 endometrial receptivity genes specifies the menstrual cycle phase of endometrial samples.

Key words: endometriosis, endometrium, menstrual cycle.

Dear Editor,

Here we report the usability of a panel of transcriptomic markers to determine the menstrual cycle phase of undated endometrial tissue samples for gene expression studies. Endometrial tissue transcriptomic studies are an important approach to find molecular characteristics and biomarkers of endometriosis and other endometriumrelated diseases. However, endometrial gene expression is under strict hormonal control and the menstrual cycle phase-specific signature has to be considered in molecular studies of reproductive age women to avoid false-positive or -negative findings that may occur if studied individuals are from different menstrual cycle phases. The endometrial specimens' collection is generally well tolerated by patients: however, unnecessary procedures can be avoided if archival well-preserved RNA samples are available for research. Still, the use of archival samples may be complicated if there is no accompanying menstrual cycle information or only patients' self-reported menstrual cycle day is available, and no tissue has been left for histological evaluation and classification of samples. Although the self-reported menstrual cycle history has been extensively used in molecular studies, the length of the normal menstrual cycle varies between 24 and 35 days and thus self-reported menstrual history or calendar-based counting methods are insufficient to accurately determine menstrual cycle phase, or discriminate ovulatory cycles from anovulatory cycles [1]. Ponnampalam et al. [2] utilized high-throughput microarray technology and demonstrated that classification of the endometrial samples according to the global transcriptional profile is concordant with the histological evaluation. However, as global expression profiling is rather costly, we aimed to use a new cost-effective Targeted Allele Counting by sequencing (TAC-seq) methodology [3] to explore the capability of a panel of 57 well-described endometrial receptivity genes [4] to determine the exact molecular menstrual cycle phases of endometrial samples.

For that purpose, RNA was extracted from endometrial tissue samples collected from 45 women with and 33 women without endometriosis (suffering from pelvic pain or infertility) in menstrual (M, cycle days 1–5, n = 4), proliferative (P, cycle days 6–14, n = 17),



Figure 1. Multidimensional scaling plot of normalized RNA sequencing data of 57 endometrial receptivity genes in women with and without endometriosis. (A) Clustering analysis of RNA sequencing data. (B) Clustering after applying support vector machine classifier to ES and MS phase samples. P—proliferative, ES—early secretory, MS—mid-secretory, LS—late secretory, M—menstrual phase endometrial samples. Triangles represent women with endometriosis and circles mark women with endometriosis.

early-secretory (ES, cycle days 15-18, n = 19), mid-secretory (MS, cycle days 19-23, n = 19), and late-secretory (LS, cycle days 24-28, n = 19) phases according to the self-reported menstrual cycle days (Supplementary Table S1 and Supplementary Materials and Methods). The average age of women with and without endometriosis was 31.0 \pm 4.7 and 32.0 \pm 5.1 years, respectively, and they had not received any hormonal treatments for at least 3 months prior to the laparoscopy in Tartu University Hospital (Tartu, Estonia). The TAC-seq libraries were sequenced with NextSeq 500/550 v2.5 Kit (Illumina). Sequencing data analysis was performed as described previously [3], and each sample was normalized using geometric mean of gene expression levels of four housekeeper genes. The same sequencing protocol was applied to 54 paired endometrial samples from 27 healthy parous women, collected at the histologically and biochemically [predicted from the luteinizing hormone (LH) peak in urine] confirmed ES and MS cycle phases (described in [5]). The resulting data were used to create a machine learning support vector machine (SVM) model for discrimination of ES and MS phase samples.

Multidimensional scaling plot of normalized RNA sequencing data showed that expression pattern of the 57 endometrial receptivity genes divided the samples roughly into four distinct groups (Figure 1A). Also, no clear segregation was seen between women with and without endometriosis, which is concordant with a recent study by Garcia-Velasco et al. [6]. All endometrial samples from P phase clustered together and a subset of LS phase samples (n = 8) formed a distinct cluster; however, several samples from LS phase (n = 8) were more similar to MS samples and two LS samples grouped together with M phase samples. A similar phenomenon was described by Ponnampalam et al. [2], who suggested that the menstrual cycle is a continuum and the samples from the boarders of cycle phases may cluster to the adjacent phases. Interestingly, one LS sample showed similar gene expression pattern to P samples. anovulatory cycles remains similar to P phase throughout the cycle. Although the data about the endometrial receptivity-specific gene expression signature in women with anovulatory menstrual cycles is scarce, the level of glycodelin, which normally increases considerably and stays elevated during the secretory phase, has been shown to remain low throughout the anovulatory cycle [7]. The *PAEP* gene encoding glycodelin was also among the 57 genes analyzed in the current study and its low level in this LS sample was comparable to P samples, supporting our assumption about anovulatory cycle.

Furthermore, ES and MS samples formed one diffuse cluster (Figure 1A), indicating that self-reported menstrual cycle day does not allow reliable distinction between samples from these adjacent phases. Thereafter, the SVM model was successfully applied to segregate the studied self-reported ES and MS samples (Figure 1B) according to the receptivity gene expression pattern in endometrial tissues from women in biochemically confirmed ES and MS phases. After adjustment, 4 out of 19 ES phase samples were re-classified as MS samples and 9 MS samples were re-classified as ES, showing that molecular profiling helped to assign the endometrial samples from adjacent phases correctly even without precise chronological dating. The most widely used method to assign the endometrial samples collected at the second half of the cycle to ES or MS phase is determination of the LH peak from urine, which correlates significantly better with the histological dating than the calculations based on the onset of the next menstrual period [8]. However, as collection of tissue samples for research is for ethical reasons usually combined with clinical procedures that are scheduled long in advance, it is difficult if not impossible to obtain specimens at the particular LH day. Furthermore, the value of histological dating has been questioned as there are too many confounding factors influencing the interpretation of the results [9]. Therefore, new molecular tools, such as described in the current report, are useful to help specify the precise menstrual cycle phase of not only archived endometrial RNA samples but also of endometrial samples from uncertain cycle

phases in transcriptomic studies to facilitate the discovery of true disease-related markers.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data are available at *BIOLRE* online. Supplementary Table S1. General characteristics of the study participants.

Conflict of interest

The authors have declared that no conflict of interest exists.

References

- Wideman L, Montgomery MM, Levine BJ, Beynnon BD, Shultz SJ. Accuracy of calendar-based methods for assigning menstrual cycle phase in women. Sports Health 2013; 5:143–149.
- Ponnampalam AP, Weston GC, Trajstman AC, Susil B, Rogers PA. Molecular classification of human endometrial cycle stages by transcriptional profiling. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2004; 10:879–893.
- Teder H, Koel M, Paluoja P, Jatsenko T, Rekker K, Laisk-Podar T, Kukuskina V, Velhut-Meikas A, Fjodorova O, Peters M, Kere J, Salumets A et al. TAC-seq: targeted DNA and RNA sequencing for precise biomarker molecule counting. *npj Genomic Med* 2018; 3:34.

- Altmäe S, Koel M, Võsa U, Adler P, Suhorutšenko M, Laisk-Podar T, Kukushkina V, Saare M, Velthut-Meikas A, Krjutškov K, Aghajanova L, Lalitkumar PG et al. Meta-signature of human endometrial receptivity: a meta-analysis and validation study of transcriptomic biomarkers. Sci Rep 2017; 7:10077.
- Suhorutshenko M, Kukushkina V, Velthut-Meikas A, Altmäe S, Peters M, Mägi R, Krjutškov K, Koel M, Codoñer FM, Martinez-Blanch JF, Vilella F, Simón C et al. Endometrial receptivity revisited: endometrial transcriptome adjusted for tissue cellular heterogeneity. *Hum Reprod* 2018; 33:2074– 2086.
- Garcia-Velasco JA, Fassbender A, Ruiz-Alonso M, Blesa D, D'Hooghe T, Simon C. Is endometrial receptivity transcriptomics affected in women with endometriosis? A pilot study. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2015; 31: 647–654.
- Seppälä M, Koistinen H, Koistinen R, Hautala L, Chiu PC, Yeung WS. Glycodelin in reproductive endocrinology and hormone-related cancer. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2009; 160:121–133.
- Li TC, Rogers AW, Lenton EA, Dockery P, Cooke I. A comparison between two methods of chronological dating of human endometrial biopsies during the luteal phase, and their correlation with histologic dating. *Fertil Steril* 1987; 48:928–932.
- Strauss JF, Barbieri RL, Strauss JF, Lessey BA. The structure, function, and evaluation of the female reproductive tract. In: Yen and Jaffe's Reproductive Endocrinology (Eighth Edition) Physiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Management, 2019:206-247,e13. https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/B9780323479127000093.

IV

Lavogina D, Samuel K, Lavrits A, Meltsov A, **Sõritsa D**, Kadastik Ü, Peters M, Rinken A, Salumets A. Chemosensitivity and chemoresistance in endometriosis – differences for ectopic versus eutopic cells. Reprod Biomed Online. 2019;39(4):556–568.



ARTICLE



Chemosensitivity and chemoresistance in endometriosis - differences for ectopic versus eutopic cells



BIOGRAPHY

Andres Salumets is Professor of Reproductive Medicine at the University of Tartu, and Scientific Head at the Competence Centre on Health Technologies, Tartu, Estonia. He has been involved in assisted reproduction for 20 years, first as an embryologist and later as a researcher. His major interests are endometriosis, endometrial biology and implantation.

Darja Lavogina^{1,2,*}, Külli Samuel¹, Arina Lavrits^{1,3}, Alvin Meltsov¹, Deniss Sõritsa^{1,4,5}, Ülle Kadastik⁶, Maire Peters^{1,4}, Ago Rinken², Andres Salumets^{1,4,7,8}

KEY MESSAGE

Akt/PKB inhibitor GSK690693, CK2 inhibitor ARC-775, MAPK pathway inhibitor sorafenib, proteasome inhibitor bortezomib, and microtubule-depolymerizing toxin MMAE showed higher cytotoxicity in eutopic cells. In contrast, 10 µmol/l of the anthracycline toxin doxorubicin caused cellular death in ectopic cells more effectively than in eutopic cells, underlining the potential of doxorubicin in endometriosis research.

ABSTRACT

Research question: Endometriosis is a common gynaecological disease defined by the presence of endometrium-like tissue outside the uterus. This complex disease, often accompanied by severe pain and infertility, causes a significant medical and socioeconomic burden; hence, novel strategies are being sought for the treatment of endometriosis. Here, we set out to explore the cytotoxic effects of a panel of compounds to find toxins with different efficiency in eutopic versus ectopic cells, thus highlighting alterations in the corresponding molecular pathways.

Design: The effect on cellular viability of 14 compounds was established in a cohort of paired eutopic and ectopic endometrial stromal cell samples from 11 patients. The biological targets covered by the panel included pro-survival enzymes, cytoskeleton proteins, the proteasome and the cell repair machinery.

Results: Protein kinase inhibitors GSK690693, ARC-775 and sorafenib, proteasome inhibitor bortezomib, and microtubuledepolymerizing toxin monomethyl auristatin E were more effective in eutopic cells. In contrast, 10 µmol/l of the anthracvcline toxin doxorubicin caused cellular death in ectopic cells more effectively than in eutopic cells. The large-scale sequencing of mRNA isolated from doxorubicin-treated and control cells indicated different survival strategies in eutopic versus ectopic endometrium.

Conclusions: Overall, the results confirm evidence of large-scale metabolic reprogramming in endometriotic cells, which underlies the observed differences in sensitivity towards toxins. The enhanced efficiency of doxorubicin interfering with redox equilibria and/ or DNA repair mechanisms pinpoints key players that can be potentially used to selectively target ectopic lesions in endometriosis.

- ³ Department of Cell Biology, Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, University of Tartu Tartu, Estonia Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu Tartu, Estonia

- ⁷ Department of Biomedicine, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu Tartu, Estonia
 ⁸ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

© 2019 Reproductive Healthcare Ltd. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Corresponding author. E-mail address: darja.lavogina@ut.ee (D Lavogina). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2019.05.019 1472-6483/© 2019 Reproductive Healthcare Ltd. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved Declaration: The authors report no financial or commercial conflicts of interest.

KEYWORDS Cell viability Doxorubicin Endometriosis Eutopic/ectopic endometrial stromal cell Protein kinase inhibitor Toxin

¹ Competence Centre on Health Technologies Tartu, Estonia
² Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu Tartu, Estonia

 ⁵ Elite Clinic Tartu, Estonia
 ⁶ Tartu University Hospital's Women's Clinic Tartu, Estonia

INTRODUCTION

ndometriosis is an inflammatory gynaecological disease that manifests itself as a growth of endometrial stromal cells (ESC) and epithelial cells in extrauterine sites. Endometriosis is estimated to affect 2-10% of women in their reproductive years, and as there are still no effective non-surgical treatments, it has a considerable impact on the quality of life of women affected (Nnoaham et al., 2011). Endometriosis-associated symptoms such as severe pelvic pain, infertility and impaired psychological and social functioning cause a socioeconomic burden from loss of productivity; furthermore, the risk of developing ovarian cancer is moderately increased in women suffering from endometriosis, being about 1.9% compared with 1.4% in the general population (Vercellini et al., 2018). Therefore, the new possibilities in the treatment of endometriosis are being actively explored.

To find potent strategies for treating endometriosis, the mechanisms behind disease initiation need to be understood. The formation of endometriotic lesions presupposes an ability of endometrial cells to attach to peritoneal surfaces, establish neo-angiogenesis and resist apoptosis (*Nasu et al., 2009*). Characteristics such as a high degree of inflammation, an excess of iron and an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) have also been described in endometriotic lesions (Defrere et al., 2008; Lousse et al., 2012; Scutiero et al., 2017). Furthermore, a comprehensive proteomic study by the current group has shown that extensive metabolic reprogramming (associated with down-regulation of oxidative respiration) and an up-regulation of proteins involved in adhesiveness and motility occur in endometriotic stromal cells (Kasvandik et al., 2016), emphasizing the similarities between endometriotic and cancer cells. Therefore toxins affecting various molecular pathways in cancer chemotherapy could find an alternate application in research into - and potentially therapy of - endometriosis. Some such compounds have been briefly explored in the context of endometriosis (Celik et al., 2008) yet we are not aware of studies with a focused panel of toxins that would systematically compare the effect of compounds in eutopic and ectopic cells taken from women with endometriosis.

This paper reports on quantification of the cytotoxic effect of 14 compounds (TABLE 1) in a cohort of paired eutopic and ectopic ESC (euESC and ecESC) samples from 11 patients. The biological targets covered by this panel included pro-survival enzymes, cytoskeleton proteins, the proteasome and the cell repair machinery. The rationale behind the choice of compounds took into consideration the high affinity and welldefined selectivity profile of inhibitors in biochemical studies and their applicability in cellular assays. The goal was to find compounds demonstrating different efficiency in eutopic versus ectopic cells from peritoneal lesions, thus highlighting alterations in the corresponding molecular pathways, and to pinpoint compounds that preferentially affect ectopic cells, thus paving the way for future possible therapeutic strategies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals and equipment

Protein kinase inhibitors were obtained from the following sources: SGI-1776 - Axon Medchem (Groningen, Netherlands); H-89 - Biaffin (Kassel, Germany); sorafenib, Y-27632, HA-1077 Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA); staurosporine - Cell Guidance Systems (Cambridge, UK); VX-689, CYC116 - Selleckchem (Houston, TX, USA); bortezomib, monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE), doxorubicin -TBD-Biodiscovery (Tartu, Estonia); and GSK690693 - Tocris (Bristol, UK). ARC-775 and ARC-1859 were kindly gifted by Dr Asko Uri (University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia). The stock solutions of compounds (5-10 mmol/l in dimethylsulphoxide [DMSO]) were stored at -20°C. SYTOX Blue Nucleic Acid

TABLE 1 COMPOUNDS USED IN THE STUDY

Name	Concentrations used (µmol/l)	Major biological target	References
GSK690693	0.4, 2, 10	Akt/PKB 1, 2, 3	(Levy et al., 2009; Rhodes et al., 2008)
VX-689 (MK5108)	0.2, 1, 5	Aurora A	(Chinn et al., 2014; Shimomura et al., 2010)
CYC116	0.4, 2, 10	Aurora A, B	(Jayanthan et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2010)
ARC-775	0.4, 2, 10	CK2	(Rahnel et al., 2017)
ARC-1859	0.4, 2, 10	CK2	(Viht et al., 2015)
SGI-1776	0.4, 2, 10	PIM 1, 3	(Chen et al., 2011, 2009)
H-89	0.4, 2, 10	PKA, PKG1	(Dabizzi et al., 2003; Yoshino et al., 2003)
Y-27632	0.4, 2, 10	ROCK 1, 2	(Grewal et al., 2010; Yotova et al., 2011; Yuge et al., 2007)
HA-1077 (fasudil)	0.4, 2, 10	ROCK 2	(Tsuno et al., 2011)
Sorafenib (BAY 43-9006)	0.4, 2, 10	RAF1, BRAF, KDR (VEGFR2), FLT4 (VEGFR3)	(Llobet et al., 2010; Moggio et al., 2012)
Staurosporine	0.2, 1, 5	ΡΚCα, γ, η	(Izawa et al., 2006; Watanabe et al., 2009)
Bortezomib (PS-341, Velcade)	0.4, 2, 10	20S proteasome	(Kao et al., 2014)
Doxorubicin (adriamycin)	0.4, 2, 10	DNA, topoisomerase-II	(Byron et al., 2012; Chitcholtan et al., 2012)
Monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE)	0.04, 0.2, 1	Tubulin (Abdollahpour-Alitappeh et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2	

Abbreviations: Akt/PKB, protein kinase B; BRAF, V-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B; CK2, casein kinase 2; PIM, proto-oncogene Ser/Thr-protein kinase; PKA, protein kinase A; PKC, protein kinase C; RAF1, V-Raf-1 murine leukemia viral oncogene homolog 1; ROCK, Rho-dependent protein kinase; VEGFR, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor. Stain and NP40 lysis buffer were from Thermo Fischer Scientific (Rockford, IL, USA); cell culture grade DMSO was from AppliChem (Darmstadt, Germany); resazurin, bovine serum albumin (BSA) and phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (supplemented with Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺; used for the biochemical assays and western blotting) were from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). Other solutions, reagents and materials for sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and western blotting were from Thermo Fischer Scientific (Carlsbad, CA, USA).

For the necrosis/late apoptosis and viability assays, the initial number of cells was counted using a TC10 cell counter (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), and the cells were seeded onto transparent 96well, clear, flat-bottom cell culture plates (BioLite 130188; Thermo Fischer Scientific, Rochester, NY, USA). Fluorescence intensity and absorbance measurements were made using Synergy NEO, Cytation 5 (both from Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA) and PHERAstar (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) multimode readers.

Patient characteristics and sample collection

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Tartu (approval 276/M-13) on 18 December 2017 and informed written consent was obtained from the participants. Endometrial tissue samples and peritoneal endometriotic lesions were collected from 11 women endometriosis (TABLE 2) undergoing laparoscopy at the Tartu University Hospital Women's Clinic. Tissue samples were immediately placed into the cryopreservation medium and processed as previously described (*Rekker et al.*, 2017). At least one endometriotic lesion sample from each patient was placed into formalin and the diagnosis was confirmed by histopathological examination of the specimens. Disease severity was determined according to the American Society for Reproductive Medicine revised classification system (*American Society for Reproductive Medicine*, 1997). Only women who had not received any hormonal medications for at least 3 months before surgery were enrolled in this study.

Isolation and culturing of cells

Endometriotic and endometrial tissues were treated according to the previously published protocol (Kasvandik et al., 2016). Briefly, the tissue was washed twice in 7 ml of fresh medium (a 1:1 mixture of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium [DMEM] and Ham's F-12; Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) to remove any debris or excess blood cells. The biopsies were dissociated in 5 ml of DMEM (without phenol red) containing 0.5% collagenase (Sigma-Aldrich) in a shaking incubator rotating at 110 rpm at 37°C until the biopsies had been digested (but not for longer than 1 h). The dispersed cells were filtered through a 50 µm nylon mesh to remove undigested tissue pieces. Next, the cells were resuspended in 10 ml of culture medium in a 15 ml tube; the sealed tubes were placed in an upright position for 10 min to sediment the epithelial glands. The top 8 ml of medium containing stromal cells was then collected and the tube was refilled to 10 ml with fresh medium; the sedimentation process was repeated

three times and the collected fractions were pooled. The final purification of stromal cells was achieved by selective adherence of stromal cells to culture dishes for 20–30 min at 37°C in 5% CO_2 in an incubator. Non-adhering epithelial cells were removed by washing the cell layer twice with 5 ml of culture medium.

The isolated ESC were further cultured for 5-6 passages in DMEM/Ham's F-12 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Capricorn, Ebsdorfergrund, Germany) and a mixture of penicillin, streptomycin and amphotericin B (Capricorn, Ebsdorfergrund, Germany) at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in an incubator.

Necrosis/late apoptosis assay

euESC and ecESC (passage number 5-6) were seeded onto 96-well plates at a density of 4000-6000 cells per well in DMEM/Ham's F-12 medium supplemented with FBS; euESC and ecESC from the same patient were thawed on the same day, and two plates were prepared for both eutopic and ectopic stromal cells. After incubating the cells for 24 h at 37°C in 5% CO2 in a humidified incubator, the medium was exchanged and dilution series of compounds in PBS were added (see TABLE 1); the final volume per well was 110 µl, and the concentration of DMSO in the treated wells was ≤0.1% by volume. For each plate, each concentration of each compound to be tested was represented in duplicate; the controls (10% DMSO and 0.1% DMSO) were represented in sextuplicate. The cells were incubated with the compounds for 22 h at 37°C in 5% CO2 in a humidified incubator; next, the medium was removed

TABLE 2 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE STUDY PARTICIPANTS

Patient ID	Age (years)	BMI (kg/m²)	Endometriosis stage	Location of lesion	Study
E048	29	19.8	III	Lig. sacrouterina SUP	N, V
E044	32	23.7	111	Excavatio vesicouterina SUP	N, V
E041	39	25.6	1	Fossa ovarica SUP	N, V
E205	36	22.2	1	Lig. latum SUP	N, V
E242	30	20.1	1	Lig. sacrouterina SUP	N, V
E262	40	29.8	11-111	Lig. latum SUP	N, V, V2, WB, seq
E267	25	22.1	1	Pouch of Douglas SUP	N, V, V2, WB
E270	33	21.6		Lig sacrouterina SUP	N, V
E278	32	20.8	1	Excavatio vesicouterina SUP	N, V, V2, WB, seq
E279	22	21.4	I	Excavatio vesicouterina SUP	N, V, V2, WB, seq
E310	24	23.5		Lig. sacrouterina SUP	N, V

Lig, ligamentum; N, necrosis/late apoptosis assay; seq, mRNA sequencing; SUP, superficial; V, viability assay with large cohort; V2, viability assay with small cohort; WB, western blot.

and 1 μ mol/l Sytox Blue solution in PBS (containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺) was added. The plates were placed into a multimode reader and incubated for 10 min at 37°C, and the fluorescence intensity was measured (excitation 430 nm, emission 480 nm, monochromator, top optics, gain 90; area scan mode 5 \times 5, read height 2.5 mm, with lid).

Viability assay

The viability assay was performed directly after the necrosis/late apoptosis assay using the same plates. The solution of Sytox Blue was replaced by 50 µmol/l resazurin solution in PBS (containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺). The plates were placed into the multimode reader, and measurement of absorbance was performed (570 nm and 600 nm, monochromator; kinetic mode with a reading taken every 15 min for 2 h, read height 8.5 mm, with lid). Next, resazurin solution was replaced by fresh sterile DMEM/Ham's F-12 medium supplemented with FBS, and the cells were incubated for 24 h at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator. Finally, the viability assay was performed again (without the preceding necrosis/late apoptosis assay). In a pilot experiment, it was confirmed that the first application of resazurin for 2 h in PBS did not cause severe cytotoxicity (data not shown).

Western blotting

For the western blot assay, one 6-well plate was prepared for euESC and one plate for ecESC (passage number 5–6). When the confluency of cells was 50% or higher, dilutions of doxorubicin in PBS or DMSO in PBS (control) were added. The final concentration of doxorubicin was 10 μ mol/l, and the final concentration of DMSO was 0.1%. On each plate, both doxorubicin and control incubations were represented in duplicate. The cells were incubated for 48 h at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator.

After collection and lysis of the cells on ice, the samples for SDS-PAGE were prepared by adding NuPAGE sample loading buffer (ThermoFisher, Carlsbad, CA, USA) to supernatants and heating at 70°C for 15 min. SDS-PAGE was performed on 10% Bis-Tris gels or 4–12% Bis-Tris gradient gel (ThermoFisher, Carlsbad, CA, USA) in MES buffer (ThermoFisher, Carlsbad, CA, USA); samples of treated and untreated euESC and ecESC from the same patients were applied on different lanes of the same gel. Semi-dry transfer followed at 15 V for 60 min using methanolactivated polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane and NuPAGE transfer buffer. The membrane was then stained with primary antibody (1,000 × dilution of rabbit anti-procaspase-3; catalogue number 9662 Cell Signaling, RRID: AB_331439) and secondary antibody (5,000 × dilution of goat anti-rabbit conjugated to alkaline phosphatase; T2191 Thermo Fischer Scientific, RRID: AB_11180336) according to the manufacturers' instructions. The same procedure was used for the subsequent staining of the same membrane with mouse antibeta-actin (4.000 × dilution: A1978 Sigma-Aldrich, RRID: AB_476692) and goat anti-mouse conjugated to alkaline phosphatase (5,000 × dilution; T2192 Thermo Fischer Scientific, RRID: AB 11180852)

mRNA isolation and large-scale sequencing

euESC (n = 3) and ecESC (n = 3) were isolated and grown as described in the sections on the isolation and culturing of cells and western blotting, respectively; the cells were isolated from the paired eutopic and ectopic samples that were included in western blot studies. After 24 h incubating the cells with a final concentration of 2 µmol/l doxorubicin or 0.1% DMSO (as a negative control) in growth medium, the medium was removed, the cells were rinsed with PBS and RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. DNase I treatment was performed using the DNA-free DNA removal kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). A 2200 TapeStation system in conjunction with RNA ScreenTape (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, USA) was used to determine the quality and quantity of purified RNA. For sequencing library construction, RNA from two technical replicates was pooled together. cDNA was synthesized as previously described (Teder et al., 2018), converted to the next-generation sequencing library using a Nextera XT Library Prep kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) and sequenced with NextSeq 500 high output 75 cycles kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA).

Quantitative real-time PCR

The expression levels of selected genes (HSPA2, PTGS2 and PTN) were validated by quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) using RNA from two technical replicates. cDNA was synthesized using a RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), and real-time PCR was performed using 1 × HOT FIREPol EvaGreen gPCR Mix Plus (ROX) (Solis BioDyne, Tartu, Estonia). The primer sequences used were as follows: HSPA2 (F: CTCCACTCGTATCCCCAAGA, R: GTCACGTCGAGTAGCAGCAG), PTGS2 (F: CCACTTCAAGGGATTTTGGA, R: GAGAAGGCTTCCCAGCTTTT) and PTN (F: CAATGCCGAATGCCA GAAGACTGT, R: TCCACAGGTGACA TCTTTTAATCC). ACTB (F: TCAAG ATCATTGCTCCTCC and R: ACATCTG CTGGAAGGTGGA) was used as a reference gene.

Statistical analysis

Data are available on request from the authors.

For the necrosis/late apoptosis assay, the mean Sytox Blue fluorescence intensity per well was calculated; the data corresponding to the same concentration of the same compound were pooled and normalized for each plate. For normalization, the signal obtained for incubation with 5 μ mol/l staurosporine was considered to be 100% necrosis, and the signal obtained for incubation with 0.1% DMSO as 0% necrosis.

For the viability assay, the ratio of the absorbances at 570 nm and 600 nm was calculated for each well. The data obtained from one plate for the control incubations with 0.1% DMSO or 10% DMSO were pooled and plotted against time, and the linear range of the assay was established. The data corresponding to the same concentration of the same compound were pooled and normalized for each plate. For normalization, data obtained for incubation with 10% DMSO were considered as 0% viability, and data obtained for incubation with 0.1% DMSO as 100% viability.

For western blot data analysis, the membrane was dried and scanned in. The area of bands detected with antiprocaspase-3 and anti-beta-actin was assessed using ImageJ 1.51j8 software (Bethesda, MD, USA), and the ratio of the two values was calculated for each lane; the data were pooled for the lanes where the identically treated samples of the same cells had been applied. Next, data for lanes with samples from euESC and ecESC were normalized separately. For normalization, ratio obtained for incubation with 0.1% DMSO was considered as 100% to obtain results for one patient; the bottom plateau was fixed at 0%.

In the case of qRT-PCR, the average values of technical replicates were used. The fold change was calculated according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (*Livak and Schmittgen*, 2001).

For the final comparison, the results of all the patients were pooled. For the necrosis/late apoptosis and viability assays, the statistical significance for the difference between the inhibitor/ toxin-treated cells and the cells treated with 0.1% DMSO was established by ordinary one-way analysis of variance using Dunnett's correction for multiple comparisons ($P \le 0.05$ was considered significant). For the necrosis/late apoptosis and viability assays as well as the western blotting, the statistical significance of the difference between euESC and ecESC was established by an unpaired t-test with Welch's correction ($P \leq 0.05$ was considered significant). For the gRT-PCR data, the statistical significance of the difference between control and doxorubicin treatment was established using a paired t-test $(P \le 0.05 \text{ was considered significant}),$ and the statistical significance of the difference between euESC and ecESC was established using an unpaired t-test (again, $P \le 0.05$ was considered significant). The aforementioned statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism 6 (San Diego, CA, USA).

The large-scale mRNA sequencing data were acquired using Illumina BaseSpace (San Diego, CA, USA). The reads were quantified with Salmon 0.9.1 (New York, USA / Pittsburgh, PA, USA) in quasimapping mode using indexed Ensemble v95 annotation. The quality control of raw sequencing data and statistics on aligned counts was performed with FastQC 0.11.5 (Babraham, UK) and MultiOC 1.7 (Stockholm/Uppsala, Sweden). Based on the quality control, further data transformation was performed by trimming the adapter size with Trimmomatic 0.38 (Jülich, Germany). Quantified transcript read counts were summarized to genes using Bioconductor packages tximport 1.10.1 (Boston, MA, USA / Zurich, Switzerland) and BioMart 2.38.0 (Berkeley, CA, USA / Cambridge, UK). Overall, 175,775 transcripts were identified from all the samples, out of which 28,796 genes with non-zero total counts were summarized. Differential RNA sequencing analysis and ranking was performed with DESeq2 1.22.2 (Heidelberg, Germany). edgeR 3.24.3 (Parkville, Australia) was used in parallel for comparison.

The shortlist of genes with significantly different (P-value adjusted for false discovery rate, P_{adj} < 0.05) expression in pairwise compared cell types and treatment conditions (control euESC versus control ecESC; control euESC versus toxin-treated euESC; control ecESC versus toxin-treated ecESC: and toxin-treated euESC versus toxintreated ecESC) was generated as follows. The data for expression of each gene obtained in the same cell type and condition were averaged for three patients, and the binary logarithm of the fold change of averages (log₂FC) was determined. For each pairwise comparison, the latter values were ranked and cut-off values of log₂FC less than or equal to 4 or \geq +4 were applied. The genes showing high variance in expression (for the same cell type and condition between different patients) and the genes for which the number of counts was below 10 in all conditions were eliminated. Finally, after the individual check of the remaining candidates using the GeneCards human gene database (Weizmann Institute of Science, 2019) and g:Profiler source (Reimand et al., 2016), the pseudogenes and the genes encoding poorly characterized proteins were excluded from the list.

RESULTS

Viability assay

To establish the effect of the compounds (shown in TABLE 1) on the viability of euESC and ecESC, an assay was used that measures the change in absorbance spectrum of the cell membranepenetrating dye resazurin upon its biochemical reduction in metabolically active cells. TABLE 3 summarizes the results of the viability assay in which a statistically significant reduction of viability ($P \le 0.01$) was observed after 22 h incubation of cells with the studied compounds and after an additional 24 h incubation in growth medium; the full versions of the data are presented in the Supplemental Tables S1 and S2.

As expectedly, the lowest viability after 22 h of treatment was observed for

both euESC and ecESC treated with the well-known apoptosis inducer staurosporine. SGI-1776, a pan-inhibitor of proto-oncogene Ser/Thr-protein kinase Pim family, caused a significant fall in viability at 10 µmol/l concentration in both euESC and ecESC ($P \le 0.001$); it was also the only compound in the panel demonstrating a large patient-dependent effect: out of 11 patients' samples, low viability of the cells was evident in the samples from three patients, whereas those from four patients were practically insensitive (Supplemental Figure S1A). Other inhibitors of protein kinases did not cause an extended amount of cell death in either euESC or ecESC (the viability of cells remained at 75% or more relative to the 0.1% DMSO control). Interestingly, after 22 h incubation of cells with the Rho-dependent protein kinase inhibitor HA-1077, an apparent increase in viability was observed in both in euESC and ecESC (i.e. cells treated with 10 µmol/l inhibitor had higher values for resazurin reduction than cells treated with 0.1% DMSO). A similar phenomenon was evident in both in euESC and ecESC on treatment with different concentrations of VX-689, and in ecESC on treatment with 10 µmol/l or 2 µmol/l ARC-1859 (see Supplemental Table S1). Chemotherapeutic drugs bortezomib and MMAE were more efficient in eutopic cells, although a significant fall in viability was observed in both euESC and ecESC ($P \leq 0.001$). Conversely, treatment with 10 µmol/l and 2 µmol/l doxorubicin was more efficient in ecESC than euESC, showing a similar effect across all patients (see Supplemental Figure S1A).

The measurement of cell viability after the subsequent 24 h incubation in growth medium demonstrated that the viability of most toxin-treated euESC and ecESC had decreased further, and differences in results between euESC and ecESC had become smaller (TABLE 3). In addition, a significant decrease of viability was now observed for cells treated with the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway inhibitor sorafenib (P ≤ 0.05), protein kinase A (PKA) inhibitor H-89 ($P \le 0.01$) and Aurora A inhibitor VX-689 ($P \le 0.01$; a fuller version of 22 h + 24 h results from TABLE 3 is presented as Supplemental Table S2). Although sorafenib and H-89 were slightly more active in euESC, the effect of VX-689 was more pronounced in ectopic cells. Notably, after prolonged

Compound	Concentration	Incubation time ^a	% of viab in euESC		% of viabi in ecESC ^b		Difference euESC versus ecESC ^c
GSK690693	10 µmol/l	22 h	86 ± 2	***	94 ± 2	ns	* (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	78 ± 2	***	87 ± 2	***	** (euESC)
	2 µmol/l	22 h	89 ± 2	**	94 ± 2	ns	ns
		22 h + 24 h	85 ± 2	***	89 ± 2	***	ns
CYC116	10 µmol/l	22 h	89 ± 2	***	103 ± 2	ns	*** (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	87 ± 2	***	93 ± 2	**	* (euESC)
ARC-775	10 µmol/l	22 h	77 ± 2	***	90 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	67 ± 2	***	70 ± 2	**	ns
	2 µmol/l	22 h	90 ± 2	***	102 ± 2	ns	*** (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	92 ± 2	***	91 ± 2	***	ns
SGI-1776	10 µmol/l	22 h	56 ± 5	***	62 ± 5	***	ns
		22 h + 24 h	48 ± 4	***	57 ± 4	***	ns
Staurosporine	5 μmol/l	22 h	15 ± 1	***	6 ± 1	***	*** (ecESC)
		22 h + 24 h	4 ± 1	***	3 ± 1	***	ns
	1 µmol/l	22 h	27 ± 3	***	24 ± 1	***	ns
		22 h + 24 h	16 ± 2	***	15 ± 2	***	ns
	0.2 µmol/l	22 h	41 ± 3	***	50 ± 2	***	** (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	30 ± 2	***	41 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
Bortezomib	10 µmol/l	22 h	26 ± 2	***	40 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	5 ± 1	***	16 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
	2 µmol/l	22 h	33 ± 1	***	42 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	12 ± 1	***	23 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
	0.4 µmol/l	22 h	39 ± 2	***	53 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	18 ± 1	***	39 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)
Doxorubicin	10 µmol/l	22 h	78 ± 2	***	59 ± 2	***	*** (ecESC)
		22 h + 24 h	38 ± 2	***	22 ± 2	***	*** (ecESC)
	2 µmol/l	22 h	78 ± 2	***	64 ± 2	***	*** (ecESC)
		22 h + 24 h	39 ± 2	***	37 ± 2	***	ns
	0.4 µmol/l	22 h	85 ± 2	***	83 ± 2	***	ns
		22 h + 24 h	67 ± 3	***	68 ± 2	***	ns
Monomethyl auristatin E	1 µmol/l	22 h	60 ± 2	***	65 ± 1	***	* (euESC)
(MMAE)		22 h + 24 h	47 ± 2	***	53 ± 2	***	* (euESC)
	0.2 μmol/l	22 h	60 ± 2	***	66 ± 2	***	* (euESC)
		22 h + 24 h	49 ± 2	***	57 ± 2	***	** (euESC)
	0.04 µmol/l	22 h	61 ± 2	***	64 ± 1	***	ns
		22 h + 24 h	49 ± 2	***	59 ± 2	***	*** (euESC)

TABLE 3 COMPOUNDS INDUCING A SIGNIFICANT DECREASE IN VIABILITY OF EUESC AND/OR ECESC AFTER 22 H AND PROLONGED TREATMENT

Data are mean normalized viability ± SEM.

^a Incubation with inhibitors was performed for 22 h, followed by the addition of growth medium for 24 h.

^b n = 11 for the 22 h measurement and n = 10 for the 22 h + 24 h measurement. Data obtained for incubation with 10% dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) were considered to show 0% viability, and data obtained for incubation with 0.1% DMSO were considered to show 100% viability. Significance of effect difference relative to the negative control (treated with 0.1% DMSO): ***P ≤ 0.001; **P ≤ 0.001; *P ≤ 0.05; ns, P > 0.05.

^c Significance of effect difference between euESC and ecESC; the cell type with the lowest viability is shown in brackets. ***P ≤ 0.001; **P ≤ 0.01; *P ≤ 0.05; ns, P > 0.05. ecESC, ectopic endometrial stromal cell.

incubation, 10 μmol/l doxorubicin still affected ecESC more than euESC. The increased sensitivity of ecESC towards high concentrations of doxorubicin was confirmed in a repeated assay with samples representing four patients from the same cohort (Supplemental Figure S2). All in all, based on the results of the viability assay, characteristic differences in the viability fingerprint between euESC and ecESC could be formulated (FIGURE 1).



FIGURE 1 Viability fingerprint of euESC versus ecESC (blue and orange lines, respectively) after 22 h (A) or 22 h + 24 h (B) of treatment with various compounds. The compounds were chosen based on *Table 3*. Mean data corresponding to treatment with the highest concentrations of compounds was plotted. The axis scale ranges from 0% (centre of the plot) to 110% (outer line) with a grid interval of 10%. ecESC, ectopic endometrial stromal cell; euESC, eutopic endometrial cell.

Necrosis/late apoptosis assay

To confirm the trends observed in viability studies, we applied an additional assay by using cell membraneimpermeable Sytox Blue dye after 22 h incubation of euESC and ecESC with the different compounds. The increase in fluorescence of Sytox Blue resulting from intercalation of dye into the DNA is only possible in cells with compromised membrane structure, indicating an elevated extent of necrosis/late apoptosis.

The results of the assay are presented in the Supplemental Table S3. The highest effect in euESC as well as in ecESC was observed for 5 µmol/l staurosporine, a generic protein kinase inhibitor, which was therefore chosen as the standardizing condition setting the maximal threshold for normalization of the data. ecESC seemed overall less prone to necrosis/ late apoptosis than euESC; however, high levels of cell death in both euESC and ecESC were also observed upon treatment with 10 µmol/l SGI-1776 (which targets PIM family protein kinases) and 10 µmol/I ARC-775 (which targets casein kinase 2 [CK2]). The Akt/protein kinase B (PKB) inhibitor GSK690693 in the 10 µmol/l concentration induced more necrosis/late apoptosis in eutopic cells; furthermore, the toxins bortezomib and MMAE were more effective in euESC than ecESC at all concentrations. Other compounds showed no effect even at the highest concentrations used (5-10 µmol/l).

The data for doxorubicin were not included as here we observed a characteristic fall in Sytox Blue signal below the value observed for the negative control (cells treated with 0.1% DMSO), which occurred in both euESC and ecESC from all patients. We propose that such behaviour is related to the mode of action of doxorubicin, which intercalates into DNA; in this way, doxorubicin competes with Sytox Blue for the binding sites, and necrosis or apoptosis assays based on dyes that gain fluorescence upon binding to DNA are incompatible with doxorubicin studies.

Western blotting

To gain further independent evidence related to the elevated efficiency of doxorubicin in ecESC versus euESC, we proceeded with an alternative assay. Due to the strong autofluorescence of doxorubicin (Wang et al., 2016), most of the 'classical' techniques such as imaging or fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS) using immunostaining or BrdU detection can be highly prone to artefacts; therefore, we chose western blotting to quantify the fall in procaspase-3 concentrations in doxorubicin-treated samples of euESC and ecESC from four patients (the same samples used for the repeated viability assay; see above). The ratio of signals corresponding to procaspase-3 and beta-actin was quantified for each treatment condition, and the data were normalized separately for euESC and ecESC from each patient according to the corresponding negative control (0.1% DMSO; FIGURE 2A).

The results confirmed that 48 h of treatment with 10 µmol/l doxorubicin caused a statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) difference in apoptosis in ectopic versus eutopic cells, with mean normalized procaspase-3 content reduced to 39% (±8% SEM) in ecESC and 60% (±4% SEM) in euESC relative to the corresponding negative controls (0.1% DMSO) (FIGURE 28).

mRNA sequencing

Finally, to obtain detailed insight into the signalling pathways affected by doxorubicin in euESC and ecESC, largescale mRNA sequencing was performed after 24 h incubation of cells from three patients with 2 µmol/l doxorubicin or 0.1% DMSO control. The concentration of doxorubicin was chosen based on the results of the viability assay, in order to see a significant difference between euESC and ecESC while still yielding a sufficient population of surviving cells for mRNA isolation.

The comparison of treated versus control cells yielded 4009 significantly differentially expressed genes in the case of euESC, yet only 249 significantly differentially expressed genes for ecESC (using a base mean cut-off value of >10 and a $P_{\rm adj}$ cut-off value of <0.05). To shortlist genes showing a significantly different expression in different cells and treatment conditions (TABLE 4), we sorted the sequencing data as described in the section on statistical analysis, above. Overall, several genes that had a higher expression in control euESC relative to control ecESC (MMP1/3/10, PENK, PTN and GRP) or in control ecESC relative to control euESC (ESM1, IL33 and PTX3) also showed greater expression in the same cell type following treatment with doxorubicin. Furthermore, treatment with doxorubicin resulted in a reduced expression of several genes in euESC (e.g. DUSP1/10 and BARD1) as well as in ecESC (e.g. DKK1, HAS2) relative to the control cells of the same type. On the other hand, although the expression of some genes (such as histone cluster 1 and 2 family members HIST1H2AE, HIST1H2BK and HIST2H2AA4) in euESC increased upon treatment with



FIGURE 2 Effect of doxorubicin on procaspase-3 concentrations in euESC and ecESC. (A) Representative example of western blot membrane with euESC and ecESC from one patient; different lanes represent independent incubations. (B) Pooled normalized western blot data of euESC and ecESC from four patients (mean \pm SEM). Significance of effect difference between euESC and ecESCs: *P \leq 0.05. DMSO, dimethylsulphoxide; ecESC, ectopic endometrial stromal cell; euESC, eutopic endometrial ecESC.

doxorubicin relative to control cells, there was no significant increase in gene expression in toxin-treated ecESC relative to the control treatment.

For technical validation of the results of large-scale mRNA sequencing, qRT-PCR analysis of *PTN* and *HSPA2* was carried out, as examples of genes considerably highly expressed in eutopic cells, with *PTN* expression elevated in both control and toxin-treated euESC relative to the correspondingly treated ecESC (TABLE 4). Also validated was the expression of *PTGS2*, which, according to large-scale mRNA sequencing data, possessed higher expression in ectopic relative to eutopic cells after doxorubicin treatment; however, the statistical significance of this difference was slightly higher than the classical cut-off *P_{adj}* value of 0.05 (Supplemental Table S4). qRT-PCR confirmed the general trends observed in large-scale transcriptomic analysis, indicating significantly higher expression of *PTN* in both control and doxorubicin-treated euESC versus the corresponding ecESC (both P < 0.05), and significantly higher expression of HSPA2 in control euESC versus ecESC (P = 0.05). In addition, doxorubicin treatment elevated the level of PTN and HSPA2 in eutopic and ectopic stromal cells, respectively (both P < 0.05). Furthermore, qRT-PCR showed significantly higher expression of PTGS2 in control ecESC versus euESC as well as doxorubicin-treated ecESC versus euESC (both P < 0.05), confirming that PTGS2 can indeed serve as an important target in endometriosis.

TABLE 4 GENES SHOWING SIGNIFICANTLY DIFFERENT EXPRESSION IN CONTROL AND TOXIN-TREATED EUESC AND ECESC

Comparison ^a		Gene names and log ₂ FC values ^{b,c}	
euESC control versus ecESC control	Higher expression in euESC	MMP12 (8.4), MMP10 (8.0), MMP3 (8.0), TFAP2C (7.4), RGCC (6.8), HTR2B (6.4), GRP (6.4), DIO2 (5.7), MMP1 (5.5), RBP1 (4.9), CARD16 (4.8), LEPR (4.8 PRDM1 (4.7), CTSK (4.6), HSPA2 (4.6), NID1 (4.6), GCNT4 (4.5), PLAU (4.5), PENK (4.5), PTN (4.4), IFI6 (4.2), SEMA5A (4.1), AREG (4.0), NPVIR (4.0)	
	Higher expression in ecESC	GIPC2 (–9.7), PTX3 (–9.0), EFEMP1 (–6.1), IL33 (–6.0), SFRP4 (–4.5), PPP1R3C (–4.3), ESM1 (–4.0)	
euESC control versus euESC + toxin	Higher expression in control treatment	HTR2B (8.0), CCDC107 (7.0), ING3 (6.4), BARDI (6.2), CARNMTI (5.9), KRTI9 (5.8), TUBA14 (5.3), DIO2 (5.2), PAN3 (5.1), DUSPI (4.9), PKIG (4.9), PBK (4.9), UTP18 (4.8), CEMIP (4.7), SLC5A3 (4.5), CITED2 (4.5), CTGF(4.4), SASS6 (4.1), DUSPI0 (4.1), NOPI0 (4.1)	
	Higher expression in toxin treatment	HIST1H2AE (-7.0), INSYN2 (-6.7), TMEFF2 (-6.0), HIST1H2BPS2 (-5.2), HIST1H2BK (-5.0), HIST2H2AA4 (-4.8), CXCL3 (-4.7)	
ecESC control versus ecESC + toxin	Higher expression in control treatment	HAS2 (6.9), MRPL14 (5.0), CARD16 (4.5), DKK1 (4.0)	
euESC + toxin versus ecESC + toxin	Higher expression in euESC	GRP (7.3), MMP3 (7.1), MMP10 (6.1), PTN (5.1), RGCC (4.7), IFITM1 (4.5), SOX11 (4.3), MMP1 (4.2), PENK (4.1)	
	Higher expression in ecESC	ESM1 (-6.2), TFPI2 (-5.3), PTX3 (-4.9), IL33 (-4.4), BARD1 (-4.1)	

a Control treatment: 24 h incubation in growth medium containing 0.1% dimethylsulphoxide; toxin treatment: 24 h incubation in growth medium containing 2 µmol/l doxorubicin.

^b The binary logarithm of the fold change of averages is shown in brackets; *n* = 3. Negative values indicate higher expression in ectopic cells (for euESC versus ecESC comparisons) or in doxorubicin-treated cells (for treatment comparisons).

° Genes that are listed under more than one comparison in the table are shown in bold.

ecESC, ectopic endometrial stromal cell; euESC, eutopic endometrial stromal cell; log₂FC, binary logarithm of fold change of averages.

Although the molecular players behind the onset and progression of endometriosis are still unclear, several pathways have been closely inspected, with a special focus on inflammation processes, cell migration and adhesion, abnormal proliferation and resistance to apoptosis. The current study explored the differences in cell viability of euESC and ecESC on treatment with selective compounds inhibiting a focused number of molecular players, as well as compounds with a wide profile of biological targets. Methodologically, this study has two major limitations: first, the focus was only on stromal cells, yet the physiological milieu contains epithelial cells that may be involved in unique patterns of signalling and cellular interactions. Second, as only ESCs isolated from superficial peritoneal lesions were investigated, the observed results may not necessarily reflect the effects of toxins in other types of lesions.

Phosphorylation of proteins serves an example of a signalling mechanism that on one hand is ubiquitous, yet on the other can be dissected with a high degree of precision by selective targeting of the catalysing machinery - protein kinases. The human kinome includes 538 protein kinases, most of which have been termed as potentially druggable by virtue of the incorporation of a narrow solvent-hidden pocket (ATP-binding site) that can be selectively targeted by low molecular weight inhibitors. The panel that was used here for screening included 11 inhibitors of protein kinases, 10 of which possessed focused selectivity profiles, while staurosporine was selected as a widely used apoptosis inducer (see TABLE 1 and Supplemental Figure S3). Among the protein kinases targeted by the selective inhibitors were enzymes for which up-regulation in endometriotic cells has been reported: MAPKs (Ngô et al., 2010; Yotova et al., 2011), Akt/ PKB (Cinar et al., 2009; Shoji et al., 2009), PIM1 (Hu et al., 2006; Jiménez-García et al., 2017) and CK2 (Feng et al., 2012; Llobet et al., 2008). In this study, inhibitors of MAPK (sorafenib), Akt/ PKB (GSK690693) and CK2 (ARC-775) were more effective in euESC than ecESC, whereas the PIM inhibitor (SGI-1776) showed a cell type-independent effect: in patients whose euESC were affected, ecESC were also affected (see Supplemental Figure S1B and C). Overall, although the overexpression of certain pro-survival protein kinases in cancer cells can lead to the degeneration of other anti-apoptotic pathways and the establishment of the so-called oncogene addiction (*Ruzzene and Pinna*, 2010; *Sharma and Settleman*, 2007), this does not seem to be the case for ectopic endometriotic cells.

Surprisingly, CK2 inhibitor ARC-1859, despite featuring a structural design highly similar to that of ARC-775, did not reduce cell viability. Whereas in biochemical assays with recombinant CK2, the affinity of the unmasked counterpart of ARC-775 was indeed higher than that of the unmasked counterpart of ARC-1859 (Rahnel et al., 2017; Viht et al., 2015), this is hardly likely to be the only reason underlying the lack of potency of ARC-1859 in assays with ESC. Instead, it is likely that a more hydrophobic ATPsite targeting a fragment of ARC-1859 (the tetrabromobenzimidazole moiety) contributes to the accumulation of inhibitor in membranes where it is not accessible by either esterases or the cytosolic CK2.

The effect of some compounds included in the panel in this study has previously been explored in the context of endometriosis. The generic protein kinase inhibitor staurosporine has been reported to demonstrate a greater apoptotic effect in euESC from patients without endometriosis than in ecESC from patients with endometriosis (Watanabe et al., 2009). In the current study, the sensitivity of eutopic versus ectopic cells to staurosporine depended on its concentration: whereas 5 umol/l staurosporine caused greater cellular death in ecESC, 0.2 µmol/l staurosporine was more effective in euESC (TABLE 3). The proteasome-targeting compound bortezomib had been shown to reduce the size of endometriotic implants in rats (Celik et al., 2008), yet no studies of bortezomib in euESC from women with endometriosis have been reported; in this study study, treatment with bortezomib was significantly more efficient in euESC than in ecESC even after prolonged incubation ($P \leq 0.001$).

The ROCK-targeting inhibitors Y-27632 and HA-1077 have been used to reduce the contractility of ecESC; whereas Y-27632 had demonstrated no cytotoxicity, 0.1–10 µmol/I HA-1077 had caused significant apoptosis of ecESC – albeit after 48 h incubation (Yotova et al., 2011; Yuge et al., 2007). In the current study, no reduction in viability was observed even after prolonged incubation of euESC and ecESC with either Y-27632 or HA-1077. In principle, it is possible that the effect of ROCK-targeting inhibitors is only evident in cell motility assays, although it had been hoped that the altered dynamics of cytoskeleton might manifest itself as a retardation of proliferation. The latter was true for the microtubule-depolymerizing compound MMAE: this showed a characteristic concentration-independent profile of effect on cell viability connected to the mode of action of this compound, which serves as an antimitotic agent than an apoptosis inducer (Abdollahpour-Alitappeh et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2017).

Furthermore, 22 h treatment of cells with some of the chosen compounds (including inhibitors targeting ROCK, Aurora family kinases or PKA) caused an apparent increase in viability (see Supplemental Table S1), which was alleviated after a subsequent 24 h incubation in medium. This abnormal temporary phenomenon might be triggered by several factors. On one hand, ROCK inhibitors can interfere with the apoptotic caspase 3-ROCK signalling pathway (Song and Gao, 2011), and consequently increase the number of viable cells. However, a more likely explanation is that, as a response to treatment with toxins within a certain time window, cell metabolism tends to increase, which manifests itself as enhanced reduction of resazurin.

Overall, the compounds that significantly affected the viability of cells after 22 h of treatment also caused a significant amount of cellular death according to the necrosis/late apoptosis assay (as illustrated by GSK690693, ARC-775. SGI-1776, staurosporine, bortezomib and MMAE; $P \leq 0.05$). The only exception was CYC116, which did not trigger necrosis/late apoptosis yet remarkably reduced viability in euESC at the 10 µmol/l concentration. It is possible that AURORA B-targeting CYC116 acts as an antimitotic substance and hence slows the proliferation of cells rather than triggering cellular death, yet it is not as efficient or as quick as the toxin MMAE, which has a similar mode of action.

Differently from other compounds used in the panel, doxorubicin demonstrated

an enhanced effect on viability in ectopic versus eutopic cells after 22 h as well as 22 h + 24 h of incubation at the 10 µmol/l concentration in the resazurin assay (FIGURE 1), and after 48 h of incubation in the western blot assav (FIGURE 2). Several mechanisms of action have been reported for doxorubicin. It accumulates in cell nuclei, intercalating into DNA and preventing its repair by topoisomerase II (Thorn et al., 2011). In addition, doxorubicin can be reversibly oxidized into an unstable semiguinone metabolite, which releases ROS upon spontaneous re-formation of doxorubicin (Finn et al., 2011); the liberated ROS attack cellular components, triggering cellular death. In the context of altered redox equilibria in ectopic versus eutopic endometrial cells (Kasvandik et al., 2016; Scutiero et al., 2017), enhanced efficiency of doxorubicin in ecESC might be explained by its redox properties.

In this way, although doxorubicin has been used in the treatment of endometrial cancer (Byron et al., 2012; Chitcholtan et al., 2012), this compound might also be of remarkable interest for endometriosis studies. Unfortunately, the application of anthracyclines in chemotherapy has revealed high cardiotoxicity for this class of compounds, which complicates their use in model organisms. However, several pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic strategies have been actively suggested to prevent anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity (Menna and Salvatorelli, 2017). Furthermore, specifically in the context of doxorubicin, the development of novel derivatives with reduced side effects (Shaul et al., 2013) and methods for targeted delivery (Tran et al., 2017) have been intensely pursued.

The large-scale transcriptome analysis revealed sets of genes that featured significantly higher expression in eutopic relative to ectopic ESC or in ectopic relative to eutopic ESC, irrespective of the treatment conditions ($P_{adj} < 0.05$, $\log_2 FC$ of -4 or less or $\geq +4$; TABLE 4). It was postulated that these sets might reflect variations in survival strategies in eutopic and ectopic endometrium, because it is likely that, after 24 h of treatment of cells with 2 µmol/l doxorubicin, the isolated mRNA profile was characteristic of the population of survivors.

Interestingly, the comparison of treated versus control cells yielded in excess of

10 times more significantly differentially expressed genes in the case of euESC than ecESC ($P_{adj} < 0.05$). Given the fact that the majority of candidate genes in the comparison of control versus doxorubicin-treated ecESC were eliminated on the basis of the P_{adi} cutoff, this difference originates primarily from the large interpatient variation of gene expression in the ecESC group. The latter can in turn be explained by the characteristic heterogeneity of lesions, especially taking into consideration differences in location of the lesions in the three patients whose samples were used for mRNA sequencing (see TABLE 2).

In euESC, among other genes, this set included genes encoding several members of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) family, and a precursor for the endogenous opioid peptides, preproenkephalin (PENK). Another gene with a significantly higher expression in both control and doxorubicin-treated euESC versus ecESC encodes a growth factor, pleiotrophin (PTN; P_{adi} < 0.05, $log_2FC > +4$); interestingly, doxorubicin treatment further elevated PTN expression in drug-treated eutopic but not ectopic cells. Importantly, MMP, PENK and PTN have previously been linked to endometriosis, showing significantly higher expression in eutopic endometrium from women with endometriosis relative to healthy controls, or lower expression in ectopic than eutopic tissue (Burney et al., 2007; Chung et al., 2002; Kobayashi et al., 2012), thus pointing to their possible role in initiating peritoneal invasion. Furthermore, PTN has been reported to promote chemoresistance to doxorubicin in several cancers, including osteosarcoma and breast cancer (Huong et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2017). Therefore, it can be suggested that the lower expression of PTN in untreated ectopic cells is one of the factors responsible for the higher chemosensitivity of this cell type to doxorubicin - although it should be considered that the viability of euESC was still significantly affected by doxorubicin treatment ($P \leq 0.001$; TABLE 3).

A similar effect on cell viability, may be mediated by *HSPA2*, which was, according to sequencing data, more highly expressed in eutopic than ectopic cells. Heat shock-related 70 kDa protein 2 (HSPA2) protects cells from the cytotoxic and growth-inhibiting effects of doxorubicin by several mechanisms, including binding misfolded or damaged proteins and enabling these proteins to acquire proper folding, and controlling the duration of cell cycle arrest (*Karlseder et al., 1996*). According to the qRT-PCR data, the drug treatment enhanced the expression of *HSPA2* in ecESC (average fold change 4.5), suggesting a response to the toxic effect; however, as the initial expression of *HSPA2* in untreated cells was much lower in ectopic then eutopic cells (average fold change –11.8), the expression was still less than that of the eutopic cells.

In ecESC, the set of interest defined by the large-scale transcriptome analysis and qRT-PCR data included genes tightly connected with immune system functioning: these genes encoding interleukin-33 (IL33), cyclooxygenase 2 (PTGS2) and genes whose expression is regulated by cytokines - pentraxin 3 (PTX3) and endothelial cell-specific molecule 1 (ESM1). The proteins encoded by all of the aforementioned genes have been reported to be connected with endometriosis (Cobellis et al., 2004; Fagotti et al., 2004; Kobayashi et al., 2012; Miller et al., 2017; Pelch et al., 2010), showing a correlation with endometriosis-associated inflammation and angiogenesis; inhibitors of PTGS2 have also been explored in the context of management of endometriosis-related pain (Cobellis et al., 2004). Furthermore, IL33 and PTGS2 have been shown to protect cells against doxorubicin-induced apoptosis, albeit in the context of tissues other than endometrium (Puhlmann et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2008; Yao et al., 2017). The latter observation indirectly confirms the hypothesis that the mRNA profile identified for doxorubicin-. treated euESC and ecESC reflects the corresponding cellular survival strategies. The fact that the viability of ecESC was severely affected by doxorubicin treatment indicates that the major chemoresistance-ensuring players that contribute to the survival of ectopic cells under DNA damage and ROS-triggered conditions of stress might be less efficient than those in eutopic tissue.

The mRNA sequencing results thus underline the interplay of factors that contributing to development and sustainment of endometriosis, and necessitate the application of more complex models, for example enabling the presence of epithelial cells and/or involving immune system components. Overall, the results of this study seem to have pinpointed a set of clues for future research into endometriosis, both from the aspect of showing a resistance of endometriotic lesions to possible therapeutic candidates, and in terms of providing candidate biomarkers and targets for the succeeding exploration.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Thanks go to the patients who provided material for this study and to TBD Biodiscovery and Dr Asko Uri for the compounds provided. This study was funded by the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (IUT34-16 and IUT20-17), Enterprise Estonia (EU48695), the Horizon 2020 innovation program (WIDENLIFE, 692065), European Union FP7 Marie Curie Industry-Academia Partnerships and Pathways funding (IAPP, SARM, EU324509) and the MSCA-RISE-2015 project MOMENDO (691058).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.rbmo.2019.05.019.

REFERENCES

- Abdollahpour-Alitappeh, M., Razavivakhshourpour, S., Lotfinia, M., Jahandideh, S., Najminejad, H., Balalaie, S., Moazzami, R., Shams, E., Habibi-Ahouhi, M. Monomethyl auristatin E Exhibits Potent Cytotoxic Activity against Human Cancer Cell Lines SKBR3 and HEK293. Novelty in Biomedicine 2017; 4: 145–151. https://doi.org/10.22037/hbm.v5i4.1522
- American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Revised American Society for Reproductive Medicine classification of endometriosis: 1996. Fertility and Sterility 1997; 67: 817-821. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(97)81391-X
- Burney, R.O., Talbi, S., Hamilton, A.E., Vo, K.C., Nyegaard, M., Nezhat, C.R., Lessey, B.A., Giudice, L.C. Gene Expression Analysis of Endometrium Reveals Progesterone Resistance and Candidate Susceptibility Genes in Women with Endometriosis. Endocrinology 2007;148: 3814–3826. https:// doi.org/10.1210/en.2006-1692
- Byron, S.A., Loch, D.C., Pollock, P.M. Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor Inhibition Synergizes With Paclitaxel and Doxorubicin in Endometrial Cancer Cells. International Journal of Gynecological Cancer 2012; 22: 1517–1526. https://doi.org/10.1097/ IGC.0b013e31826/6806
- Celik, O., Hascalik, S., Elter, K., Tagluk, M.E., Gurates, B., Aydin, N.E. Combating endometriosis by blocking proteasome

and nuclear factor- B pathways. Human Reproduction 2008; 23: 2458–2465. https:// doi.org/10.1093/humrep/den246

- Chen, H., Lin, Z., Arnst, K.E., Miller, D.D., Li, W. Tubulin Inhibitor-Based Antibody-Drug Conjugates for Cancer Therapy. Molecules 2017; 22. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules22081281
- Chen, L.S., Redkar, S., Bearss, D., Wierda, W.G., Gandhi, V. Pim kinase inhibitor, SGI:1776, induces apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Blood 2009; 114: 4150–4157. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-03-212852
- Chen, L.S., Redkar, S., Taverna, P., Cortes, J.E., Gandhi, V. Mechanisms of cytotoxicity to Pim kinase inhibitor, SGI-1776, in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 2011; 118: 693–702. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-323022
- Chinn, D.C., Holland, W.S., Mack, PC. Anticancer activity of the Aurora A kinase inhibitor MK-5108 in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in vitro as monotherapy and in combination with chemotherapies. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology 2014; 140: 1137–1149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-014-1675-6
- Chitcholtan, K., Sykes, P.H., Evans, J.J. The resistance of intracellular mediators to doxorubicin and cisplatin are distinct in 3D and 2D endometrial cancer. Journal of Translational Medicine 2012; 10: 38 https://doi org/10.1186/1479-5876-10-38
- Chung, H.W., Wen, Y., Choi, E.A., Hao-Li, null, Moon, H.S., Yu, H.-K., Polan, M.L. Pleiotrophin (PTN) and midkine (MK) mRNA expression in eutopic and ectopic endometrium in advanced stage endometriosis. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 2002; 8: 350–355.
- Cinar, O., Seval, Y., Uz, Y.H., Cakmak, H., Ulukus, M., Kayisli, U.A., Arici, A. Differential regulation of Akt phosphorylation in endometriosis. Reproductive BioMedicine Online 2009;

19: 864–871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rbmo.2009.10.001

- Cobellis, L., Razzi, S., De Simone, S., Sartini, A., Fava, A., Danero, S., Gioffrè, W., Mazzini, M., Petraglia, F. The treatment with a COX-2 specific inhibitor is effective in the management of pain related to endometriosis. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 2004; 116: 100–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejogrb.2004.02.007
- Dabizzi, S., Noci, I., Borri, P., Borrani, E., Giachi, M., Balzi, M., Taddei, G.L., Marchionni, M., Scarselli, G.F., Arcangeli, A. Luteinizing Hormone Increases Human Endometrial Cancer Cells Invasiveness Hrough Activation of Protein Kinase A. Cancer Research 2003; 63: 4281–4286.
- Defrere, S., Lousse, J.C., Gonzalez-Ramos, R., Colette, S., Donnez, J., Van Langendonckt, A. Potential involvement of iron in the pathogenesis of peritoneal endometriosis. Molecular Human Reproduction 2008; 14: 377-385. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gan033 Fagotti, A., Ferrandina, G., Fanfani, F., Legge,
- F., Lauriola, L., Gessi, M., Castelli, P., Barbieri, F., Minelli, L., Scambia, G. Analysis of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression in different sites of endometriosis and correlation with clinico-pathological parameters. Hum. Reprod. 2004; 19: 393–397.
- Feng, D., Welker, S., Körbel, C., Rudzitis-Auth, J., Menger, M.D., Montenarh, M., Laschke, M.W. Protein kinase CK2 is a regulator of angiogenesis in endometriotic lesions. Angiogenesis 2012; 15: 243–252. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10456-012-9256-2
- Finn, N.A., Findley, H.W., Kemp, M.L. A Switching Mechanism in Doxorubicin Bioactivation Can Be Exploited to Control Doxorubicin Toxicity. PLoS Computational Biology 2011; 7e1002151 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002151 Greval, S., Carver, J., Ridley, A.J., Mardon,
- H.J. Human Endometrial Stromal Cell Rho GTPases Have Opposing Roles in Regulating Focal Adhesion Turnover and Embryo Invasion In Vitro. Biology of Reproduction 2010; 83: 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1095/ biolrepord.109.086/30
- Hu, W.-P., Tay, S.K., Zhao, Y. Endometriosis-Specific Genes Identified by Real-Time Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction Expression Profiling of Endometriosis Versus Autologous Uterine Endometrium. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 2006; 91: 228–238. https://doi.org/10.1210/ ic.2004-1594
- Huang, P., Ouyang, D., Chang, S., Li, M., Li, L., Li, Q., Zeng, R., Zou, Q., Su, J., Zhao, P., Pei, L., Yi, W. Chemotherapy-driven increases in the CDKNIA/FIN/FIPRZ1 axis promote chemoresistance by activating the NF-KB pathway in breast cancer cells. Cell Communication and Signaling 2018; 16: 92 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-018-0304-4
- Izawa, M., Harada, T., Deura, I., Taniguchi, F., Iwabe, T., Terakawa, N. Drug-induced apoptosis was markedly attenuated in endometriotic stromal cells. Human Reproduction 2006; 21: 600–604. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/ dei372
- Jayanthan, A., Ruan, Y., Truong, T.H., Narendran, A. Aurora Kinases as Druggable Targets in Pediatric Leukemia: Heterogeneity in Target Modulation Activities and Cytotoxicity by Diverse Novel Therapeutic Agents. PLoS ONE

2014; 9e102741 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal pone.0102741

- Jiménez-García, M.-P., Lucena-Cacace, A., Frias, M.-J.R., Ferrer, I., Narili-Grassow, M., Blanco-Aparicio, C., Carnero, A. Inflammation and stem markers association to PIMI/PIM2 kinase-induced tumors in breast and uterus. Oncotarget 2017; 8 https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.19438
- Kao, C., Chao, A., Tsai, C.-L., Chuang, W.-C., Huang, W.-P., Chen, G.-C., Lin, C.-Y., Wang, T.-H., Wang, H.-S., Lai, C.-H. Bortezomib enhances cancer cell death by blocking the autophagic flux through stimulating ERK phosphorylation. Cell Death & Disease 2014; 5 https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2014.468
- Karlseder, J., Wissing, D., Holzer, G., Orel, L., Sliutz, G., Auer, H., Jäättelä, M., Simon, M.M. HSP70 overexpression mediates the escape of a doxorubicin-induced G2 cell cycle arrest. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1996; 220: 153–159 https://doi.org/10.1006/ bbrc.1996.0373
- Kasvandik, S., Samuel, K., Peters, M., Eimre, M., Peet, N., Roost, A.M., Padrik, L., Paju, K., Peil, L., Salumets, A. Deep Quantitative Proteomics Reveals Extensive Metabolic Reprogramming and Cancer-Like Changes of Ectopic Endometriotic Stromal Cells. Journal of Proteome Research 2016; 15: 572–584. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.jproteome.5b00965
- Kobayashi, H., Yamashita, Y., Iwase, A., Yoshikawa, Y., Yasui, H., Kawai, Y., Uchida, K., Uno, N., Akatsuka, S., Takahashi, T., Kikkawa, F., Toyokuni, S. The ferroimmunomodulatory role of ectopic endometriotic stromal cells in ovarian endometriosis. Fertility and Sterility 2012; 98: 415–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fertnstert.2012.04.047
- Levy, D.S., Kahana, J.A., Kumar, R. AKT inhibitor, GSK690693, induces growth inhibition and apoptosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell lines. Blood 2009; 113: 1723–1729. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2008-02-137737
- Livak, K.J., Schmittgen, T.D. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)). Method. Methods 2001; 25: 402-408. https:// doi.org/10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Llobet, D., Eritja, N., Encinas, M., Llecha, N., Yeramian, A., Pallares, J., Sorolla, A., Gonzalez-Tallada, F.J., Matias-Guiu, X., Dolcet, X. CK2 controls TRAIL and Fas sensitivity by regulating FLIP levels in endometrial carcinoma cells. Oncogene 2008; 27: 2513–2524. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1210924
- Llobet, D., Eritja, N., Yeramian, A., Pallares, J., Sorolla, A., Domingo, M., Santacana, M., Gonzalez-Tallada, F.J., Matias-Guiu, X., Dolcet, X. The multikinase inhibitor Sorafenib induces apoptosis and sensitises endometrial cancer cells to TRAIL by different mechanisms. European Journal of Cancer 2010, 46: 836–850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eica.200912.025
- Lousse, J C, Van Langendonckt, A, Defrere, S, Ramos, R G, Colette, S, Donnez, J Peritoneal endometriosis is an inflammatory disease. Front Biosci 2012; 4: 23–40. https://doi. org/10.2741/358
- Menna, P., Salvatorelli, E. Primary Prevention Strategies for Anthracycline Cardiotoxicity: A Brief Overview. Chemotherapy 2017; 62: 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1159/000455823

Miller, J.E., Monsanto, S.P., Ahn, S.H., Khalaj, K., Fazleabas, A.T., Young, S.L., Lessey, B.A., Koti, M., Tayade, C. Interleukin-33 modulates inflammation in endometriosis. Scientific

- Reports 2017; 7: 17903 https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-18224-x Moggio, A., Pittatore, G., Cassoni, P., Marchino,
- G.L., Revelli, A., Bussolati, B. Sorafenib inhibits growth, migration, and angiogenic potential of ectopic endometrial mesenchymal stem cells derived from patients with endometriosis. Fertility and Sterility 2012; 98: 1521-1530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.08.003
- Nasu, K., Yuge, A., Tsuno, A., Nishida, M., Narahara, H. **Involvement of resistance** to apoptosis in the pathogenesis of

endometriosis. Histology and Histopathology 2009; 24: 1181–1192. https://doi.org/10.14670/ HH-24.1181

Ngô, C., Nicco, C., Leconte, M., Chéreau, C., Arkwright, S., Vacher-Lavenu, M.-C., Weill, B., Chapron, C., Batteux, F. Protein kinase inhibitors can control the progression of endometriosis in vitro and in vivo. The Journal of Pathology 2010; 222: 148–157. https://doi. org/10.1002/path.2756

Nnoaham, K.E., Hummelshoj, L., Webster, P., d'Hooghe, T., de Cicco Nardone, F., de Cicco Nardone, C., Jenkinson, C., Kennedy, S.H., Zondervan, K.T. Impact of endometriosis on quality of life and work productivity: a multicenter study across ten countries. Fertility and Sterility 2011; 96: 366–373. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.05.090 Pelch, K.E., Schroder, A.L., Kimball, P.A.,

Sharpe-Timms, K.L., Davis, J.W., Nagel, S.C. Aberrant gene expression profile in a mouse model of endometriosis mirrors that observed in women. Fertility and Sterility 2010; 93: 1615–1627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fertnstert.2009033.086

Puhlmann, U., Ziemann, C., Ruedell, G., Vorverk, H., Schaefer, D., Langebrake, C., Schuermann, P., Creutzig, U., Reinhardt, D. Impact of the cyclooxygenase system on doxorubicininduced functional multidrug resistance 1 overexpression and doxorubicin sensitivity in acute myeloid leukemic HL-60 cells. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 2005; 312: 346–354. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet104.071571

Rahnel, H., Viht, K., Lavogina, D., Mazina, O., Haljasorg, T., Enkvist, E., Uri, A. A Selective Biligand Inhibitor of CK2 Increases Caspase-3 Activity in Cancer Cells and Inhibits Platelet Aggregation. ChemMedChem 2017, 12: 1723-1736. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cmdc.201700457

- Reimand, J., Arak, T., Adler, P., Kolberg, L., Reisberg, S., Peterson, H., Vilo, J. g:Profiler—a web server for functional interpretation of gene lists (2016 update). Nucleic Acids Res. 2016; 44: W83–W89. https://doi.org/10.1093/ nar/gkw199
- Rekker, K., Saare, M., Eriste, E., Tasa, T., Kukuškina, V., Roost, A.M., Anderson, K., Samuel, K., Karro, H., Salumets, A., Peters, M. High-throughput mRNA sequencing of stromal cells from endometriomas and endometrium. Reproduction 2017; 154: 93–100. https://doi. org/10.1530/REP-17-0092
- Rhodes, N., Heerding, D.A., Duckett, D.R., Eberwein, D.J., Knick, V.B., Lansing, T.J., McConnell, R.T., Gilmer, T.M., Zhang, S.-Y., Robell, K., Kahana, J.A., Geske, R.S., Kleymenova, E.V., Choudhry, A.E., Lai, Z.,

Leber, J.D., Minthorn, E.A., Strum, S.L., Wood, E.R., Huang, P.S., Copeland, R.A., Kumar, R. Characterization of an Atk Kinase Inhibitor with Potent Pharmacodynamic and Antitumor Activity. Cancer Research 2008; 68: 2366–2374. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-07-5783

- Ruzzene, M., Pinna, L.A. Addiction to protein kinase CK2: A common denominator of diverse cancer cells? Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins and Proteomics 2010; 1804: 499–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbapap.2009.07.018
- Scutiero, G., Iannone, P., Bernardi, G., Bonaccorsi, G., Spadaro, S., Volta, C.A., Greco, P., Nappi, L. Oxidative Stress and Endometriosis: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Oxidative
- Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2017; 2017: 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/7265238
- Sharma, S.V., Settleman, J. Oncogene addiction: setting the stage for molecularly targeted cancer therapy. Genes & Development 2007; 21: 3214–3231. https://doi.org/10.1101/ gad1609907
- Shaul, P., Frenkel, M., Goldstein, E.B., Mittelman, L., Grunwald, A., Ebenstein, Y., Tsarfaty, I., Fridman, M. The Structure of Anthracycline Derivatives Determines Their Subcellular Localization and Cytotoxic Activity. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters 2013, 4: 323–328. https://doi.org/10.1021/mi3002852
- Shimomura, T., Hasako, S., Nakatsuru, Y., Mita, T., Ichikawa, K., Kodera, T., Sakai, T., Nambu, T., Miyamoto, M., Takahashi, I., Miki, S., Kawanishi, N., Ohkubo, M., Kotani, H., Iwasawa, Y. MK-5108, a Highly Selective Aurora-A Kinase Inhibitor, Shows Antitumor Activity Alone and in Combination with Docetaxel. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics 2010; 9: 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0609
- Shoji, K., Oda, K., Nakagawa, S., Hosokawa, S., Nagae, G., Uehrar, Y., Sone, K., Miyamoto, Y., Hiraike, H., Hiraike-Wada, O., Nei, T., Kawana, K., Kuramoto, H., Aburatani, H., Yano, T., Taketani, Y. The oncogenic mutation in the pleckstrin homology domain of AKT1 in endometrial carcinomas. British Journal of Cancer 2009; 101: 145–148. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.bic.6605109
- Singh, B., Cook, K.R., Vincent, L., Hall, C.S., Berry, J.A., Multani, A.S., Lucci, A. Cyclooxygenase-2 induces genomic instability, BCL2 expression, doxorubicin resistance, and altered cancerinitiating cell phenotype in MCF7 breast cancer cells. J. Surg. Res. 2008; 147: 240–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iss.2008.02.026
- Song, H., Gao, D. Fasudil, a Rho-associated protein kinase inhibitor, attenuates retinal ischemia and reperfusion injury in rats. Int. J. Mol. Med. 2011; 28: 193–198 https://doi. org/10.3892/ijmm.2011.659
- Teder, H., Koel, M., Paluoja, P., Jatsenko, T., Rekker, K., Laisk-Podar, T., Kukuškina, V., Velthut-Meikas, A., Fjodorova, O., Peters, M., Kere, J., Salumets, A., Palta, P., Krjutškov, K. TAC-seq: targeted DNA and RNA sequencing for precise biomarker molecule counting. npj Genomic Medicine 2018; 3: 34 https://doi. ore/10.1038/s41525-018-0072-5
- Thorn, C.F., Oshiro, C., Marsh, S., Hernandez-Boussard, T., McLeod, H., Klein, T.E., Altman, R.B. Doxorubicin pathways: pharmacodynamics and adverse effects. Pharmacogenetics and Genomics 2011;

21: 440–446. https://doi.org/10.1097/ FPC.0b013e32833ffb56

- Tran, S., DeGiovanni, P.-J., Piel, B., Rai, P. Cancer nanomedicine: a review of recent success in drug delivery. Clinical and Translational Medicine 2017, 6: 44 https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40169-017-0175-0
- Tsuno, A., Nasu, K., Kawano, Y., Yuge, A., Li, H., Abe, W., Narahara, H. Fasudi Inhibits the Proliferation and Contractility and Induces Cell Cycle Arrest and Apoptosis of Human Endometriotic Stromal Cells: A Promising Agent for the Treatment of Endometriosis. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 2011; 96: E1944–E1952. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2011-1503
- Vercellini, P., Viganò, P., Buggio, L., Makieva, S., Scarfone, G., Cribiù, F.M., Parazzini, F., Somigliana, E. Perimenopausal management of ovarian endometriosis and associated cancer risk: When is medical or surgical treatment indicated? Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology (in press) 2018 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bopbgyn.2018.01.017
- Viht, K., Saaver, S., Vahter, J., Enkvist, E., Lavogina, D., Sinijarv, H., Raidaru, G., Guerra, B., Issinger, O.-G., Uri, A. Acetoxymethyl Ester of Tetrabromobenzimidazole-Peptoid Conjugate for Inhibition of Protein Kinase CK2 in Living Cells. Bioconjugate Chemistry 2015; 26: 2324-2335. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.bioconjchem.5b00383

Wang, S., Deng, H., Huang, P., Sun, P., Huang, X., Su, Y., Zhu, X., Shen, J., Yan, D. **Real**- time self-tracking of an anticancer small molecule nanodrug based on colorful fluorescence variations. RSC Advances 2016; 6: 12472-12478. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C5RA24273H

- Wang, S., Midgley, C.A., Scaërou, F., Grabarek, J.B., Griffiths, G., Jackson, W., Kontopidis, G., McClue, S.J., McInnes, C., Meades, C., Mezna, M., Plater, A., Stuart, I., Thomas, M.P., Wood, G., Clarke, R.G., Blake, D.G., Zheleva, D.I., Lane, D.P., Jackson, R.C., Glover, D.M., Fischer, P.M. Discovery of N. Phenyl-4(thiazol-5-yl) pyrimidin-2-amine Aurora Kinase Inhibitors. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 2010; 53:
- 4367–4378. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm901913s Watanabe, A., Taniguchi, F., Izawa, M., Suou, K.,
 - Uegaki, T., Takai, E., Terakawa, N., Harada, T. The role of survivin in the resistance of endometriotic stromal cells to drug-induced apoptosis. Human Reproduction 2009; 24: 3172–3179. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/ den305
- Weizmann Institute of Science. 2019 GeneCards - Human Genes | Gene Database | Gene Search [WWW Document]. Genecards Suite https://www.ennecards.org/
- Wu, D., Liu, L., Yan, X., Wang, C., Wang, Y., Han, K., Lin, S., Gan, Z., Min, D. Pleiotrophin promotes chemoresistance to doxorubicin in osteosarcoma by upregulating P-glycoprotein.
- Oncotarget 2017; 8: 63857-63870. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.19148 Yao, Y., Chen, R., Ying, C., Zhang, G., Rui, T., Tao,
- A. Interleukin-33 attenuates doxorubicininduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis through

suppression of ASK1/JNK signaling pathway. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2017; 493: 1288–1295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbrc.2017.09.153

- Yoshino, O., Osuga, Y., Hirota, Y., Koga, K., Hirata, T., Yano, T., Ayabe, T., Tsutsumi, O., Taketani, Y. Endometrial Stromal Cells Undergoing Decidualization Down-Regulate Their Properties to Produce Proinflammatory Cytokines in Response to Interleukin-1β via Reduced p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Phosphorylation. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 2003; 88: 2236–2241. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2002-021788
- Yotova, I.Y., Quan, P., Leditznig, N., Beer, U., Wenzl, R., Tschugguel, W. Abnormal activation of Ras/Raf/MAPK and RhoA/ROCKII signalling pathways in eutopic endometrial stromal cells of patients with endometricois. Human Reproduction 2011; 26: 885–897. https://doi. org/10.1093/humrep/der010
- Yuge, A., Nasu, K., Matsumoto, H., Nishida, M., Narahara, H. Collagen gel contractility is enhanced in human endometriotic stromal cells: a possible mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of endometriosis-associated fibrosis. Human Reproduction 2007; 22: 938–944. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/ de/485

Received 28 April 2019; received in revised form 22 May 2019; accepted 28 May 2019.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Deniss Sõritsa
Date of birth:	16.11.1982
Citizenship:	Estonian
Telephone:	+372 740 9930
E-mail:	deniss@eliteliinik.ee

Education:

2011-	PhD studies in University of Tartu
2007-2011	Tartu University Hospital's Women's Clinic postgraduate medical
	training (residency) in the field of obstetrics and gynaecology
2001-2007	Faculty of Medicine in University of Tartu
1998-2001	Hugo Treffner Gymnasium, Tartu
1989–1998	School No. 4, Tartu

Professional employment:

2015– 2012–	Competence Centre on Health Technologies, research fellow Clinic Elite – gynaecologist/obstetrician/IVF specialist
2011–2015	Tartu University Hospital's Women's Clinic – gynaecologist/ obstetrician
2011–2015	Competence centre on reproductive medicine and biology, research fellow
2005–2006	Tartu University Hospital's Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Clinic Emergency department, nurse

Supervision: Jelena Saulenko, Radiology Technician of Tartu Health Care College, thesis "Fetal cleft and cleft palate ultrasonography diagnostics".

Publications:

- Kolesnikov Y, **Sõritsa D.** Analgesic synergy between topical opioids and topical non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in the mouse model of thermal pain. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2008; **579:** 126–33.
- Saare M, Sõritsa D, Vaidla K, Palta P, Remm M, Laan M, Karro H, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, D'Hooghe T, Peters M. No evidence of somatic DNA copy number alterations in eutopic and ectopic endometrial tissue in endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* 2012; 27: 1857–64.
- Sõritsa D, Saare M, Laisk-Podar T, Peters M, Sõritsa A, Matt K, Karro H, Salumets A. Pregnancy Rate in Endometriosis Patients according to the Severity of the Disease after Using a Combined Approach of Laparoscopy, GnRH Agonist Treatment and in vitro Fertilization. *Gynecol Obstet Invest.* 2015; 79: 34–39.

- Rekker K, Saare M, Roost AM, Kaart T, Sõritsa D, Karro H, Sõritsa A, Simón C, Salumets A, Peters M. Circulating miR-200-family micro-RNAs have altered plasma levels in patients with endometriosis and vary with blood collection time. *Fertil Steril.* 2015; 104: 938–946.
- Saare M, Rekker K, Laisk-Podar T, Sõritsa D, Roost AM, Simm J, Velthut-Meikas A, Samuel K, Metsalu T, Karro H, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, Peters M. High-throughput sequencing approach uncovers the miRNome of peritoneal endometriotic lesions and adjacent healthy tissues. *PLoS One.* 2014; 9: 1–9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26759613
- Saare M, Modhukur V, Suhorutshenko M, Rajashekar B, Rekker K, Sõritsa D, Karro H, Soplepmann P, Sõritsa A, Lindgren CM, Rahmioglu N, Drong A, Becker CM, Zondervan KT, Salumets A, Peters M. The influence of menstrual cycle and endometriosis on endometrial methylome. *Clin Epigenetics*. 2016; 8: 1–10.
- Calhaz-Jorge C, de Geyter C, Kupka MS, de Mouzon J, Erb K, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Wyns C, Goossens V, Sõritsa D, et al. Assisted reproductive technology in Europe, 2012: results generated from European registers by ESHRE. European IVF-Monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). *Hum Reprod.* 2016; **31:** 1638–1652.
- **Sõritsa D,** Teder H, Roosipuu R, Tamm H, Laisk-Podar T, Soplepmann P, Altraja A, Salumets A, Peters M. Whole exome sequencing of benign pulmonary metastasizing leiomyoma reveals mutation in the BMP8B gene. *BMC Med Genet.* 2018; **19**: 1–7.
- De Geyter C, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka MS, Wyns C, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Smeenk J, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, **Sõritsa D**, et al.; European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2014: results generated from European registries by ESHRE: The European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). *Hum Reprod*. 2018; **33:** 1586–1601.
- Saare M, Laisk T, Teder H, Paluoja P, Palta P, Koel M, Kirss F, Karro H, **Sõritsa D**, Salumets A, Krjutškov K, Peters M. A molecular tool for menstrual cycle phase dating of endometrial samples in endometriosis transcriptome studies. *Biol Reprod.* 2019; **101:** 1–3.
- Lavogina D, Samuel K, Lavrits A, Meltsov A, Sõritsa D, Kadastik Ü, Peters M, Rinken A, Salumets A. Chemosensitivity and chemoresistance in endometriosis – differences for ectopic versus eutopic cells. *Reprod Biomed Online*. 2019; 39: 556–568.
- Sõritsa D, Mäestu E, Nuut M, Mäestu J, Migueles JH, Läänelaid S, Ehrenberg A, Sekavin A, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, Ortega FB, Altmäe S. Maternal physical activity and sedentary behaviour before and during in vitro fertilization treatment: a longitudinal study exploring the associations with controlled ovarian stimulation and pregnancy outcomes. *J Assist Reprod Genet.* 2020; 37: 1869–1881.

- De Geyter C, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka MS, Wyns C, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Smeenk J, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, Sõritsa D, et al.; European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2015: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Hum Reprod Open*. 2020; 2020: 1–17.
- Wyns C, Bergh C, Calhaz-Jorge C, De Geyter Ch, Kupka MS, Motrenko T, Rugescu I, Smeenk J, Tandler-Schneider A, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, Sõritsa D, et al.; The European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2016: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Human Reproduction Open*. 2020; 2020: 1–17.
- Wyns C, De Geyter Ch, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka MS, Motrenko T, Smeenk J, Bergh C, Tandler-Schneider A, Rugescu IA, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, **Sõritsa D**, et al.; The European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2017: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Human Reproduction Open.* 2021; **2021:** 1–17.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Deniss Sõritsa
Sünniaeg:	16.11.1982
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Telefon:	+372 740 9930
E-post:	deniss@eliteliinik.ee

Haridustee:

2011-	Tartu Ülikool, doktoriõpingud arstiteadustes
2007-2011	SA Tartu Ülikooli Kliinikumi Naistekliinik, Sünnitusabi ja
	Günekoloogia residentuur
2001-2007	Tartu Ülikooli, Arstiteaduskond
1998-2001	Hugo Treffneri Gümnaasium
1989–1998	Tartu 4 Keskkool

Teenistuskäik:

2015-	Tervisetehnoloogiate Arenduskeskus AS (endine Reproduktiiv- meditsiini TAK AS), teadur		
2012-	Kliinik Elite AS, naistearst		
2011-2015	SA Tartu Ülikooli Kliinikum, Tartu Ülikooli kliinikumi naiste-		
	kliinik, arst-õppejõud		
2011-2015	Reproduktiivmeditsiini Tehnoloogia Arenduskeskus AS,		
	teadur		
2005–2006	SA Tartu Ülikooli Kliinikumi Anestesioloogia ja intensiivravi kliinik, õde		

Õppetöö:

Juhendamine: Tartu Tervishoiu Kõrgkooli Radioloogiatehniku Jelena Saulenko lõputöö "Loote huule-suulaelõhe ultrahelidiagnostika".

Publikatsioonid:

- Kolesnikov Y, **Sõritsa D.** Analgesic synergy between topical opioids and topical non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in the mouse model of thermal pain. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2008; **579:** 126–33.
- Saare M, Sõritsa D, Vaidla K, Palta P, Remm M, Laan M, Karro H, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, D'Hooghe T, Peters M. No evidence of somatic DNA copy number alterations in eutopic and ectopic endometrial tissue in endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* 2012; 27: 1857–64.

- Sõritsa D, Saare M, Laisk-Podar T, Peters M, Sõritsa A, Matt K, Karro H, Salumets A. Pregnancy Rate in Endometriosis Patients according to the Severity of the Disease after Using a Combined Approach of Laparoscopy, GnRH Agonist Treatment and in vitro Fertilization. *Gynecol Obstet Invest.* 2015; **79:** 34–39.
- Rekker K, Saare M, Roost AM, Kaart T, Sõritsa D, Karro H, Sõritsa A, Simón C, Salumets A, Peters M. Circulating miR-200-family micro-RNAs have altered plasma levels in patients with endometriosis and vary with blood collection time. *Fertil Steril.* 2015; 104: 938–946.
- Saare M, Rekker K, Laisk-Podar T, Sõritsa D, Roost AM, Simm J, Velthut-Meikas A, Samuel K, Metsalu T, Karro H, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, Peters M. High-throughput sequencing approach uncovers the miRNome of peritoneal endometriotic lesions and adjacent healthy tissues. *PLoS One*. 2014; 9: 1–9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26759613
- Saare M, Modhukur V, Suhorutshenko M, Rajashekar B, Rekker K, Sõritsa D, Karro H, Soplepmann P, Sõritsa A, Lindgren CM, Rahmioglu N, Drong A, Becker CM, Zondervan KT, Salumets A, Peters M. The influence of menstrual cycle and endometriosis on endometrial methylome. *Clin Epigenetics*. 2016; 8: 1–10.
- Calhaz-Jorge C, de Geyter C, Kupka MS, de Mouzon J, Erb K, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Wyns C, Goossens V, Sõritsa D, et al. Assisted reproductive technology in Europe, 2012: results generated from European registers by ESHRE. European IVF-Monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). *Hum Reprod.* 2016; **31:** 1638–1652.
- Sõritsa D, Teder H, Roosipuu R, Tamm H, Laisk-Podar T, Soplepmann P, Altraja A, Salumets A, Peters M. Whole exome sequencing of benign pulmonary metastasizing leiomyoma reveals mutation in the BMP8B gene. *BMC Med Genet.* 2018; 19: 1–7.
- De Geyter C, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka MS, Wyns C, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Smeenk J, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, Sõritsa D, et al.; European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2014: results generated from European registries by ESHRE: The European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). *Hum Reprod.* 2018; 33: 1586–1601.
- Saare M, Laisk T, Teder H, Paluoja P, Palta P, Koel M, Kirss F, Karro H, **Sõritsa D**, Salumets A, Krjutškov K, Peters M. A molecular tool for menstrual cycle phase dating of endometrial samples in endometriosis transcriptome studies. *Biol Reprod.* 2019; **101:** 1–3.
- Lavogina D, Samuel K, Lavrits A, Meltsov A, Sõritsa D, Kadastik Ü, Peters M, Rinken A, Salumets A. Chemosensitivity and chemoresistance in endometriosis – differences for ectopic versus eutopic cells. *Reprod Biomed Online*. 2019; 39: 556–568.

- Sõritsa D, Mäestu E, Nuut M, Mäestu J, Migueles JH, Läänelaid S, Ehrenberg A, Sekavin A, Sõritsa A, Salumets A, Ortega FB, Altmäe S. Maternal physical activity and sedentary behaviour before and during in vitro fertilization treatment: a longitudinal study exploring the associations with controlled ovarian stimulation and pregnancy outcomes. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2020; 37: 1869–1881.
- De Geyter C, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka MS, Wyns C, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Smeenk J, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, Sõritsa D, et al.; European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2015: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Hum Reprod Open*. 2020; 2020: 1–17.
- Wyns C, Bergh C, Calhaz-Jorge C, De Geyter Ch, Kupka MS, Motrenko T, Rugescu I, Smeenk J, Tandler-Schneider A, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, Sõritsa D, et al.; The European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2016: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Human Reproduction Open*. 2020; 2020: 1–17.
- Wyns C, De Geyter Ch, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka MS, Motrenko T, Smeenk J, Bergh C, Tandler-Schneider A, Rugescu IA, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, **Sõritsa D**, et al.; The European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). ART in Europe, 2017: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Human Reproduction Open*. 2021; **2021**: 1–17.

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Heidi-Ingrid Maaroos**. The natural course of gastric ulcer in connection with chronic gastritis and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1991.
- 2. **Mihkel Zilmer**. Na-pump in normal and tumorous brain tissues: Structural, functional and tumorigenesis aspects. Tartu, 1991.
- 3. **Eero Vasar**. Role of cholecystokinin receptors in the regulation of behaviour and in the action of haloperidol and diazepam. Tartu, 1992.
- 4. **Tiina Talvik**. Hypoxic-ischaemic brain damage in neonates (clinical, biochemical and brain computed tomographical investigation). Tartu, 1992.
- 5. Ants Peetsalu. Vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: A study of gastric acidity, serum pepsinogen I, gastric mucosal histology and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1992.
- 6. **Marika Mikelsaar**. Evaluation of the gastrointestinal microbial ecosystem in health and disease. Tartu, 1992.
- 7. Hele Everaus. Immuno-hormonal interactions in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and multiple myeloma. Tartu, 1993.
- 8. **Ruth Mikelsaar**. Etiological factors of diseases in genetically consulted children and newborn screening: dissertation for the commencement of the degree of doctor of medical sciences. Tartu, 1993.
- 9. Agu Tamm. On metabolic action of intestinal microflora: clinical aspects. Tartu, 1993.
- 10. Katrin Gross. Multiple sclerosis in South-Estonia (epidemiological and computed tomographical investigations). Tartu, 1993.
- 11. **Oivi Uibo**. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia: occurrence, screening, diagnosis and clinical characterization. Tartu, 1994.
- 12. Viiu Tuulik. The functional disorders of central nervous system of chemistry workers. Tartu, 1994.
- 13. **Margus Viigimaa**. Primary haemostasis, antiaggregative and anticoagulant treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Tartu, 1994.
- 14. **Rein Kolk**. Atrial versus ventricular pacing in patients with sick sinus syndrome. Tartu, 1994.
- 15. **Toomas Podar**. Incidence of childhood onset type 1 diabetes mellitus in Estonia. Tartu, 1994.
- 16. **Kiira Subi**. The laboratory surveillance of the acute respiratory viral infections in Estonia. Tartu, 1995.
- 17. **Irja Lutsar**. Infections of the central nervous system in children (epidemiologic, diagnostic and therapeutic aspects, long term outcome). Tartu, 1995.
- 18. **Aavo Lang**. The role of dopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine, sigma and NMDA receptors in the action of antipsychotic drugs. Tartu, 1995.
- 19. Andrus Arak. Factors influencing the survival of patients after radical surgery for gastric cancer. Tartu, 1996.

- 20. **Tõnis Karki**. Quantitative composition of the human lactoflora and method for its examination. Tartu, 1996.
- 21. **Reet Mändar**. Vaginal microflora during pregnancy and its transmission to newborn. Tartu, 1996.
- 22. **Triin Remmel**. Primary biliary cirrhosis in Estonia: epidemiology, clinical characterization and prognostication of the course of the disease. Tartu, 1996.
- 23. **Toomas Kivastik**. Mechanisms of drug addiction: focus on positive reinforcing properties of morphine. Tartu, 1996.
- 24. **Paavo Pokk**. Stress due to sleep deprivation: focus on GABA_A receptorchloride ionophore complex. Tartu, 1996.
- 25. **Kristina Allikmets**. Renin system activity in essential hypertension. Associations with atherothrombogenic cardiovascular risk factors and with the efficacy of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 26. **Triin Parik**. Oxidative stress in essential hypertension: Associations with metabolic disturbances and the effects of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 27. Svetlana Päi. Factors promoting heterogeneity of the course of rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 1997.
- 28. **Maarike Sallo**. Studies on habitual physical activity and aerobic fitness in 4 to 10 years old children. Tartu, 1997.
- 29. Paul Naaber. *Clostridium difficile* infection and intestinal microbial ecology. Tartu, 1997.
- 30. Rein Pähkla. Studies in pinoline pharmacology. Tartu, 1997.
- 31. Andrus Juhan Voitk. Outpatient laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Tartu, 1997.
- 32. Joel Starkopf. Oxidative stress and ischaemia-reperfusion of the heart. Tartu, 1997.
- 33. Janika Kõrv. Incidence, case-fatality and outcome of stroke. Tartu, 1998.
- 34. Ülla Linnamägi. Changes in local cerebral blood flow and lipid peroxidation following lead exposure in experiment. Tartu, 1998.
- 35. Ave Minajeva. Sarcoplasmic reticulum function: comparison of atrial and ventricular myocardium. Tartu, 1998.
- 36. **Oleg Milenin**. Reconstruction of cervical part of esophagus by revascularised ileal autografts in dogs. A new complex multistage method. Tartu, 1998.
- 37. **Sergei Pakriev**. Prevalence of depression, harmful use of alcohol and alcohol dependence among rural population in Udmurtia. Tartu, 1998.
- 38. Allen Kaasik. Thyroid hormone control over β-adrenergic signalling system in rat atria. Tartu, 1998.
- 39. Vallo Matto. Pharmacological studies on anxiogenic and antiaggressive properties of antidepressants. Tartu, 1998.
- 40. **Maire Vasar**. Allergic diseases and bronchial hyperreactivity in Estonian children in relation to environmental influences. Tartu, 1998.
- 41. **Kaja Julge**. Humoral immune responses to allergens in early childhood. Tartu, 1998.

- 42. **Heli Grünberg**. The cardiovascular risk of Estonian schoolchildren. A cross-sectional study of 9-, 12- and 15-year-old children. Tartu, 1998.
- 43. **Epp Sepp**. Formation of intestinal microbial ecosystem in children. Tartu, 1998.
- 44. **Mai Ots**. Characteristics of the progression of human and experimental glomerulopathies. Tartu, 1998.
- 45. Tiina Ristimäe. Heart rate variability in patients with coronary artery disease. Tartu, 1998.
- 46. Leho Kõiv. Reaction of the sympatho-adrenal and hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical system in the acute stage of head injury. Tartu, 1998.
- 47. Bela Adojaan. Immune and genetic factors of childhood onset IDDM in Estonia. An epidemiological study. Tartu, 1999.
- 48. Jakov Shlik. Psychophysiological effects of cholecystokinin in humans. Tartu, 1999.
- 49. **Kai Kisand**. Autoantibodies against dehydrogenases of α-ketoacids. Tartu, 1999.
- 50. Toomas Marandi. Drug treatment of depression in Estonia. Tartu, 1999.
- 51. Ants Kask. Behavioural studies on neuropeptide Y. Tartu, 1999.
- 52. Ello-Rahel Karelson. Modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in the rat hippocampus by neuropeptide galanin and its chimeric analogs. Tartu, 1999.
- 53. **Tanel Laisaar**. Treatment of pleural empyema special reference to intrapleural therapy with streptokinase and surgical treatment modalities. Tartu, 1999.
- 54. Eve Pihl. Cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged former athletes. Tartu, 1999.
- 55. **Katrin Õunap**. Phenylketonuria in Estonia: incidence, newborn screening, diagnosis, clinical characterization and genotype/phenotype correlation. Tartu, 1999.
- 56. Siiri Kõljalg. Acinetobacter an important nosocomial pathogen. Tartu, 1999.
- 57. Helle Karro. Reproductive health and pregnancy outcome in Estonia: association with different factors. Tartu, 1999.
- 58. **Heili Varendi**. Behavioral effects observed in human newborns during exposure to naturally occurring odors. Tartu, 1999.
- 59. Anneli Beilmann. Epidemiology of epilepsy in children and adolescents in Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, and clinical characteristics. Tartu, 1999.
- 60. Vallo Volke. Pharmacological and biochemical studies on nitric oxide in the regulation of behaviour. Tartu, 1999.
- 61. **Pilvi Ilves**. Hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy in asphyxiated term infants. A prospective clinical, biochemical, ultrasonographical study. Tartu, 1999.
- 62. Anti Kalda. Oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced neuronal death and its pharmacological prevention in cerebellar granule cells. Tartu, 1999.
- 63. Eve-Irene Lepist. Oral peptide prodrugs studies on stability and absorption. Tartu, 2000.

- 64. Jana Kivastik. Lung function in Estonian schoolchildren: relationship with anthropometric indices and respiratory symptomas, reference values for dynamic spirometry. Tartu, 2000.
- 65. **Karin Kull**. Inflammatory bowel disease: an immunogenetic study. Tartu, 2000.
- 66. Kaire Innos. Epidemiological resources in Estonia: data sources, their quality and feasibility of cohort studies. Tartu, 2000.
- 67. **Tamara Vorobjova**. Immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* and its association with dynamics of chronic gastritis and epithelial cell turnover in antrum and corpus. Tartu, 2001.
- 68. **Ruth Kalda**. Structure and outcome of family practice quality in the changing health care system of Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 69. Annika Krüüner. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* spread and drug resistance in Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 70. **Marlit Veldi**. Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Computerized Endopharyngeal Myotonometry of the Soft Palate and Lingual Musculature. Tartu, 2001.
- 71. Anneli Uusküla. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases in Estonia in 1990–2000. Tartu, 2001.
- 72. Ade Kallas. Characterization of antibodies to coagulation factor VIII. Tartu, 2002.
- 73. **Heidi Annuk**. Selection of medicinal plants and intestinal lactobacilli as antimicrobil components for functional foods. Tartu, 2002.
- 74. Aet Lukmann. Early rehabilitation of patients with ischaemic heart disease after surgical revascularization of the myocardium: assessment of health-related quality of life, cardiopulmonary reserve and oxidative stress. A clinical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 75. **Maigi Eisen**. Pathogenesis of Contact Dermatitis: participation of Oxidative Stress. A clinical – biochemical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 76. **Piret Hussar**. Histology of the post-traumatic bone repair in rats. Elaboration and use of a new standardized experimental model bicortical perforation of tibia compared to internal fracture and resection osteotomy. Tartu, 2002.
- 77. **Tõnu Rätsep**. Aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral haemodynamics. Tartu, 2002.
- 78. **Marju Herodes**. Quality of life of people with epilepsy in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 79. **Katre Maasalu**. Changes in bone quality due to age and genetic disorders and their clinical expressions in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 80. **Toomas Sillakivi**. Perforated peptic ulcer in Estonia: epidemiology, risk factors and relations with *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 2003.
- 81. Leena Puksa. Late responses in motor nerve conduction studies. F and A waves in normal subjects and patients with neuropathies. Tartu, 2003.
- 82. Krista Lõivukene. *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric microbial ecology and its antimicrobial susceptibility pattern. Tartu, 2003.

- 83. **Helgi Kolk**. Dyspepsia and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the diagnostic value of symptoms, treatment and follow-up of patients referred for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy by family physicians. Tartu, 2003.
- 84. **Helena Soomer**. Validation of identification and age estimation methods in forensic odontology. Tartu, 2003.
- 85. **Kersti Oselin**. Studies on the human MDR1, MRP1, and MRP2 ABC transporters: functional relevance of the genetic polymorphisms in the *MDR1* and *MRP1* gene. Tartu, 2003.
- 86. Jaan Soplepmann. Peptic ulcer haemorrhage in Estonia: epidemiology, prognostic factors, treatment and outcome. Tartu, 2003.
- 87. **Margot Peetsalu**. Long-term follow-up after vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: recurrent ulcer, changes in the function, morphology and *Helicobacter pylori* colonisation of the gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2003.
- 88. Kersti Klaamas. Humoral immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* a study of host-dependent and microbial factors. Tartu, 2003.
- 89. **Pille Taba**. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease in Tartu, Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, clinical characteristics, and pharmacoepidemiology. Tartu, 2003.
- 90. Alar Veraksitš. Characterization of behavioural and biochemical phenotype of cholecystokinin-2 receptor deficient mice: changes in the function of the dopamine and endopioidergic system. Tartu, 2003.
- 91. **Ingrid Kalev**. CC-chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene polymorphism in Estonians and in patients with Type I and Type II diabetes mellitus. Tartu, 2003.
- 92. Lumme Kadaja. Molecular approach to the regulation of mitochondrial function in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2003.
- 93. Aive Liigant. Epidemiology of primary central nervous system tumours in Estonia from 1986 to 1996. Clinical characteristics, incidence, survival and prognostic factors. Tartu, 2004.
- 94. Andres, Kulla. Molecular characteristics of mesenchymal stroma in human astrocytic gliomas. Tartu, 2004.
- 95. Mari Järvelaid. Health damaging risk behaviours in adolescence. Tartu, 2004.
- 96. Ülle Pechter. Progression prevention strategies in chronic renal failure and hypertension. An experimental and clinical study. Tartu, 2004.
- 97. Gunnar Tasa. Polymorphic glutathione S-transferases biology and role in modifying genetic susceptibility to senile cataract and primary open angle glaucoma. Tartu, 2004.
- 98. **Tuuli Käämbre**. Intracellular energetic unit: structural and functional aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 99. Vitali Vassiljev. Influence of nitric oxide syntase inhibitors on the effects of ethanol after acute and chronic ethanol administration and withdrawal. Tartu, 2004.

- 100. Aune Rehema. Assessment of nonhaem ferrous iron and glutathione redox ratio as markers of pathogeneticity of oxidative stress in different clinical groups. Tartu, 2004.
- 101. **Evelin Seppet**. Interaction of mitochondria and ATPases in oxidative muscle cells in normal and pathological conditions. Tartu, 2004.
- 102. Eduard Maron. Serotonin function in panic disorder: from clinical experiments to brain imaging and genetics. Tartu, 2004.
- 103. Marje Oona. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children: epidemiological and therapeutic aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 104. Kersti Kokk. Regulation of active and passive molecular transport in the testis. Tartu, 2005.
- 105. Vladimir Järv. Cross-sectional imaging for pretreatment evaluation and follow-up of pelvic malignant tumours. Tartu, 2005.
- 106. Andre Õun. Epidemiology of adult epilepsy in Tartu, Estonia. Incidence, prevalence and medical treatment. Tartu, 2005.
- 107. **Piibe Muda**. Homocysteine and hypertension: associations between homocysteine and essential hypertension in treated and untreated hypertensive patients with and without coronary artery disease. Tartu, 2005.
- 108. **Külli Kingo**. The interleukin-10 family cytokines gene polymorphisms in plaque psoriasis. Tartu, 2005.
- 109. **Mati Merila**. Anatomy and clinical relevance of the glenohumeral joint capsule and ligaments. Tartu, 2005.
- 110. **Epp Songisepp**. Evaluation of technological and functional properties of the new probiotic *Lactobacillus fermentum* ME-3. Tartu, 2005.
- 111. Tiia Ainla. Acute myocardial infarction in Estonia: clinical characteristics, management and outcome. Tartu, 2005.
- 112. Andres Sell. Determining the minimum local anaesthetic requirements for hip replacement surgery under spinal anaesthesia a study employing a spinal catheter. Tartu, 2005.
- 113. **Tiia Tamme**. Epidemiology of odontogenic tumours in Estonia. Pathogenesis and clinical behaviour of ameloblastoma. Tartu, 2005.
- 114. **Triine Annus**. Allergy in Estonian schoolchildren: time trends and characteristics. Tartu, 2005.
- 115. **Tiia Voor**. Microorganisms in infancy and development of allergy: comparison of Estonian and Swedish children. Tartu, 2005.
- 116. **Priit Kasenõmm**. Indicators for tonsillectomy in adults with recurrent tonsillitis clinical, microbiological and pathomorphological investigations. Tartu, 2005.
- 117. **Eva Zusinaite**. Hepatitis C virus: genotype identification and interactions between viral proteases. Tartu, 2005.
- 118. **Piret Kõll**. Oral lactoflora in chronic periodontitis and periodontal health. Tartu, 2006.
- 119. **Tiina Stelmach**. Epidemiology of cerebral palsy and unfavourable neurodevelopmental outcome in child population of Tartu city and county, Estonia Prevalence, clinical features and risk factors. Tartu, 2006.

- 120. **Katrin Pudersell**. Tropane alkaloid production and riboflavine excretion in the field and tissue cultures of henbane (*Hyoscyamus niger* L.). Tartu, 2006.
- 121. **Külli Jaako**. Studies on the role of neurogenesis in brain plasticity. Tartu, 2006.
- 122. Aare Märtson. Lower limb lengthening: experimental studies of bone regeneration and long-term clinical results. Tartu, 2006.
- 123. Heli Tähepõld. Patient consultation in family medicine. Tartu, 2006.
- 124. **Stanislav Liskmann**. Peri-implant disease: pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment in view of both inflammation and oxidative stress profiling. Tartu, 2006.
- 125. **Ruth Rudissaar**. Neuropharmacology of atypical antipsychotics and an animal model of psychosis. Tartu, 2006.
- 126. **Helena Andreson**. Diversity of *Helicobacter pylori* genotypes in Estonian patients with chronic inflammatory gastric diseases. Tartu, 2006.
- 127. Katrin Pruus. Mechanism of action of antidepressants: aspects of serotoninergic system and its interaction with glutamate. Tartu, 2006.
- 128. **Priit Põder**. Clinical and experimental investigation: relationship of ischaemia/reperfusion injury with oxidative stress in abdominal aortic aneurysm repair and in extracranial brain artery endarterectomy and possibilities of protection against ischaemia using a glutathione analogue in a rat model of global brain ischaemia. Tartu, 2006.
- 129. Marika Tammaru. Patient-reported outcome measurement in rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 2006.
- 130. Tiia Reimand. Down syndrome in Estonia. Tartu, 2006.
- 131. **Diva Eensoo**. Risk-taking in traffic and Markers of Risk-Taking Behaviour in Schoolchildren and Car Drivers. Tartu, 2007.
- 132. **Riina Vibo**. The third stroke registry in Tartu, Estonia from 2001 to 2003: incidence, case-fatality, risk factors and long-term outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 133. Chris Pruunsild. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 134. Eve Õiglane-Šlik. Angelman and Prader-Willi syndromes in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 135. Kadri Haller. Antibodies to follicle stimulating hormone. Significance in female infertility. Tartu, 2007.
- 136. Pille Ööpik. Management of depression in family medicine. Tartu, 2007.
- 137. Jaak Kals. Endothelial function and arterial stiffness in patients with atherosclerosis and in healthy subjects. Tartu, 2007.
- 138. **Priit Kampus**. Impact of inflammation, oxidative stress and age on arterial stiffness and carotid artery intima-media thickness. Tartu, 2007.
- 139. Margus Punab. Male fertility and its risk factors in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 140. Alar Toom. Heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty: clinical and pathogenetic investigation. Tartu, 2007.

- 141. Lea Pehme. Epidemiology of tuberculosis in Estonia 1991–2003 with special regard to extrapulmonary tuberculosis and delay in diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. Tartu, 2007.
- 142. Juri Karjagin. The pharmacokinetics of metronidazole and meropenem in septic shock. Tartu, 2007.
- 143. **Inga Talvik**. Inflicted traumatic brain injury shaken baby syndrome in Estonia epidemiology and outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 144. **Tarvo Rajasalu**. Autoimmune diabetes: an immunological study of type 1 diabetes in humans and in a model of experimental diabetes (in RIP-B7.1 mice). Tartu, 2007.
- 145. **Inga Karu**. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury of the heart during coronary surgery: a clinical study investigating the effect of hyperoxia. Tartu, 2007.
- 146. **Peeter Padrik**. Renal cell carcinoma: Changes in natural history and treatment of metastatic disease. Tartu, 2007.
- 147. Neve Vendt. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in infants aged 9 to 12 months in Estonia. Tartu, 2008.
- 148. Lenne-Triin Heidmets. The effects of neurotoxins on brain plasticity: focus on neural Cell Adhesion Molecule. Tartu, 2008.
- 149. **Paul Korrovits**. Asymptomatic inflammatory prostatitis: prevalence, etiological factors, diagnostic tools. Tartu, 2008.
- 150. Annika Reintam. Gastrointestinal failure in intensive care patients. Tartu, 2008.
- 151. Kristiina Roots. Cationic regulation of Na-pump in the normal, Alzheimer's and CCK₂ receptor-deficient brain. Tartu, 2008.
- 152. **Helen Puusepp**. The genetic causes of mental retardation in Estonia: fragile X syndrome and creatine transporter defect. Tartu, 2009.
- 153. **Kristiina Rull**. Human chorionic gonadotropin beta genes and recurrent miscarriage: expression and variation study. Tartu, 2009.
- 154. **Margus Eimre**. Organization of energy transfer and feedback regulation in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2009.
- 155. Maire Link. Transcription factors FoxP3 and AIRE: autoantibody associations. Tartu, 2009.
- 156. Kai Haldre. Sexual health and behaviour of young women in Estonia. Tartu, 2009.
- 157. **Kaur Liivak**. Classical form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency in Estonia: incidence, genotype and phenotype with special attention to short-term growth and 24-hour blood pressure. Tartu, 2009.
- 158. Kersti Ehrlich. Antioxidative glutathione analogues (UPF peptides) molecular design, structure-activity relationships and testing the protective properties. Tartu, 2009.
- 159. Anneli Rätsep. Type 2 diabetes care in family medicine. Tartu, 2009.
- 160. **Silver Türk**. Etiopathogenetic aspects of chronic prostatitis: role of mycoplasmas, coryneform bacteria and oxidative stress. Tartu, 2009.

- 161. Kaire Heilman. Risk markers for cardiovascular disease and low bone mineral density in children with type 1 diabetes. Tartu, 2009.
- 162. **Kristi Rüütel**. HIV-epidemic in Estonia: injecting drug use and quality of life of people living with HIV. Tartu, 2009.
- 163. **Triin Eller**. Immune markers in major depression and in antidepressive treatment. Tartu, 2009.
- 164. Siim Suutre. The role of TGF- β isoforms and osteoprogenitor cells in the pathogenesis of heterotopic ossification. An experimental and clinical study of hip arthroplasty. Tartu, 2010.
- 165. Kai Kliiman. Highly drug-resistant tuberculosis in Estonia: Risk factors and predictors of poor treatment outcome. Tartu, 2010.
- 166. **Inga Villa**. Cardiovascular health-related nutrition, physical activity and fitness in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 167. **Tõnis Org**. Molecular function of the first PHD finger domain of Autoimmune Regulator protein. Tartu, 2010.
- 168. **Tuuli Metsvaht**. Optimal antibacterial therapy of neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2010.
- 169. Jaanus Kahu. Kidney transplantation: Studies on donor risk factors and mycophenolate mofetil. Tartu, 2010.
- 170. Koit Reimand. Autoimmunity in reproductive failure: A study on associated autoantibodies and autoantigens. Tartu, 2010.
- 171. **Mart Kull**. Impact of vitamin D and hypolactasia on bone mineral density: a population based study in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 172. Rael Laugesaar. Stroke in children epidemiology and risk factors. Tartu, 2010.
- 173. **Mark Braschinsky**. Epidemiology and quality of life issues of hereditary spastic paraplegia in Estonia and implemention of genetic analysis in everyday neurologic practice. Tartu, 2010.
- 174. **Kadri Suija**. Major depression in family medicine: associated factors, recurrence and possible intervention. Tartu, 2010.
- 175. **Jarno Habicht**. Health care utilisation in Estonia: socioeconomic determinants and financial burden of out-of-pocket payments. Tartu, 2010.
- 176. Kristi Abram. The prevalence and risk factors of rosacea. Subjective disease perception of rosacea patients. Tartu, 2010.
- 177. **Malle Kuum**. Mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum cation fluxes: Novel roles in cellular physiology. Tartu, 2010.
- 178. Rita Teek. The genetic causes of early onset hearing loss in Estonian children. Tartu, 2010.
- 179. **Daisy Volmer**. The development of community pharmacy services in Estonia public and professional perceptions 1993–2006. Tartu, 2010.
- 180. Jelena Lissitsina. Cytogenetic causes in male infertility. Tartu, 2011.
- 181. **Delia Lepik**. Comparison of gunshot injuries caused from Tokarev, Makarov and Glock 19 pistols at different firing distances. Tartu, 2011.
- 182. Ene-Renate Pähkla. Factors related to the efficiency of treatment of advanced periodontitis. Tartu, 2011.

- 183. Maarja Krass. L-Arginine pathways and antidepressant action. Tartu, 2011.
- 184. **Taavi Lai**. Population health measures to support evidence-based health policy in Estonia. Tartu, 2011.
- 185. **Tiit Salum**. Similarity and difference of temperature-dependence of the brain sodium pump in normal, different neuropathological, and aberrant conditions and its possible reasons. Tartu, 2011.
- 186. **Tõnu Vooder**. Molecular differences and similarities between histological subtypes of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011.
- 187. Jelena Štšepetova. The characterisation of intestinal lactic acid bacteria using bacteriological, biochemical and molecular approaches. Tartu, 2011.
- 188. **Radko Avi**. Natural polymorphisms and transmitted drug resistance in Estonian HIV-1 CRF06 cpx and its recombinant viruses. Tartu, 2011, 116 p.
- 189. Edward Laane. Multiparameter flow cytometry in haematological malignancies. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 190. **Triin Jagomägi**. A study of the genetic etiology of nonsyndromic cleft lip and palate. Tartu, 2011, 158 p.
- 191. **Ivo Laidmäe**. Fibrin glue of fish (*Salmo salar*) origin: immunological study and development of new pharmaceutical preparation. Tartu, 2012, 150 p.
- 192. Ülle Parm. Early mucosal colonisation and its role in prediction of invasive infection in neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2012, 168 p.
- 193. **Kaupo Teesalu**. Autoantibodies against desmin and transglutaminase 2 in celiac disease: diagnostic and functional significance. Tartu, 2012, 142 p.
- 194. Maksim Zagura. Biochemical, functional and structural profiling of arterial damage in atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2012, 162 p.
- 195. Vivian Kont. Autoimmune regulator: characterization of thymic gene regulation and promoter methylation. Tartu, 2012, 134 p.
- 196. **Pirje Hütt**. Functional properties, persistence, safety and efficacy of potential probiotic lactobacilli. Tartu, 2012, 246 p.
- 197. Innar Tõru. Serotonergic modulation of CCK-4- induced panic. Tartu, 2012, 132 p.
- 198. **Sigrid Vorobjov**. Drug use, related risk behaviour and harm reduction interventions utilization among injecting drug users in Estonia: implications for drug policy. Tartu, 2012, 120 p.
- 199. Martin Serg. Therapeutic aspects of central haemodynamics, arterial stiffness and oxidative stress in hypertension. Tartu, 2012, 156 p.
- 200. **Jaanika Kumm**. Molecular markers of articular tissues in early knee osteoarthritis: a population-based longitudinal study in middle-aged subjects. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.
- 201. Kertu Rünkorg. Functional changes of dopamine, endopioid and endocannabinoid systems in CCK2 receptor deficient mice. Tartu, 2012, 125 p.
- 202. **Mai Blöndal**. Changes in the baseline characteristics, management and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 127 p.

- 203. Jana Lass. Epidemiological and clinical aspects of medicines use in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 170 p.
- 204. Kai Truusalu. Probiotic lactobacilli in experimental persistent Salmonella infection. Tartu, 2013, 139 p.
- 205. Oksana Jagur. Temporomandibular joint diagnostic imaging in relation to pain and bone characteristics. Long-term results of arthroscopic treatment. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 206. Katrin Sikk. Manganese-ephedrone intoxication pathogenesis of neurological damage and clinical symptomatology. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 207. **Kai Blöndal**. Tuberculosis in Estonia with special emphasis on drugresistant tuberculosis: Notification rate, disease recurrence and mortality. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 208. Marju Puurand. Oxidative phosphorylation in different diseases of gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2013, 123 p.
- 209. Aili Tagoma. Immune activation in female infertility: Significance of autoantibodies and inflammatory mediators. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- 210. Liis Sabre. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in Estonia. Brain activation in the acute phase of traumatic spinal cord injury. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- 211. **Merit Lamp**. Genetic susceptibility factors in endometriosis. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 212. Erik Salum. Beneficial effects of vitamin D and angiotensin II receptor blocker on arterial damage. Tartu, 2013, 167 p.
- 213. **Maire Karelson**. Vitiligo: clinical aspects, quality of life and the role of melanocortin system in pathogenesis. Tartu, 2013, 153 p.
- 214. **Kuldar Kaljurand**. Prevalence of exfoliation syndrome in Estonia and its clinical significance. Tartu, 2013, 113 p.
- Raido Paasma. Clinical study of methanol poisoning: handling large outbreaks, treatment with antidotes, and long-term outcomes. Tartu, 2013, 96 p.
- 216. **Anne Kleinberg**. Major depression in Estonia: prevalence, associated factors, and use of health services. Tartu, 2013, 129 p.
- 217. **Triin Eglit**. Obesity, impaired glucose regulation, metabolic syndrome and their associations with high-molecular-weight adiponectin levels. Tartu, 2014, 115 p.
- 218. **Kristo Ausmees**. Reproductive function in middle-aged males: Associations with prostate, lifestyle and couple infertility status. Tartu, 2014, 125 p.
- 219. Kristi Huik. The influence of host genetic factors on the susceptibility to HIV and HCV infections among intravenous drug users. Tartu, 2014, 144 p.
- 220. Liina Tserel. Epigenetic profiles of monocytes, monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 221. Irina Kerna. The contribution of *ADAM12* and *CILP* genes to the development of knee osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2014, 152 p.

- 222. **Ingrid Liiv**. Autoimmune regulator protein interaction with DNA-dependent protein kinase and its role in apoptosis. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 223. Liivi Maddison. Tissue perfusion and metabolism during intra-abdominal hypertension. Tartu, 2014, 103 p.
- 224. Krista Ress. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia, prevalence in atopic dermatitis and immunological characterisation of coexistence. Tartu, 2014, 124 p.
- 225. Kai Muru. Prenatal screening strategies, long-term outcome of children with marked changes in maternal screening tests and the most common syndromic heart anomalies in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 189 p.
- 226. Kaja Rahu. Morbidity and mortality among Baltic Chernobyl cleanup workers: a register-based cohort study. Tartu, 2014, 155 p.
- 227. Klari Noormets. The development of diabetes mellitus, fertility and energy metabolism disturbances in a Wfs1-deficient mouse model of Wolfram syndrome. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 228. Liis Toome. Very low gestational age infants in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 183 p.
- 229. Ceith Nikkolo. Impact of different mesh parameters on chronic pain and foreign body feeling after open inguinal hernia repair. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 230. Vadim Brjalin. Chronic hepatitis C: predictors of treatment response in Estonian patients. Tartu, 2014, 122 p.
- 231. Vahur Metsna. Anterior knee pain in patients following total knee arthroplasty: the prevalence, correlation with patellar cartilage impairment and aspects of patellofemoral congruence. Tartu, 2014, 130 p.
- 232. **Marju Kase**. Glioblastoma multiforme: possibilities to improve treatment efficacy. Tartu, 2015, 137 p.
- 233. **Riina Runnel**. Oral health among elementary school children and the effects of polyol candies on the prevention of dental caries. Tartu, 2015, 112 p.
- 234. Made Laanpere. Factors influencing women's sexual health and reproductive choices in Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 176 p.
- 235. Andres Lust. Water mediated solid state transformations of a polymorphic drug effect on pharmaceutical product performance. Tartu, 2015, 134 p.
- 236. **Anna Klugman**. Functionality related characterization of pretreated wood lignin, cellulose and polyvinylpyrrolidone for pharmaceutical applications. Tartu, 2015, 156 p.
- 237. **Triin Laisk-Podar**. Genetic variation as a modulator of susceptibility to female infertility and a source for potential biomarkers. Tartu, 2015, 155 p.
- 238. **Mailis Tõnisson**. Clinical picture and biochemical changes in blood in children with acute alcohol intoxication. Tartu, 2015, 100 p.
- 239. Kadri Tamme. High volume haemodiafiltration in treatment of severe sepsis impact on pharmacokinetics of antibiotics and inflammatory response. Tartu, 2015, 133 p.

- 240. **Kai Part**. Sexual health of young people in Estonia in a social context: the role of school-based sexuality education and youth-friendly counseling services. Tartu, 2015, 203 p.
- 241. Urve Paaver. New perspectives for the amorphization and physical stabilization of poorly water-soluble drugs and understanding their dissolution behavior. Tartu, 2015, 139 p.
- 242. Aleksandr Peet. Intrauterine and postnatal growth in children with HLAconferred susceptibility to type 1 diabetes. Tartu. 2015, 146 p.
- 243. **Piret Mitt**. Healthcare-associated infections in Estonia epidemiology and surveillance of bloodstream and surgical site infections. Tartu, 2015, 145 p.
- 244. **Merli Saare**. Molecular Profiling of Endometriotic Lesions and Endometria of Endometriosis Patients. Tartu, 2016, 129 p.
- 245. **Kaja-Triin Laisaar**. People living with HIV in Estonia: Engagement in medical care and methods of increasing adherence to antiretroviral therapy and safe sexual behavior. Tartu, 2016, 132 p.
- 246. **Eero Merilind**. Primary health care performance: impact of payment and practice-based characteristics. Tartu, 2016, 120 p.
- 247. Jaanika Kärner. Cytokine-specific autoantibodies in AIRE deficiency. Tartu, 2016, 182 p.
- 248. **Kaido Paapstel**. Metabolomic profile of arterial stiffness and early biomarkers of renal damage in atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2016, 173 p.
- 249. Liidia Kiisk. Long-term nutritional study: anthropometrical and clinicolaboratory assessments in renal replacement therapy patients after intensive nutritional counselling. Tartu, 2016, 207 p.
- 250. Georgi Nellis. The use of excipients in medicines administered to neonates in Europe. Tartu, 2017, 159 p.
- 251. Aleksei Rakitin. Metabolic effects of acute and chronic treatment with valproic acid in people with epilepsy. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 252. Eveli Kallas. The influence of immunological markers to susceptibility to HIV, HBV, and HCV infections among persons who inject drugs. Tartu, 2017, 138 p.
- 253. **Tiina Freimann**. Musculoskeletal pain among nurses: prevalence, risk factors, and intervention. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 254. Evelyn Aaviksoo. Sickness absence in Estonia: determinants and influence of the sick-pay cut reform. Tartu, 2017, 121 p.
- 255. Kalev Nõupuu. Autosomal-recessive Stargardt disease: phenotypic heterogeneity and genotype-phenotype associations. Tartu, 2017, 131 p.
- 256. Ho Duy Binh. Osteogenesis imperfecta in Vietnam. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 257. Uku Haljasorg. Transcriptional mechanisms in thymic central tolerance. Tartu, 2017, 147 p.
- 258. Živile Riispere. IgA Nephropathy study according to the Oxford Classification: IgA Nephropathy clinical-morphological correlations, disease progression and the effect of renoprotective therapy. Tartu, 2017, 129 p.

- 259. **Hiie Soeorg**. Coagulase-negative staphylococci in gut of preterm neonates and in breast milk of their mothers. Tartu, 2017, 216 p.
- 260. Anne-Mari Anton Willmore. Silver nanoparticles for cancer research. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 261. Ott Laius. Utilization of osteoporosis medicines, medication adherence and the trend in osteoporosis related hip fractures in Estonia. Tartu, 2017, 134 p.
- 262. Alar Aab. Insights into molecular mechanisms of asthma and atopic dermatitis. Tartu, 2017, 164 p.
- 263. **Sander Pajusalu**. Genome-wide diagnostics of Mendelian disorders: from chromosomal microarrays to next-generation sequencing. Tartu, 2017, 146 p.
- 264. **Mikk Jürisson**. Health and economic impact of hip fracture in Estonia. Tartu, 2017, 164 p.
- 265. Kaspar Tootsi. Cardiovascular and metabolomic profiling of osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2017, 150 p.
- 266. Mario Saare. The influence of AIRE on gene expression studies of transcriptional regulatory mechanisms in cell culture systems. Tartu, 2017, 172 p.
- 267. **Piia Jõgi**. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of pertussis in Estonia. Tartu, 2018, 168 p.
- 268. Elle Põldoja. Structure and blood supply of the superior part of the shoulder joint capsule. Tartu, 2018, 116 p.
- 269. Minh Son Nguyen. Oral health status and prevalence of temporomandibular disorders in 65–74-year-olds in Vietnam. Tartu, 2018, 182 p.
- 270. **Kristian Semjonov**. Development of pharmaceutical quench-cooled molten and melt-electrospun solid dispersions for poorly water-soluble indomethacin. Tartu, 2018, 125 p.
- 271. Janne Tiigimäe-Saar. Botulinum neurotoxin type A treatment for sialorrhea in central nervous system diseases. Tartu, 2018, 109 p.
- 272. Veiko Vengerfeldt. Apical periodontitis: prevalence and etiopathogenetic aspects. Tartu, 2018, 150 p.
- 273. Rudolf Bichele. TNF superfamily and AIRE at the crossroads of thymic differentiation and host protection against *Candida albicans* infection. Tartu, 2018, 153 p.
- 274. **Olga Tšuiko**. Unravelling Chromosomal Instability in Mammalian Preimplantation Embryos Using Single-Cell Genomics. Tartu, 2018, 169 p.
- 275. **Kärt Kriisa**. Profile of acylcarnitines, inflammation and oxidative stress in first-episode psychosis before and after antipsychotic treatment. Tartu, 2018, 145 p.
- 276. **Xuan Dung Ho**. Characterization of the genomic profile of osteosarcoma. Tartu, 2018, 144 p.
- 277. **Karit Reinson**. New Diagnostic Methods for Early Detection of Inborn Errors of Metabolism in Estonia. Tartu, 2018, 201 p.

- 278. **Mari-Anne Vals**. Congenital N-glycosylation Disorders in Estonia. Tartu, 2019, 148 p.
- 279. Liis Kadastik-Eerme. Parkinson's disease in Estonia: epidemiology, quality of life, clinical characteristics and pharmacotherapy. Tartu, 2019, 202 p.
- 280. **Hedi Hunt**. Precision targeting of intraperitoneal tumors with peptideguided nanocarriers. Tartu, 2019, 179 p.
- 281. **Rando Porosk**. The role of oxidative stress in Wolfram syndrome 1 and hypothermia. Tartu, 2019, 123 p.
- 282. Ene-Ly Jõgeda. The influence of coinfections and host genetic factor on the susceptibility to HIV infection among people who inject drugs. Tartu, 2019, 126 p.
- 283. **Kristel Ehala-Aleksejev**. The associations between body composition, obesity and obesity-related health and lifestyle conditions with male reproductive function. Tartu, 2019, 138 p.
- 284. Aigar Ottas. The metabolomic profiling of psoriasis, atopic dermatitis and atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2019, 136 p.
- 285. Elmira Gurbanova. Specific characteristics of tuberculosis in low default, but high multidrug–resistance prison setting. Tartu, 2019, 129 p.
- 286. Van Thai Nguyeni. The first study of the treatment outcomes of patients with cleft lip and palate in Central Vietnam. Tartu, 2019, 144 p.
- 287. Maria Yakoreva. Imprinting Disorders in Estonia. Tartu, 2019, 187 p.
- 288. **Kadri Rekker**. The putative role of microRNAs in endometriosis pathogenesis and potential in diagnostics. Tartu, 2019, 140 p.
- 289. Ülle Võhma. Association between personality traits, clinical characteristics and pharmacological treatment response in panic disorder. Tartu, 2019, 121 p.
- 290. Aet Saar. Acute myocardial infarction in Estonia 2001–2014: towards risk-based prevention and management. Tartu, 2019, 124 p.
- 291. **Toomas Toomsoo**. Transcranial brain sonography in the Estonian cohort of Parkinson's disease. Tartu, 2019, 114 p.
- 292. Lidiia Zhytnik. Inter- and intrafamilial diversity based on genotype and phenotype correlations of Osteogenesis Imperfecta. Tartu, 2019, 224 p.
- 293. **Pilleriin Soodla**. Newly HIV-infected people in Estonia: estimation of incidence and transmitted drug resistance. Tartu, 2019, 194 p.
- 294. Kristiina Ojamaa. Epidemiology of gynecological cancer in Estonia. Tartu, 2020, 133 p.
- 295. **Marianne Saard**. Modern Cognitive and Social Intervention Techniques in Paediatric Neurorehabilitation for Children with Acquired Brain Injury. Tartu, 2020, 168 p.
- 296. **Julia Maslovskaja**. The importance of DNA binding and DNA breaks for AIRE-mediated transcriptional activation. Tartu, 2020, 162 p.
- 297. Natalia Lobanovskaya. The role of PSA-NCAM in the survival of retinal ganglion cells. Tartu, 2020, 105 p.

- 298. **Madis Rahu**. Structure and blood supply of the postero-superior part of the shoulder joint capsule with implementation of surgical treatment after anterior traumatic dislocation. Tartu, 2020, 104 p.
- 299. **Helen Zirnask**. Luteinizing hormone (LH) receptor expression in the penis and its possible role in pathogenesis of erectile disturbances. Tartu, 2020, 87 p.
- 300. Kadri Toome. Homing peptides for targeting of brain diseases. Tartu, 2020, 152 p.
- 301. **Maarja Hallik**. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of inotropic drugs in neonates. Tartu, 2020, 172 p.
- 302. **Raili Müller**. Cardiometabolic risk profile and body composition in early rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 2020, 133 p.
- 303. **Sergo Kasvandik**. The role of proteomic changes in endometrial cells from the perspective of fertility and endometriosis. Tartu, 2020, 191 p.
- 304. **Epp Kaleviste**. Genetic variants revealing the role of STAT1/STAT3 signaling cytokines in immune protection and pathology. Tartu, 2020, 189 p.
- 305. Sten Saar. Epidemiology of severe injuries in Estonia. Tartu, 2020, 104 p.
- 306. Kati Braschinsky. Epidemiology of primary headaches in Estonia and applicability of web-based solutions in headache epidemiology research. Tartu, 2020, 129 p.
- 307. Helen Vaher. MicroRNAs in the regulation of keratinocyte responses in *psoriasis vulgaris* and atopic dermatitis. Tartu, 2020, 242 p.
- Liisi Raam. Molecular Alterations in the Pathogenesis of Two Chronic Dermatoses – Vitiligo and Psoriasis. Tartu, 2020, 164 p.
- 309. Artur Vetkas. Long-term quality of life, emotional health, and associated factors in patients after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Tartu, 2020, 127 p.
- Teele Kasepalu. Effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning on organ damage and acylcarnitines' metabolism in vascular surgery. Tartu, 2020, 130 p.
- 311. **Prakash Lingasamy**. Development of multitargeted tumor penetrating peptides. Tartu, 2020, 246 p.
- 312. Lille Kurvits. Parkinson's disease as a multisystem disorder: whole transcriptome study in Parkinson's disease patients' skin and blood. Tartu, 2021, 142 p.
- 313. Mariliis Põld. Smoking, attitudes towards smoking behaviour, and nicotine dependence among physicians in Estonia: cross-sectional surveys 1982–2014. Tartu, 2021, 172 p.
- 314. **Triin Kikas**. Single nucleotide variants affecting placental gene expression and pregnancy outcome. Tartu, 2021, 160 p.
- 315. Hedda Lippus-Metsaots. Interpersonal violence in Estonia: prevalence, impact on health and health behaviour. Tartu, 2021, 172 p.

- 316. **Georgi Dzaparidze.** Quantification and evaluation of the diagnostic significance of adenocarcinoma-associated microenvironmental changes in the prostate using modern digital pathology solutions. Tartu, 2021, 132 p.
- 317. **Tuuli Sedman.** New avenues for GLP1 receptor agonists in the treatment of diabetes. Tartu, 2021, 118 p.
- 318. **Martin Padar.** Enteral nutrition, gastrointestinal dysfunction and intestinal biomarkers in critically ill patients. Tartu, 2021, 189 p.
- 319. Siim Schneider. Risk factors, etiology and long-term outcome in young ischemic stroke patients in Estonia. Tartu, 2021, 131 p.
- 320. Konstantin Ridnõi. Implementation and effectiveness of new prenatal diagnostic strategies in Estonia. Tartu, 2021, 191 p.
- 321. **Risto Vaikjärv.** Etiopathogenetic and clinical aspects of peritonsillar abscess. Tartu, 2021, 115 p.
- 322. Liis Preem. Design and characterization of antibacterial electrospun drug delivery systems for wound infections. Tartu, 2022, 220 p.
- 323. Keerthie Dissanayake. Preimplantation embryo-derived extracellular vesicles: potential as an embryo quality marker and their role during the embryo-maternal communication. Tartu, 2022, 203 p.
- 324. Laura Viidik. 3D printing in pharmaceutics: a new avenue for fabricating therapeutic drug delivery systems. Tartu, 2022, 139 p.
- 325. Kasun Godakumara. Extracellular vesicle mediated embryo-maternal communication A tool for evaluating functional competency of preimplantation embryos. Tartu, 2022, 176 p.
- 326. **Hindrek Teder.** Developing computational methods and workflows for targeted and whole-genome sequencing based non-invasive prenatal testing. Tartu, 2022, 138 p.
- 327. **Jana Tuusov.** Deaths caused by alcohol, psychotropic and other substances in Estonia: evidence based on forensic autopsies. Tartu, 2022, 157 p.
- 328. **Heigo Reima.** Colorectal cancer care and outcomes evaluation and possibilities for improvement in Estonia. Tartu, 2022, 146 p.
- 329. Liisa Kuhi. A contribution of biomarker collagen type II neoepitope C2C in urine to the diagnosis and prognosis of knee osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2022, 157 p.
- 330. **Reeli Tamme.** Associations between pubertal hormones and physical activity levels, and subsequent bone mineral characteristics: a longitudinal study of boys aged 12–18. Tartu, 2022, 118 p.